Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature: _

Mary Puckett

Date

Protein-Protein Interactions Regulating ASK1 Function

By

Mary Puckett Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Molecular and Systems Pharmacology

> Haian Fu, Ph.D. Advisor

Kathy Griendling, Ph.D. Committee Member

John Hepler, Ph.D. Committee Member

Fadlo Khuri, M.D. Committee Member

Rita Nahta, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Protein-Protein Interactions Regulating ASK1 Function

By

Mary Puckett B.S., Georgia Institute of Technology, 2006

Advisor: Haian Fu, Ph.D.

An abstract of a dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Molecular and Systems Pharmacology 2013 Abstract

Protein-Protein Interactions Regulating ASK1 Function

By Mary Puckett

Cancer is characterized in large part by aberrant cell survival. Other diseases, such as Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease, and other neurodegenerative disorders, are characterized by excessive cell death. Regulation of the balance between cell survival and cell death is critical for the proper functioning of every cell in the body. Many proteins function together to maintain this balance, including the apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (ASK1) and its binding partners. Here we describe two distinct mechanisms by which ASK1 function is regulated. ASK1 interacts with ASK2 via distinct regions in the C-termini of both proteins and disruption of this interaction leads to decreased ASK1-mediated signaling. Additionally, ASK2 can act to inhibit ASK1 by promoting ASK1 interaction with 14-3-3 proteins. Upon inhibitory phosphorylation, ASK2 can facilitate ASK1/14-3-3 interaction, and knockdown of ASK2 reduces ASK1 binding to 14-3-3.

ASK1 is also regulated by Inhibitor of κ B kinase (IKK) via a unique region of its NEMO binding domain. Overexpression or activation of IKK reduces ASK1 mediated signaling, and disruption of ASK1/IKK interaction, as well as inhibition of ASK1 phosphorylation by IKK, increases ASK1-mediated apoptosis. Taken together, these results shed light on the intricate regulation of cell death and survival signaling mediated by ASK1. Understanding these protein-protein interactions may serve as a starting point for the development of ASK1-directed therapeutics.

Protein-Protein Interactions Regulating ASK1 Function

By

Mary Puckett B.S., Georgia Institute of Technology, 2006

Advisor: Haian Fu, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Molecular and Systems Pharmacology 2013

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction
1.1. Protein-Protein Interactions
1.2. Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Signaling
1.3 ASK1 Function and Regulation
1.3.1 ASK1-mediated Apoptosis
1.3.2 Non-apoptotic functions of ASK112
1.3.3 ASK1 Regulation by protein-protein interactions
1.3.4 ASK1 Regulation by phosphorylation14
1.3.5 ASK1/ASK2 interaction
1.3.6 ASK1 Regulation by Ser967 Phosphorylation and 14-3-3 binding 17
1.4 Disease Relevance to ASK1
1.4.1 ASK1 in neurodegenerative disease
1.4.2 ASK1 in cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and inflammatory diseases
1.4.3 ASK1 in cancer
1.5 Small molecule inhibitors of ASK125
1.6 IKK Signaling
1.6.1 NF-κB Signaling26
1.6.2 Regulation of IKK by NEMO
1.6.3 IKKε/TBK1

1.6.4 IKK Signaling outside NF-κB and Disease Relevance	34
1.7 Crosstalk between ASK1 and IKK pathways	37
1.8 Scope of Dissertation	38
Chapter 2: ASK2 promotes ASK1 inhibition or activation through specific protein-	
protein interactions	40
Chapter 2.1: Dual engagement of 14-3-3 proteins controls signal relay from ASK2	to !
the ASK1 signalosome	41
Abstract	42
Introduction	43
Methods	45
Results	47
ASK2 specifically interacts with 14-3-3 proteins	47
ASK2 requires phosphorylation for 14-3-3 binding	50
14-3-3 binds ASK2 through a novel S964-mediated motif	51
14-3-3 is present in a ternary complex with ASK1 and ASK2	59
ASK2/14-3-3 interaction dictates ASK1/14-3-3 interaction	63
Discussion	70
Chapter 2.2: Distinct Regions within ASK1 and ASK2 facilitate kinase interaction	ı 72
Abstract	73
Introduction	74
Materials and Methods	75

Results
ASK1 and ASK2 interact via distinct regions within their C-termini
Expression of an ASK2 peptide reduces ASK1 signaling
Discussion
Chapter 3: IKK β inhibits ASK1 activity through phosphorylation and protein-protein
interactions
Chapter 3.1: Integration of the Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1-mediated stress
signaling with the Akt/PKB-IkB kinase cascade
Abstract
Introduction
Materials and Methods
Results
Results
Diverse growth factor-initiated pathways impinge on ASK1 at Ser96795
Diverse growth factor-initiated pathways impinge on ASK1 at Ser967
Diverse growth factor-initiated pathways impinge on ASK1 at Ser967
Diverse growth factor-initiated pathways impinge on ASK1 at Ser96795 Akt/PKB is an upstream kinase for Ser967 of ASK198 IKK mediates growth factor and Akt-induced phosphorylation of ASK1102 IKKβ directly interacts with ASK1105
Diverse growth factor-initiated pathways impinge on ASK1 at Ser96795 Akt/PKB is an upstream kinase for Ser967 of ASK198 IKK mediates growth factor and Akt-induced phosphorylation of ASK1102 IKKβ directly interacts with ASK1105 The IGF-1/Akt/IKK signaling antagonizes H ₂ O ₂ –induced ASK1 activation106
Diverse growth factor-initiated pathways impinge on ASK1 at Ser967
Diverse growth factor-initiated pathways impinge on ASK1 at Ser967

Introduction
Methods 116
Results 119
Interaction does not require Ser967 phosphorylation or kinase activation 119
IKKβ interacts with the C-term of ASK1119
ASK1 interacts with the kinase and NEMO binding domains of IKK β 122
NEMO and ASK1 form a complex with IKK 127
Disruption of NEMO binding site does not alter ASK1 interaction 127
IKK suppresses ASK1-mediated neurite outgrowth
Inhibition of interaction promotes apoptosis
Discussion133
Chapter 4: Discussion
4.1 General properties of ASK1 interaction with ASK2 and IKK
4.2 IKK regulation of ASK1 could explain JNK/NF-κB crosstalk
4.3 Therapeutic significance of ASK1 protein-protein interactions
4.4 Some NBD peptide functions may be due to disruption of ASK1/IKK interaction
4.5 Conclusions and Future Directions141
Chapter 5: References

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. General MAPK/ASK1 signaling
Figure 1.2. Activation of ASK1 by TNFα9
Figure 1.3. Dysregulation of ASK1 in Disease
Figure 1.4. IKK mediated NF-κB signaling
Figure 2.1-1. Interaction of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 2 (ASK2) with 14-3-3
proteins
Figure 2.1-2. The apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 2 (ASK2)/14-3-3 interaction requires
phosphorylation
Figure 2.1-3. Determination of the 14-3-3 binding site within apoptosis signal-regulating
kinase 2 (ASK2)
Figure 2.1-S1
Figure 2.1-4. Association of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 2 (ASK2) with ASK1 and
14-3-3 in a ternary complex
Figure 2.1-S2
Figure 2.1-5. Effect of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 2 (ASK2)/14-3-3 association on
ASK1 function
Figure 2.2-1. ASK2 binds ASK1 via a 100 amino acid region
Figure 2.2-2. ASK1 interacts with ASK2 via its C-terminus
Figure 2.2-3. Inhibition of ASK1/ASK2 interaction decreases downstream signaling 84
Figure 3.1-1. Phosphorylation of ASK1 at Ser967 is dynamically regulated

Figure 3.1-2. Akt/PKB promotes phosphorylation of ASK1 at Ser967 100
Figure 3.1-3. IKK phosphorylates ASK1 at Ser967 103
Figure 3.1-4. The IGF-1/Akt/IKK pathway prevents stress-induced ASK1 function 107
Figure 3.2-1. Determinants of ASK1/IKK interaction 120
Figure 3.2-2. Structure of ASK1 and IKKβ123
Figure 3.2-3. Interaction interface of ASK1 and IKK125
Figure 3.2-4. IKK forms a complex with ASK1 and NEMO 128
Figure 3.2-5. Disruption of ASK1/IKK interaction increases ASK1 mediated apoptosis.
Figure 4.1 Model of ASK1 regulation by ASK2 and IKK.

List of Tables

Table 1.1. ASK1 phosphorylation sites.	
Table 1.2 IKK substrates outside of NF-κB signaling	31
Tuele 112 Intri suestimes outside of the highwing	

List of Abbreviations

ABIN-1	A20 binding inhibitor of NF-κB 1		
AIP-1	ASK1 Interacting Protein 1		
APP	Amyloid Precursor Protein		
ALS	Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis		
ASK	Apoptosis Signal-regulating Kinase		
BAFF	B-cell Activating Factor		
CA	Constitutively Active		
CBP	CREB Binding Protein		
CC	Coiled Coil		
CYLD	Cylindromatosis protein		
DD	Death Domain		
Dok1	Docking protein 1		
Dok1 EAE	Docking protein 1 Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis		
EAE	Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis		
EAE EDA-ID	Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Ectodermal Dysplasia - Immunodeficiency		
EAE EDA-ID EGF	Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Ectodermal Dysplasia - Immunodeficiency Epidermal Growth Factor		
EAE EDA-ID EGF ER	Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Ectodermal Dysplasia - Immunodeficiency Epidermal Growth Factor Endoplasmic Reticulum		
EAE EDA-ID EGF ER ERK	Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Ectodermal Dysplasia - Immunodeficiency Epidermal Growth Factor Endoplasmic Reticulum Extracellular-signal Regulated Kinase		
EAE EDA-ID EGF ER ERK GADD45	Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Ectodermal Dysplasia - Immunodeficiency Epidermal Growth Factor Endoplasmic Reticulum Extracellular-signal Regulated Kinase Growth Arrest and DNA Damage 45		
EAE EDA-ID EGF ER ERK GADD45 GPCR	Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Ectodermal Dysplasia - Immunodeficiency Epidermal Growth Factor Endoplasmic Reticulum Extracellular-signal Regulated Kinase Growth Arrest and DNA Damage 45 G-Protein Coupled Receptor		

ΙκΒ	Inhibitor of KB
IKK	IkB Kinase
IL	Interleukin
IP	Immunoprecipitation
IR	Ischemia-Reperfusion
IRAK-1	IL-1 Receptor Associated Kinase 1
IRE-1	Inositol Requiring Enzyme 1
IRF	Interferon Regulatory Factor
IRS	Insulin Receptor Substrate
JAK2	Janus Kinase 2
JNK	Jun N-terminal Kinase
KD	Kinase Dead
LPS	Lipopolysacchride
LTβR	Lymphotoxin β Receptor
LZ	Leucine Zipper
МАРК	Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
MAP2K	MAPK kinase
MAP3K	MAP2K kinase
MAP4K	MAP3K Kinase
MCRS2	Microspherule Protein 2
MDM2	Mouse Double Minute 2
MEK	MAPK/ERK Kinase
MEKK	MEK Kinase

- MLK Mixed Lineage Kinase
- MNK MAPK interacting kinase
- MPK38 Murine Protein serine/threonine Kinase 38
- MS Multiple Sclerosis
- MSK Mitogen and Stress-activated Kinase
- mTOR Mammalian Target of Rapamycin
- NBD NEMO Binding Domain
- NEMO NF-kB Essential Modulator
- NF-κB Nuclear Factor κB
- NIK NF-κB Inducing Kinase
- OA Osteoarthritis
- PAMP Pathogen Associated Molecular Pattern
- PCA Protein Complementation Assay
- PCR Polymerase Chain Reaction
- PDGF Platelet Derived Growth Factor
- PDK1 3-Phosphoinositide-Dependent protein Kinase 1
- PERK Proline-rich Extensin-like Receptor Kinase
- PI3K Phosphatidylinositide 3-Kinase
- PKB Protein Kinase B
- PP Protein Phosphatase
- PPI Protein-Protein Interaction
- RA Rheumatoid Arthritis
- RHD Rel Homology Domain

- RIP1 Receptor Interacting Protein
- ROS Reactive Oxygen Species
- RSK Ribosomal S6 Kinase
- SAPK Stress Activated Protein Kinase
- SDD Scaffold/Dimerization Domain
- SHP2 Src Homology-2 domain-containing Phosphatase 2
- SNAP-23 Synaptosomal-Associated Protein 23
- SOD1 Superoxide Dismutase 1
- SDS-PAGE Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate-Polyacrlyamide Gel Electrophoresis
- STRAP Serine-Threonine Kinase Receptor-Associated Protein
- TAK1 TGFβ Activated Kinase 1
- TBK1 TANK Binding Kinase 1
- TGF β Transforming Growth Factor β
- TLR Toll-Like Receptor
- TNFα Tumor Necrosis Factor α
- TNFR TNF Receptor
- TRADD TNF Receptor Associated Death Domain protein
- TRAF TNF Receptor-Associated Factor
- TR-FRET Time Resolved-Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer
- TSC1 Tuberous Sclerosis 1
- ULD Ubiquitin Like Domain
- UPR Unfolded Protein Response
- XIAP X-linked inhibitor of Apoptosis Protei

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Protein-protein interactions

Protein-protein interactions (PPIs) are at the heart of all cellular processes. Both intracellular and extracellular signaling pathways regulate these interactions in order to ensure proper cell function. Protein-protein interactions can consist of enzyme-substrate, receptor-ligand, and many other interactions that modulate protein activity (1). Proteins can form both homologous and heterologous protein complexes, both of which play important roles in cell function (2). Understanding the interactions of proteins can help to unravel the complicated signaling networks that regulate cell function (3).

Because of their importance in cell function, proteins are the major target for therapeutics. While most drugs targets are receptors due to their exposure on the cell surface, receptor signaling is not the only method proteins have for manipulating cell function, and many intracellular protein-protein interactions are becoming of interest as drug targets (4). Though protein-protein interactions have typically been thought of as seemingly impossible drug targets due to their large interaction interfaces and the flatness of these interactions, which makes disruption of interactions with a small molecule difficult, strides are being made in the development of protein-protein interaction modulators (4; 5). While some protein-protein interactions have been successfully inhibited with antibodies (6; 7) or small peptides (8), these types of drugs are typically costly to produce and administer to patients. Some successful small molecule inhibitors of protein-protein interactions, however, have been developed, suggesting that targeting these interactions may be a viable method for developing a wide array of therapeutics (4). Identifying new protein-protein interactions and understanding these protein interfaces, as well as the signaling mechanisms that regulate them, could lead to the development of novel therapies for a variety of diseases.

The apoptosis signal regulating kinase 1 (ASK1), a mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MAP3K), serves as a critical regulator of both intracellular and extracellular stress signals. ASK1 function is tightly regulated by protein-protein interactions. By better understanding how ASK1 is controlled by such PPIs, we may shed light on its role in both normal physiology and disease. My research focuses on two protein-protein interactions of ASK1 that regulate its function: ASK2 and inhibitor of kB kinase (IKK).

1.2. Mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling

Cells are constantly bombarded with a variety of extracellular and intracellular signals and must properly interpret these signals in order to propagate a desired cellular result. One way in which cells interpret and propagate these signals is through Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase (MAPK) signaling cascades. These signaling cascades consist of a terminal MAPK as well as upstream kinases, referred to as MAPK Kinases (MAP2Ks) and a MAP2K Kinases (MAP3Ks) that, in response to particular cues, activate a specific signaling cascade leading to the activation of a specific MAPK: Extracellular-signal Regulated Kinase (ERK), Jun N-terminal Kinase (JNK), or p38 (9). Several MAP3K kinases (MAP4Ks) have also been identified, though the precise role they play in MAPK signaling is less understood than that of downstream kinase components (10). The MAPK signaling cascades sense and integrate a wide variety of extracellular stimuli to elicit an appropriate response. The three MAPK families ERK, JNK, and p38 each consist of multiple members, which help fine tune cellular responses (11). The ERK family consists of ERK1 and ERK2, which share many overlapping functions. ERK is activated by a Ras-Raf-MAPK/ERK Kinase (MEK) signaling cascade in response to growth factors, as well as cytokines and G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) ligands. Activation of ERK can lead to the phosphorylation of multiple substrates including transcription factors such as Elk1, c-Fos, and c-Myc, as well as other proteins such as MAPK interacting kinase (MNK), mitogen and stress activated kinase (MSK), and ribosomal S6 kinase (RSK). Due to its wide array of substrates, activation of ERK leads to a variety of responses, including proliferation, cell survival, differentiation, and even cell motility (12).

While ERK is predominantly activated by cell survival signaling, the MAPK JNK responds to a wide variety of stress signals. Three isoforms of JNK exist: JNK1, JNK2, and JNK3, all of which can exist in short and long splice variants and have differential expression in various tissue types. JNK, also referred to as the stress activated protein kinase (SAPK), is activated by oxidative stress, ultraviolet radiation, and proinflammatory cytokines, among other stimuli. JNK is directly activated by the MAP2Ks MKK4 and MKK7 in response to multiple MAP3Ks including MEKK, mixed lineage kinase (MLK), and ASK family kinases. Once activated, JNK can also phosphorylate multiple substrates including transcription factors such as c-Jun and JunB, as well as Bcl2 family members, leading to apoptosis, cell differentiation, or inflammation and other cellular responses (13). Much like JNK, the four isoforms of the p38 family (α , β , γ , δ) predominantly respond to stress signals such as pro-inflammatory cytokines, ultraviolet radiation, and hypoxia. p38 is activated directly by the MAP2Ks MKK3 and MKK6 and can phosphorylate a number of substrates including transcription factors such as ATF1/2 and p53. p38 can also indirectly regulate transcription factor phosphorylation by activating kinases like MSK1/2, which can in turn itself phosphorylate transcription factors such as CREB, ATF1, and p65. Because p38 can activate a wide variety of substrates, cellular responses to p38 activation are quite varied and range from inflammation and differentiation to tissue homeostasis and immune response (14). My current dissertation research focuses on an upstream regulator of both JNK and p38 in response to stress signals, ASK1.

1.3 ASK1 function and regulation

Considering only three MAPK families have been identified, the specific MAP3K/MAP2K/MAPK interactions are critical in the proper transduction of signals. In particular, ASK1 functions as a MAP3K, which activates the MAP2Ks MKK4/7 or MKK3/6, leading to the activation of the MAPKs JNK and p38, respectively (Figure 1-1). Structurally, ASK1 is a 1374 amino acid protein in humans consisting of a kinase domain (residues 670-938) flanked by N- and C-terminal regulatory domains (1-669 and 939-1374, respectively). ASK1 orthologs have been identified in both Caenorhabditis elegans and Drosophila melonagaster (15), highlighting its importance throughout evolution. **Figure 1.1. General MAPK/ASK1 signaling.** In response to stimuli, a MAP3K phosphorylates a MAP2K which in turn phosphorylates the corresponding MAPK(s), leading to a cellular response. In response to stress signals such as TNFα, ROS or ER stress, ASK1 phosphorylates MKK4/7 or MKK3/6 which in turn phosphorylate JNK or p38, respectively. Activation of JNK or p38 by ASK1 can lead to a variety of cellular responses, including inflammation, senescence, differentiation, and, most notably, apoptosis.



1.3.1 ASK1-mediated apoptosis

Upon the initial discovery of ASK1, it was determined that ASK1 preferentially activates the MAPKs JNK and p38 but not ERK and that this activation leads to apoptosis (16). These ASK1 signaling cascades are activated in response to stress signals, including pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α), reactive oxygen species (ROS), endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, lipopolysacchride (LPS), and calcium influx (17).

While the cytokine TNF α both positively and negatively regulates cell survival, it can initiate apoptotic signaling through the activation of ASK1 (Figure 1.2). When TNF α binds the TNF Receptor (TNFR), the receptor can then trimerize with other TNFRs. This oligomerization brings the death domains (DDs) of the receptors close enough together to facilitate binding of the TNF receptor I-associated death domain protein (TRADD) (18). TRADD, in turn, promotes binding of TNF receptor associated factors (TRAFs), which interact with ASK1 and facilitate an active conformation of the kinase, leading to activation of downstream kinases and the initiation of apoptosis (19).

In addition to signaling by TNF α , ASK1 can be activated in response to endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress. The ER normally functions to promote calcium homeostasis, lipid biosynthesis, and protein secretion (20). When misfolded proteins are present in the ER, the cell will initiate a process termed the unfolded protein response (UPR) in an attempt to restore proper ER function and promote cell survival (21; 22). To accomplish this, ER protein synthesis is decreased, and transcription of genes that promote proper protein folding and degradation of misfolded proteins is increased, and permanently misfolded proteins are shuttled to the cytoplasm for degradation by the **Figure 1.2. Activation of ASK1 by TNFα.** In response to binding of TNFR by TNFα, ASK is recruited to the receptor and activated by TRAF2 binding. ASK1 then phosphorylates MKK4/7, which in turn can phosphorylate and activate JNK. JNK can then phosphorylate a variety of substrates, including Bcl2 family members and the transcription factor c-Jun to regulate cellular response.



proteosome. If this process fails however, these protein aggregates can overwhelm ER folding and degradation machinery, leading to further ER stress.

When the ER cannot properly degrade the misfolded proteins, an apoptotic cascade that relies on ASK1 is initiated (21). ASK1 is activated through an indirect interaction with the ER transmembrane protein, the inositol requiring enzyme 1 (IRE-1). TRAF2, a facilitator of ASK1 activation, is recruited to IRE-1, which in turn leads to ASK1 recruitment and activation (23). This, in turn, leads to activation of JNK, which promotes activation of pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members and inhibition of anti-apoptotic members (24; 25).

Another well studied activator of ASK1 is ROS. ROS are produced as part of normal physiological processes. While excess ROS in the cell are usually neutralized by native antioxidants, ROS can overwhelm the cell under stress conditions (26). ASK1 is kept in an inactive state in part by interaction with thioredoxin through oxidizable cysteine bonds. Elevated ROS levels can oxidize these bonds, removing thioredoxin's inhibition of ASK1. When this occurs, ASK1 is activated and initiates apoptosis through the intrinsic, mitochondrial dependent apoptotic pathway.

Interestingly, ROS appear to be a secondary mediator of ASK1 activation in response to a variety of primary inputs. LPS induced activation of ASK1 requires ROS production (27). Likewise, TNF α induced activation of ASK1 appears to be dependent on the production of ROS, indicating ROS may be the predominant factor in activating ASK1 (28). Whether ROS are required for ER stress induced activation is less clear (29). Nevertheless, knockout of ASK1 renders cells insensitive to TNF α , ROS, and ER stress induced cell death, and overexpression of ASK1 mutants with impaired negative regulation have been shown to increase levels of apoptosis, indicating ASK1 plays a critical role in stress induced apoptosis (30).

1.3.2 Non-apoptotic functions of ASK1

While ASK1 is most known for its role in promoting apoptosis, activation of the kinase can have additional functions, depending on cell context. In addition to apoptosis, ASK1 can promote senescence or cell differentiation and has been shown to play a significant role in the innate immune response (31). In relation to ASK1's role in senescence, expression of a constitutively active form of ASK1 lacking its N-terminal regulatory domain promoted endothelial cell senescence in the presence of high glucose (32). Additionally, ASK1 induced differentiation has been noted in multiple studies. In particular, angiotensin II has been shown to induce cardiac hypertrophy by generating ROS to activate ASK1 (33), and transient activation of JNK and p38 by ASK1 has also been shown to promote differentiation of erythroid cells (34). In addition, ASK1 may play a role in the differentiation of keratinocytes in response to stress signals (35).

Furthermore, ASK1 has a significant role in the innate immune response. Certain pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), including LPS and peptidoglycan, can lead to ASK1 activation. When ASK1 is knocked out, the production of proinflammatory cytokines in response to PAMPs, particularly through TLR4, is reduced. ASK1 knockout mice were shown to be resistant to septic shock from LPS exposure (27), suggesting ASK1 activation is important for immune response to these stimuli.

In addition to eliciting multiple cellular responses through the activation of MAPK signaling, recent studies have revealed ASK1 may have substrates outside of this pathway, including 3-Phosphoinositide-Dependent protein Kinase 1 (PDK1) and Serine-

12

Threonine Kinase Receptor-Associated Protein (STRAP), both of which reciprocally regulate ASK1 activity by phosphorylation (36; 37). ASK1 has also been shown to phosphorylate p21^{Cip1}, a protein that normally functions to regulate the cell cycle, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, which may, in turn, regulate ASK1 activity (38). As research into ASK1 signaling progresses, it is likely more ASK1 substrates and the consequences of phosphorylating those substrates will be identified.

1.3.3 ASK1 regulation by protein-protein interactions

Because ASK1 is such a critical mediator of apoptosis and other cellular events, its activity it tightly controlled, in large part by protein-protein interactions. Since its identification, ASK1 has been known to exist in a high molecular weight complex, called the ASK1 signalosome (39). While not all components of the ASK1 signalosome have been determined, several proteins have been identified to directly interact with ASK1 to regulate its activity. Even in an inactive state, ASK1 homodimerizes or heterodimerizes with ASK2 through its coiled coil (CC) domains located in its C-terminus (40; 41). Under nonoxidizing conditions, ASK1 is also bound to thioredoxin through reduced cysteines in its N-terminal CC domain, which keeps the kinase in an inactive conformation (42). When these cysteine residues are oxidized, ASK1 is released from thioredoxin and can bind TRAF family members, which facilitate an activate confirmation of ASK1 (43).

As the literature on ASK1 grows, additional interacting partners have been identified, which both positively and negatively regulate ASK1 activity. The microspherule protein 2 (MCRS2) has been shown to bind ASK1 and inhibit stress induced kinase activation (44). Likewise, DJ-1 has been shown to directly interact with ASK1, preventing its dimerization and impairing ROS induced activation (45). The Serine-threonine kinase receptor-associated protein (STRAP) has also been shown to interact with ASK1 and inhibit its activity by stabilizing its interaction with other known inhibitors, including 14-3-3 and thioredoxin, by unknown mechanisms (37). Additionally, 14-3-3 family members interact with ASK1 and impair its kinase activity and are discussed in further detail below.

1.3.4 ASK1 regulation by phosphorylation

In addition to protein-protein interactions, reversible phosphorylation provides another mechanism that regulates the activity of many proteins. ASK1, in particular, is regulated by a multitude of activating and inhibitory phosphorylation events (Table 1.1). Most notably, ASK1 is activated through phosphorylation at Thr838, which occurs by both auto-phosphorylation and phosphorylation by another ASK1 family member, ASK2 (40; 41). Evidence exists suggesting that other kinases may activate ASK1 by phosphorylating this site. At least *in vitro*, the murine protein serine/threonine kinase 38 (MPK38) has been shown to phosphorylate Thr838 (46). Conversely, PP5 can inhibit ASK1 by dephosphorylating this site, as can PP2C (47; 48).

ASK1 activity is inhibited by phosphorylation at a number of sites. Phosphorylation of Ser83 by Akt or Pim1 inhibits ASK1 activity by an unknown mechanism (49; 50), and Ser967 phosphorylation promotes ASK1 interaction with 14-3-3 family members and inhibits kinase activity, which is discussed in detail below (51). Ser1034 phosphorylation also negatively regulates ASK1 activity, though the kinase responsible for phosphorylation at this site has not been identified (52), and phosphorylation of ASK1 at Tyr718 by Janus Kinase 2 (JAK2) promotes its degradation.

Site	Kinase	Function	Reference
Ser83	Akt, Pim1	Inhibition	(49; 50)
Tyr718	JAK2	Inhibition (Degradation)	(53)
Thr838	ASK1, ASK2, MPK38 (in vitro)	Activation	(40; 41; 46)
Ser967	PDK1, IKK	Inhibition (14-3-3 binding)	(36)
Ser1034	Unknown	Inhibition	(52)

Table 1.1. ASK1 phosphorylation sites.

List of phosphorylation sites of ASK1 including kinases identified for each site.

The Src Homology-2 (SH2) domain-containing Phosphatase 2 (SHP2) also serves as a phosphatase for this site (53; 54). Interestingly, the dual specificity phosphatase 13A has been shown to enhance ASK1 activity not through its inherent phosphatase activity but through competition with Akt for ASK1 binding, which prevents Akt itself from phosphorylating ASK1 (55). Structural studies of ASK1 have also suggested the existence of additional phosphorylation sites. The function of these phosphorylation events, however, has not yet been determined (56).

1.3.5 ASK1/ASK2 interaction

One key regulator of ASK1 activity is another ASK family member, ASK2. Though neither kinase has been fully crystallized, ASK2 consists of 1288 amino acids with similar domain architecture to ASK1. It was initially identified in a yeast two hybrid screen as an interacting partner of ASK1, and much like ASK1 homodimerization, ASK1 heterodimerizes with ASK2 via its C-terminal coiled coil domains. Likewise, our data presented here suggests that the C-terminus of ASK2 mediates its interaction with ASK1, suggesting symmetry in the interaction of these two proteins. This heterodimerization allows ASK2 to directly phosphorylate ASK1 at Thr838, promoting its activity (40). Conversely, ASK1can also regulate ASK2 function. In the absence of ASK1, ASK2 is unstable, and overexpression of the C-terminal domain of ASK1 is sufficient to prevent ASK2 degradation (40), indicating it is ASK1 interaction rather than its kinase activity that promotes ASK2 stability.

Interestingly, both overexpression and knockdown of ASK2 have been shown to promote apoptosis (57), indicating a fine tuned interaction of these two proteins is required for proper signaling. Our evidence also supports a unique role for ASK2 in both

activating and inhibiting ASK1, with both disruption of ASK1/ASK2 interaction decreasing downstream signaling and knockdown of ASK2 decreasing ASK1 mediated inhibition by other binding partners.

Recently, a third member of the ASK family, ASK3, has been reported. ASK3 was identified by sequence homology to ASK1 and ASK2, and knockdown of ASK3 reduced apoptosis in response to well characterized activators of ASK1, including TNF α and hydrogen peroxide (58). Its precise relationship to ASK1 and ASK2, however, remains to be determined.

1.3.6 ASK1 regulation by Ser967 phosphorylation and 14-3-3 binding

Of the many protein-protein interaction and phosphorylation events that regulate ASK1, its regulation by phosphorylation of Ser967 and subsequent interaction with 14-3-3 proteins is particularly important (51). Ser967 phosphorylation is regulated by progrowth and stress signaling. Exposure to stress signals, such as ROS, has been shown to decrease ASK1 phosphorylation at the site and reduce 14-3-3 interaction, both of which correspond to increased kinase activity (59). Conversely, calcineurin and PP2A, with the help of ASK1-interacting protein 1 (AIP1), have both been shown to dephosphorylate Ser967 (60; 61). Evidence from our studies indicates that IKK is a kinase for ASK1 Ser967. Others, however, have also identified PDK1 as a potential ASK1 Ser967 kinase (36), indicating that phosphorylation at this site may be regulated by multiple upstream signaling pathways.

Phosphorylation of Ser967 inhibits ASK1 activity by promoting interaction with 14-3-3 family members (59). The 14-3-3 family of proteins consists of seven isoforms (β , γ , ε , ζ , η , σ , τ) which bind to other proteins via phosphorylated serine/threonine motifs

(RSxpSxP) in order to regulate protein function. 14-3-3s bind to a variety of proteins that regulate cell survival, cell cycle control, and apoptosis (62). In the case of ASK1, interaction with 14-3-3 proteins keeps the kinase in an inactive state. ASK1 interacts with all seven isoforms of 14-3-3, though to differing degrees. Overexpression of 14-3-3, however, has been shown to reduce ASK1-mediated apoptosis, and expression of an ASK1 mutant unable to bind 14-3-3 dramatically increases ASK1 mediated apoptosis, indicating 14-3-3 mediated inhibition is a important mode of ASK1 regulation under physiologic conditions (51). Stress signals like ROS decrease ASK1/14-3-3 interaction in addition to promoting dephosphorylation of Ser967 (59), and other proteins have been shown to activate ASK1 at least in part by decreasing ASK1/14-3-3 interaction (37; 63). Alternatively, our evidence suggests that, in addition to activating ASK1, ASK2 may impair ASK1 activity by promoting 14-3-3 interaction after phosphorylation. Additionally, benzodiazapinones have been shown to inhibit ER stress induced cell death by promoting ASK1/14-3-3 interaction (64), indicating modulation of ASK1/14-3-3 binding may have therapeutic potential.

1.4 Disease relevance to ASK1

ASK1^{-/-} mice show no significant differences when compared to wild type controls under normal conditions. When stressed, however, these mice and their derived cell lines do show insensitivity to apoptotic stimuli, indicating that ASK1 function is critical for the proper regulation of these signals. Notably, ASK1 function has been implicated in several disease states, including neurodegenerative diseases, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and cancer (30) (Figure 1.3).

Figure 1.3. Dysregulation of ASK1 in disease. Under physiological conditions, ASK1 regulates the balance of cell survival and cell death in response to stress and survival signals. This balance can become dysregulated in disease. In neurodegenerative disease, excessive activation of ASK1 can lead to increased apoptosis, and, in cancer, suppression of ASK1 can lead to increased cell survival.


1.4.1 ASK1 in neurodegenerative disease

Several neurodegenerative diseases have been specifically linked to ER stress. While the UPR may be initiated in an attempt to promote cell survival under many of these conditions, prolonged stress can ultimately lead to the activation of apoptosis and the loss of affected neurons. In Huntington's disease and other "PolyQ" diseases with expansions of protein regions with repeating glutamine residues, lead to protein misfolding and aggregation (65). This can trigger ER stress, leading to ASK1 mediated cell death (21). Interestingly, sequence variations in the ASK1 gene have also been linked to a delayed age of onset of symptoms in patients with Huntington's disease (66), suggesting reduced ASK1 activity may delay neuronal cell death.

Similarly, ER stress induced, ASK1-mediated cell death has been linked to the pathogenesis of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS). Approximately 20% of patients with familial ALS have mutations in the superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) gene, which encodes for copper/zinc superoxide dismutase (67), and SOD1 inclusion bodies have recently been linked to sporadic cases of ALS (68). SOD1 mutation has been shown to cause motor neuron death by initiating ER stress and activating cell death machinery through ASK1 (69). Interestingly, it is not the loss of function that contributes to disease but rather the toxicity of the mutant protein itself (70). When ASK1 is knocked down, cells are resistant to death induced by mutations in the SOD1 gene, and mice expressing mutant SOD1 exhibit an increased survival time when ASK1 is knocked out (69).

In Alzheimer's disease, overactivation of proline-rich extensin-like receptor kinase (PERK), a protein activated as part of the UPR, has been seen upon autopsy, and has been linked to activation of ASK1 (71). Mutation of presenilin 1, a condition associated with AD, has also been shown to increase ER stress, which can in turn activate ASK1 (72). Similarly, expression of the protein parkin, which is often mutated in Parkinson's disease, is induced by ER stress. While overexpression of wild type parkin can reduce ER stress induced death, mutant versions cannot, and their expression can sensitize cells to death through this pathway (73).

In addition to ER stress related neurodegeneration, protein-protein interactions and responsiveness to ROS are thought to contribute to Alzheimer's disease related cell death. Alzheimer's disease is characterized by plaques containing amyloid β and tangles containing tau (74), and amyloid precursor protein (APP), from which amyloid β is cleaved, has been shown to interactive with and activate ASK1, a phenomenon which also leads to an increase in phosphorylated tau protein (75). Additionally, buildup of amyloid β increases ROS in cells, which in turn activates ASK1. Treatment with antioxidants can block both ROS production and ASK1 induced cell death from amyloid β (76).

Further, ASK1 may promote apoptosis in Parkinson's disease by similar mechanisms (77). Parkinson's disease, which is characterized by the loss of dopamine neurons, has been linked to the dysfunction of several proteins, including DJ-1. Under normal conditions, DJ-1 promotes neuron survival by antagonizing ROS signaling. Under oxidizing conditions, DJ-1 binds to ASK1, inhibiting its ability to promote apoptosis (45). DJ-1 also negatively regulates Daxx, another activator of ASK1, by keeping the protein sequestered in the nucleus away from ASK1 (78). Without proper DJ-1 function, ASK1 activity is increased, which can drive cell death. Mutations in the cytoprotective protein DJ-1 have also been linked to autosomal-recessive cases of Parkinson's disease, and DJ-1 is modified in sporadic PD. Specifically, the DJ-1 mutation M261I seen in Parkinson's disease leads to a decrease in the DJ-1/ASK1 association, leading to activation of the kinase (79).

1.4.2 ASK1 in cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and inflammatory diseases

ASK1 function has been linked to cardiovascular disease in multiple studies but most notably in ischemia-reperfusion (IR) injury (80-82). Ischemia occurs when blood flow is cut off to a tissue, such as during a myocardial infarction or stroke. When blood re-enters this area (reperfusion), ROS are overwhelmingly generated, which can lead to the activation of ASK1 (83). When ASK1 is knocked down, cell death due to IR is reduced (84), and pharmacological inhibition of ASK1 revealed a similar effect (85).

In addition to its role in IR injury, ASK1 has been implicated in other facets of cardiovascular disease. Knockout of ASK1 has also been shown to decrease cardiovascular inflammation and fibrosis in response to a high salt diet in mice (86), and, in a separate study with ASK1^{-/-} mice, ASK1 activity was also linked to endothelial dysfunction and cardiovascular remodeling (87). ASK1 may also promote cardiac hypertrophy in response to angiotensin II (33). Conflicting studies, however, have indicated that ASK1 overexpression cannot increase cardiac hypertrophy alone, indicating this pathway may rely on more than ASK1 activation (82).

In addition to cardiovascular disease, ASK1 function has also been implicated in diabetes. Improper sensitivity to insulin is linked to development of diabetes. Insulin receptor substrate (IRS) proteins are important to this sensitivity, and IRS proteins can be negatively regulated by JNK (88). In response to TNF α , ASK1 becomes activated, which leads to JNK activation and phosphorylation of IRS-1 (89). Once phosphorylated, IRS-1

can no longer interact with the insulin receptor, decreasing responsiveness to insulin. Furthermore, knockout of JNK, a downstream mediator of ASK1 activity, has been shown to increase insulin sensitivity, indicating this pathway may play a significant role in the development of diabetes (90).

Because ASK1 is a sensor of pro-inflammatory signals, it is not surprising that its function has also been implicated in inflammatory diseases, including rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and multiple sclerosis (MS) (77). RA involves aberrant production of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF α , one of the main activators of ASK1, and, p38, a downstream mediator of ASK1 signaling, has been implicated in the pathogenesis of RA (91). More recently, ASK1 has been directly implicated in RA through knockout studies. ASK1^{-/-} mice were completely resistant to the induction of arthritis in an experimental model of RA (92). Similarly, ASK1 knockout or pharmacological inhibition has been shown to reduce apoptosis seen in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis (EAE), one experimental model for MS (93), indicating ASK1 function may be linked to both the inflammation and cell death seen in inflammatory diseases.

1.4.3 ASK1 in cancer

Notably, though ASK family members are most known for their role in apoptosis, both pro-tumorigenic and anti-tumorigenic effects of these kinases have been observed. By promoting inflammation, ASK1 has been shown to increase tumorigenesis in a mouse model of skin cancer (94). Additionally, ASK1 has been shown to promote gastric tumorigenesis through regulation of cyclin D1 (95), and treatment with an ASK1 inhibitor was sufficient to prevent the proliferation of gastric cancer cells (96). However, ASK1 has also been shown to promote apoptosis in cancer cells in a number of studies. Resveratrol has been shown to promote ASK1 mediated apoptosis in leukemia cells (97), and anti-microtubule chemotherapies have been shown to promote apoptosis by activating ASK1/JNK signaling (98). Treatment with other compounds can also promote apoptosis through ASK1 in breast, colon, and prostate cancer cells (99-101). Similar to ASK1's anti-tumorigenic effects, ASK2 has been shown to promote apoptosis in a model of skin cancer (94). These conflicting roles for ASK proteins point to the complexity of this signaling node.

1.5 Small molecule inhibitors of ASK1

Identification of a successful small molecule inhibitor of ASK1 could have therapeutic implications for a wide variety of diseases, and, in recent years, the development of potential small molecule inhibitors of ASK1 has become a key area of study. A group of compounds, Imidazo[1,2-a]pyridines, derived from benzothiazole, have shown ASK1 inhibition in the nM range (102), and a separate compound, K8111, has been shown to inhibit ASK1 mediated inflammation and proliferation in gastric cancer cells (96). Additionally, a separate small molecule inhibitor of ASK1 reduced apoptosis in response to ischemia/reperfusion in a rat model (85). A virtual screen of ASK1 inhibitors also revealed 3H-Naphtho[1,2,3-de]quinoline-2,7-diones as a potential class of ASK1 inhibitors (103), and additional virtual screens for ASK1 inhibitors have been performed (104). With the combination of virtual screens and physiological experiments, the possibility of finding a suitable small molecule inhibitor of ASK1 is becoming more likely.

1.6 IKK signaling

While MAPK signaling cascades regulate a wide range of cellular processes, many other signaling networks exist to keep cells functioning properly. One such network involves nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) and the inhibitor of κ B kinases (IKKs). The IKK family consists of several proteins, including two catalytically active kinases, IKKa and IKK β , which were first discovered as regulators of the transcription factor NF- κ B. IKK α was identified first, as a kinase capable of phosphorylating inhibitor of κB (IKB) proteins, which normally inhibit NF- κ B activity, in response to TNF α treatment (105). In a separate study, IKK β , along with IKK α , was identified as a kinase capable of phosphorylating IkBs, and mutation of IKK β lead to impaired NF-kB signaling (106). IKK α and IKK β have both overlapping and non-redundant functions and share 52% sequence identity with a predicted N-terminal kinase domain and predicted C-terminal leucine zipper (LZ) and helix-loop-helix (HLH) domains and (107). IKK β , however, has been recently crystallized, revealing a slightly different architecture than expected, consisting of just three domains: a kinase domain, a ubiquitin like domain (ULD), and a scaffold/dimerization domain (SDD) (108). Other family members include IKKy, or the NF- κ B Essential Modulator (NEMO), which has no kinase activity, and IKK ϵ /TBK, which do have kinase activity, and will be discussed later.

1.6.1 NF-κB signaling

NF- κ B regulates the transcription of a wide array of genes, including cytokines, growth factors, and others (109). NF- κ B consists of family of proteins, including p65 (RelA), p50 (RelB), and c-Rel, which can dimerize with one another and are held inactive

in the cytoplasm by I κ B proteins, and p50/p105 and p52/p100, which can be cleaved into active protein fragments (110). All family members share Rel homology domains (RHDs) that regulate their interactions DNA. I κ B proteins bind to the RHDs in p65, p50, and c-Rel through ankyrin repeat domains, and the internal RHDs of p105 and p100 are masked when in an inactive state (111). When IKK is activated, it phosphorylates I κ B proteins, leading to their ubiquitination and degradation. Once degraded, the nuclear localization sequence of NF- κ B is completely revealed, allowing it to drive transcription (109). p105 and p100 contain ankyrin repeat domains similar to those found in I κ Bs, and phosphorylation by IKK leads to ubiquitination and degradation of the c-terminal portion of the protein, leading to its activation (112).

NF- κ B can be activated by two pathways termed the canonical and non-canonical pathways, both of which require IKK for activation (Figure 1.2). In the canonical, or classical, signaling pathway, NF- κ B is activated by pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α and IL-1 or by pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). These molecules interact with TNFR or Toll Like Receptors (TRLs) to activate IKK (110).

For complete activation, the IKK complex, which is evolutionarily conserved all the way to Drosophila Melonagaster, is formed. This complex consists of an IKK α /IKK β heterodimer or IKK β homodimer bound by at least two subunits of NEMO (IKK γ) (113). While most studies have pointed to IKK β as the catalytic subunit of the IKK complex, one study revealed that some signaling by the canonical pathway still occurs even in IKK $\beta^{-/-}$ cells, indicating IKK α may play a larger role in this signaling pathway than is currently understood (114). Others have also shown that while IKK α is not required for **Figure 1.4. IKK mediated NF-κB signaling.** IKK mediates NF-κB signaling via two pathways, the canonical signaling pathway and the non-canonical signaling pathway. In response to TNF signaling, the IKK complex consisting IKK α , IKK β , and at least two subunits of NEMO, along with other proteins, is formed. Once activated, IKK β phosphorylates I κ B proteins, which normally bind to NF- κ B proteins such as p50/RelA dimers keeping them sequestered in the cytoplasm. Phosphorylation of I κ Bs leads to degradation, which allows NF- κ B to translocation to the nucleus and alter transcription. In response to BAFF, CD-40, or LT β R signaling, an alternative pathway is initiated in which IKK α homodimers can phosphorylate p100, leading to partial degradation of the protein to p52. p52/RelB dimers can then translocate to the nucleus to alter transcription.



I κ B degradation in response to TNF α signaling, cells lacking IKK α are deficient in activation of NF- κ B mediated transcription (115).

The IKK complex is activated by phosphorylation of specific serine residues of IKK, Ser176 and Ser180 of IKK α and Ser177 and Ser181 of IKK β (106). Several kinases have been hypothesized to phosphorylate these sites, including the possibility of IKK auto-phosphorylation (116). Specifically, TGF β Activated Kinase 1 (TAK1) and MEKK3 have been shown to directly phosphorylate IKK (117; 118). Once activated, this complex phosphorylates I κ B proteins at two specific serine residues, which leads to their ubiquitination and degradation by the proteosome. NF- κ B is then free to travel to the nucleus and drive gene transcription.

The activation of the canonical NF- κ B signaling pathway plays a critical role in the regulation of the innate immune response. Activation of NF- κ B by this pathway through TLRs leads to increased transcription of a variety of proteins related to the innate immune response, including pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, and cellular adhesion molecules as well as other inflammatory mediators and pro-survival genes (119). These newly transcribed genes play vital roles in the cellular response to invading microorganisms. It is interesting to note that even though distinct TLRs are activated in response to different stimuli, activation of all these receptors converges on the activation of NF- κ B to regulate the transcription of genes involved in innate immunity (110).

In addition to canonical signaling by IKK, a second signaling pathway for NF- κ B activation has been identified. In this non-canonical, or alternative, signaling pathway, signaling from receptors such as Lymphotoxin β Receptor (LT β R), B-cell activating factor (BAFF), and CD40 ligand receptor activate the NF- κ B Inducing Kinase (NIK),

which, in turn, activates IKK α by preferentially phosphorylating it over IKK β (120). Homodimers of IKK α , without NEMO, can then phosphorylate the C-terminal of p100 (121). Once phosphorylated, the C-terminal portion of p100 is ubiquitinated and degraded by the proteosome in a similar manner to I κ Bs. The remaining N-terminal protein fragment, ReIA, can associate with other ReI family members and translocate to the nucleus to alter gene transcription (112). Activation of this pathway also plays a role in the innate immune response in the spleen, with knockout of IKK α impairing immune response (121).

Loss of IKK can have deleterious effects with respect to NF- κ B function both inside and outside the innate immune response. Knockout of IKK β is embryonic lethal due to severe liver degeneration, similar to the effect seen by knockout of p65 itself. Interestingly, this phenotype can be rescued if the TNF Receptor (TNFR) is also knocked out, indicating that IKK β is critical in the prevention of TNF α mediated apoptosis during development (122). Even when IKK β knockout-mediated apoptosis is attenuated by additional TNFR knockout, mice still show an increased susceptibility to infection (123; 124), indicating IKK β is important for cell function throughout the lifespan. IKK β is also required for the proliferation and survival of B cells, with IKK $\beta^{-/-}$ mice showing reduced numbers of B cells (125).

While knockout of IKK α had no effect on signaling downstream of TNF α , it did lead to abnormal bone and skin development in mice, as well as defects in the development of the gastrointestinal tract, and was ultimately lethal (126). Furthermore, knockout of IKK α or its upstream activating kinase NIK has been shown to lead to impaired lymphorganogenesis, resulting in impaired immune response (127), and has been linked to the prevention of B cell maturation (121). Knockout of both IKK β and IKK α , however, leads to a complete insensitivity to NF- κ B activators and exhibited neural tube defects and liver degeneration leading to embryonic lethality (128), indicating these kinases are essential for proper development and cell function.

1.6.2 Regulation of IKK by NEMO

In addition to the roles played by IKK α and IKK β in activating NF- κ B, IKK γ , or NEMO, is also required for activation of NF-kB by the canonical signaling pathway, and loss of NEMO leads to decreased sensitivity to stimulation by TNF α , LPS, and other proinflammatory cytokines (129; 130). Both IKK α and IKK β interact with NEMO via a specific stretch of amino acids in their N-termini, which has been termed the NEMO Binding Domain (NBD). Expression of a peptide containing this region is sufficient to compete with IKK for NEMO binding and inhibit cytokine induced NF-κB activation (131). While its role in the activation of the IKK complex has been well documented, it is currently unclear how many subunits of NEMO are present in the IKK complex. Some studies have suggested that NEMO exists as a tetramer, or more specifically a dimer of dimers (132), while others suggest NEMO may be present in a trimer (133). Proper assembly and function of NEMO, however, are important to IKK complex activity. Mutations in NEMO that impair its ability to oligomerize have negative effects on IKK activity (134), and knockout of NEMO yields severe liver degeneration and embryonic lethality in mice, a phenotype also seen with IKK β knockout (135).

While NEMO has no catalytic activity itself, it is indispensible for canonical NFκB signaling, and it may have roles in many other situations as well. NEMO has been shown to interact with other proteins, which both positively and negatively regulate IKK activity. Because ubiquitination of NEMO appears to be important for activation of the IKK complex (136), several proteins involved in ubiquitination and deubiquitination have been identified as interactors of NEMO, including CARD-MAGUK protein 1 (CARMA1), the cellular inhibitor of apoptosis protein 1 (cIAP-1), and parkin, which promote its ubiquitination, and A20, the A20 binding inhibitor of NF- κ B 1(ABIN-1), and cylindromatosis protein (CYLD) which promote its deubiquitination (137; 138). NEMO has also been shown to interact with a variety of proteins required for IKK activation by certain stimuli, including receptor interacting protein (RIP1), which is needed for activation by TNF α , and Interleukin-1-receptor-associated kinase-1 (IRAK-1), which is required for activation by IL-1 (138). Mutations in NEMO have been linked to disease, including the skin disorder incontinentia pigmenti, which is characterized by skin and teeth deformities, and ectodermal dysplasia with immunodeficiency (EDA-ID), which is an auto-immune disorder leading to increased susceptibility to infection (139), highlighting NEMO's importance in normal cell function.

1.6.3 IKKe/TBK1

In addition to NEMO, two other IKK family members, IKK ε and TBK1, have been identified (140). Overexpression of IKK ε has been shown to increase NF- κ B signaling, and endogenous IKK ε has been shown to respond to activators of noncanonical NF- κ B signaling, indicating there may be redundancy in this pathway to ensure NF- κ B activation in the presence of stimuli (141; 142). Likewise, TBK1 has been shown to indirectly activate NF- κ B (143). Both kinases may also indirectly activate NF- κ B through activation of IKK α or IKK β (140). In addition to activating NF- κ B, IKK ε and TBK1 play a role in the response of interferon to viral infection by phosphorylating interferon regulatory factors (144), suggesting all IKK family members regulate cellular responses inside and outside NF-κB signaling.

1.6.4 IKK signaling outside NF-kB and disease relevance

While there is no question that IKK is indispensible for NF- κ B signaling, roles for IKK outside of NF- κ B signaling are also becoming clear (Table 1.2). As promoters of survival, IKKs have been shown to play a role in the promotion of tumorigenesis. Similarly, there is also a strong link between inflammation and tumorigenesis, and increased IKK activity has been associated with a variety of cancer types (157). Additionally, IKK β phosphorylates a number of tumor suppressor genes, leading to their degradation. It has been shown to inhibit p53 in this manner, independent of Mouse Double Minute 2 (MDM2) (150). Interestingly, however, IKK α and IKK β can both phosphorylate β -catenin, which plays a role in metastasis (158), with opposing outcomes. Phosphorylation by IKK β suppresses its transcriptional activity while phosphorylation by IKK α activates it (152).

Similarly, IKK α and IKK β may promote tumorigenesis by regulating the stability of other substrates. IKK α can regulate the cell cycle by phosphorylating cyclin D1, leading to its degradation (153). IKK β has also been shown to phosphorylate tuberous sclerosis 1 (TSC1), which, through its degradation, leads to increased activation of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and promotes angiogenesis in tumors (145). Similarly, IKK β has been shown to promote tumorigenesis by phosphorylating and increasing degradation of FOXO3a, which would otherwise drive transcription of a variety of genes regulating cell proliferation and survival (146). Likewise, IKK β may

Kinase	Substrate	Function	Reference
ΙΚΚβ	TSC1	Degradation (mTOR activation)	(145)
	FOXO3a	Degradation (tumorigenesis)	(146)
	Dok1	Activation (increased cell motility)	(147)
	SNAP-23	Activation (vesicle exocytosis)	(148)
	IRS-1	Inhibition (insulin resistance)	(149)
	p53	Degradation	(150)
	Aurora Kinase A	Inhibition	(151)
	β-catenin	Inhibition	(152)
ΙΚΚα	β-catenin	Activation	(152)
	cyclin D1	Degradation	(153)
	Histone H3	Acetylation	(115)
	СВР	Increased NF- κB binding	(154)
	IRF-7	Activation	(155)
	IRF-5	Inhibition	(156)

Table 1.2. IKK substrates outside of NF-кВ signaling

List of IKKa and IKK β substrates outside of the I $\kappa Bs.$

contribute to cell invasion and metastasis by phosphorylating Docking protein 1 (Dok1) in response to pro-inflammatory cytokines, an event that allows Dok1 to increase cell motility (147). Conversely, IKK has also been shown to phosphorylate Aurora kinase A, promoting proper regulation of the cell cycle. Knockout of IKK β and the subsequent loss of Aurora kinase A phosphorylation and degradation contributes to spindle abnormalities and promotes cancer formation (151), indicating IKK's role in cancer may not be so straight forward.

IKK may also influence immune response without directly activating NF- κ B. IKKβ promotes the degranulation of mast cells, which leads to the release of histamine and other inflammatory molecules. IKK does so by phosphorylating the Synaptosomal-Associated Protein 23 (SNAP-23), which plays a role in the exocytosis of vesicles (148). Furthermore, IKK α may indirectly promote NF- κ B activity by phosphorylating histone H3, which facilitates NF- κ B mediated transcription (115). IKK α also both positively and negatively regulates interferon production by phosphorylating interferon regulatory factor 7 (IRF-7) and IRF-5, respectively (155; 156) and can phosphorylate the transcriptional co-activation CREB Binding Protein (CBP), which increases its preference for NF- κ B as a binding partner (154).

In addition to its roles in tumorigenesis and immune response, the inflammation promoting activity of IKK may contribute to other diseases, such as diabetes and arthritis (116). IKK β been shown to directly phosphorylate IRS-1, leading to decreased signaling from the insulin receptor and insulin insensitivity (149). Similarly, IKK has been implicated in promoting insulin resistance and inflammation in response to obesity in an animal model (159). IKK ϵ , one of the non-canonical members of the IKK family, was also seen in a mouse model to be required for high-fat diet induced obesity, with knockout of IKK ϵ preventing obesity, chronic inflammation, and insulin resistance in mice (160). IKK mediated inflammation also contributes to the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis (OA) and RA. In arthritis, IKK activates NF- κ B, which in turn contributes to the inflammation, swelling, and hyperplasia seen in OA and RA (161). In particular, overexpression of IKK β was able to increase synovial inflammation and arthritis in a rat model of RA, whereas overexpression of dominant negative mutant of IKK β was sufficient to reduce synovial inflammation in response to outside stimuli (162). Similarly, introduction of a NEMO binding domain (NBD) peptide, which impairs IKK signaling, decreased inflammation in rodent models of RA (163).

IKKβ activity has also been linked to a variety of neurodegenerative diseases, including Huntington's Disease, Alzheimer's Disease, and Parkinson's disease by promoting inflammation (164). Increased activation of NF- κ B, which requires IKK, has been seen in patients with PD, and treatment with an NBD peptide, was sufficient to reduce inflammation associated with a mouse model of PD, indicating IKK may play a considerable role in inflammation associated with this disease (165). Interestingly, IKK may also play a protective role in HD by promoting the degradation of huntingtin, which could otherwise aggregate in cells and lead to ER stress induced apoptosis (166).

1.7 Crosstalk between ASK1 and IKK pathways

While no direct link to ASK1 signaling has previously been reported, crosstalk between IKKß and general MAPK signaling has been previously identified. LPS induced activation of IKK leads to activation of ERK(167), and LPS signaling can also activate ASK1 (31). Additionally, ASK1 and IKK are both activated by TNF α , leading to very different outcomes (168). Likewise, TRAF family members, which are important in keeping ASK1 in an active conformation (43), also play a role in the activation of IKK (169), presenting a possible bridge for feedback from one signaling pathway to another. Because both of these kinases are activated in response to similar stimuli, mechanisms must be in place that allow for each signaling pathway to be differentially activated.

Significant crosstalk between NF- κ B signaling and JNK signaling has also been noted (170). NF- κ B mediated inhibition of JNK has previously been attributed to transcription of GADD45 and XIAP, which can block JNK activation (171; 172). Additionally, NF- κ B signaling has been shown to decrease ROS accumulation, which normally activates JNK signaling (173). Knockout of IKK β has also been shown to promote prolonged activation of JNK in a manner independent of GADD45 and XIAP expression (174), indicating that ASK1 and IKK mediated signaling pathways may converge with one another. However, the molecular basis for the cross-talk between IKK and ASK1 remains to be determined, which is the focus of my research.

1.8 Scope of dissertation

The scope of this dissertation aims to describe two protein-protein interactions that regulate ASK1 function. First, we describe the interaction of ASK1 with ASK2, which can both positively and negatively regulate ASK1 activity. We first provide evidence for novel 14-3-3 mediated inhibition of ASK1 by ASK2, and we identify the binding interface of ASK1 and ASK2 and provide evidence suggesting disruption of ASK1/ASK2 interaction can reduce ASK1-mediated signaling. Second, we provide

evidence for IKK regulation of ASK1, where IKK directly interacts with ASK1 via the NEMO binding domain of IKK and mediates ASK1 inhibition in response to growth factor signaling by regulating ASK1 phosphorylation at Ser967. Understanding interactions of ASK1 with regulatory partners such as ASK2 and IKK will not only provide a better understanding of complex cellular responses to stress and survival signals, but may reveal novel drug targets with relevance to a wide variety of diseases, from neurodegenerative diseases to cancer.

Chapter 2: ASK2 promotes ASK1 inhibition or activation through specific protein-

protein interactions

Chapter 2.1: Dual engagement of 14-3-3 proteins controls signal relay from ASK2 to

the ASK1 signalosome.

Cockrell LM*, Puckett MC*, Goldman EH, Khuri FR, Fu H.

*Co-first authors

This chapter has been previously published with author copyright retained.

Cockrell, LM, Puckett MC, Goldman, EH, Khuri, FR, and H Fu. 2010. Dual Engagement

of 14-3-3 Proteins Controls Signal Relay from ASK2 to the ASK1 Signalosome.

Oncogene. 29:822-30

Abstract

Faithful and efficient transmission of biological signals through mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways requires engagement of highly regulated cellular machinery in response to diverse environmental cues. Here, we report a novel mechanism controlling signal relay between two MAP3Ks, apoptosis signal-regulating kinase (ASK) 1 and ASK2. We show that ASK2 specifically interacts with 14-3-3 proteins through phosphorylated S964. Although a 14-3-3-binding defective mutant of ASK1 (S967A) has no effect on the ASK2/14-3-3 interaction, both overexpression of the analogous ASK2 (S964A) mutant and knockdown of ASK2 dramatically reduced the amount of ASK1 complexed with 14-3-3. These data suggest a dominant role of ASK2 in 14-3-3 control of ASK1 function. Indeed, ASK2 S964A-induced dissociation of 14-3-3 from ASK1 correlated with enhanced phosphorylation of ASK1 at T838 and increased c-Jun N-terminal kinase phosphorylation, the two biological readouts of ASK1 activation. Our results suggest a model in which upstream signals couple ASK2 S964 phosphorylation to the ASK1 signalosome through dual engagement of 14-3-3.

Introduction

The evolutionarily conserved mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascades consist of tiered protein kinases that undergo sequential phosphorylation and activation, allowing specific signal amplification to elicit a corresponding cellular response (175; 176). Each cascade module consists of an MAPK, an MAPK kinase (MAP2K), and an MAPK kinase kinase (MAP3K). MAPK cascades are activated by diverse stimuli to mediate multiple signaling pathways, resulting in a crucial impact on cell fate processes such as cell growth, differentiation and death. Among the MAPK cascades, those triggered by the MAP3K apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (ASK1) are critical determinants of apoptosis (16; 31; 177). ASK1 activation leads to phosphorylation and activation of MAP2K4/7 or MAP2K3/6 and the resulting MAPKs c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38 activation, respectively. A variety of intrinsic and extrinsic cellular stress stimuli induce ASK1 activation. For example, ASK1 relays signals from death receptors, such as those activated by tumor necrosis factor α (78). ASK1 is also activated by unfolded protein response-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress (21). Recently, important physiological and pathological roles of ASK1 have emerged to include the regulation of innate immunity, cellular differentiation, and various human diseases such as cardiac hypertrophy and remodeling, insulin resistance, neurodegeneration and tumorigenesis (27; 33; 89; 94; 178). Because of its importance as a central mediator of diverse developmental and stress signals, ASK1 activation is tightly controlled. The newly defined ASK1 signalosome reflects the numerous phosphorylation and protein interaction events critical to maintain ASK1 regulation (40).

One important ASK1 regulatory protein is 14-3-3, a phosphoserine/threoninerecognition protein (62; 179-184). 14-3-3 is a multifunctional regulatory protein that is important in maintaining a multitude of cellular processes, including cell cycle control, cell proliferation and inhibition of apoptosis. Seven mammalian isoforms of 14-3-3 have been identified and are denoted by Greek lettering (γ , τ , ζ , σ , β , ε , η). 14-3-3 binds to the majority of its cellular ligands through a phosphorylated motif. The canonical 14-3-3 recognition motif has been identified as RSXpSXP, in which phosphorylation of the second serine is critical for 14-3-3 recognition (185; 186). Binding of 14-3-3 to ASK1 through a phosphorylated S967 motif (RSIS967LP) has been shown to decrease ASK1 kinase activity and inhibit ASK1-induced apoptosis (59; 187; 188).

Recently, another MAP3K, ASK2, was found to bind with ASK1 (189). ASK2 has been shown to function as a tumor suppressor in combination with ASK1, and ASK2 levels are reduced in human gastrointestinal cancers (94). The heteromeric complex of ASK1 and ASK2 is thought to have reciprocal functionality, which means that ASK1 and ASK2 function to activate each other (178). ASK2 activation of ASK1 is mediated by phosphorylation of T838 within the activation loop of the human ASK1 kinase domain, whereas ASK1 activation of ASK2 seems to occur through a phosphorylationindependent mechanism. Thus, dissection of ASK1-associated protein interactions may offer opportunities to gain further understanding of the general mechanisms controlling signal transmission through MAP3Ks.

Here we describe a novel mechanism by which ASK2 suppresses ASK1 function through the induced recruitment of 14-3-3 proteins. Our work establishes a new signaling complex consisting of ASK2, ASK1 and 14-3-3, suggests an inhibitory function of ASK2 for ASK1, and reveals a dynamic signal-relay function for the family of 14-3-3 proteins.

Methods

Cell culture, DNA transfection and plasmids

COS7 and HeLa cells were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium and plasmid transfections were performed using Fugene 6 or Fugene HD (Roche, Boulder, CO, USA) as previously described (16; 51; 187). ASK2–KC and full-length ASK2 were amplified by PCR and cloned into the pDEST27 GST mammalian expression vector (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA).

ASK2 knockdown

Plasmids encoding ASK2 shRNAmir constructs (RH54430-98513431 and RH54430-98903615) were purchased from Open Biosystems (Huntsville, AL, USA). HeLa cells were transfected with shRNAmir plasmid using Fugene HD (Roche) (16; 51; 187). Transfected cells were selected with puromycin (2 mg/ml) for 3 days.

Protein interaction assays

Affinity pulldown assay. Cells were lysed in 200 μ l of pulldown lysis buffer (59). HexaHis-tag fusion proteins in the clarified cell lysates were isolated with Ni²⁺-charged resin (Novagen, Madison, WI, USA) as described (51). **Co-IP assay.** Cells were lysed in either 200 μ l (COS7) or 1000 μ l (HeLa) of co-IP lysis buffer (59). Cleared cell lysates were incubated with Protein A or G conjugated sepharose (GE Healthcare, Piscataway, NJ, USA) and the appropriate antibody for 2 hr to overnight at 4°C. Following incubation, the resin was washed three times with lysis buffer and protein samples were eluted by boiling in 6xSDS sample buffer for western blot analysis.

Phosphatase assay

Cleared lysates of COS7 cells were divided into two samples, a 'plus inhibitors' sample with added phosphatase inhibitors ($Na_4P_2O_7$, NaF, Na_3VO_4), and a 'minus inhibitors' control sample. Time-course experiments were carried out as indicated. Lysates were then subjected to affinity pulldown as described above.

Western blotting

Proteins were separated on 8% or 12.5% SDS–PAGE gels and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane, which were blocked with 5% milk. Membranes were probed overnight with anti-GST, anti-14-3-3 K19, anti-6xHis, anti-Raf anti-ASK1 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA), anti-Flag M2 (Sigma, St Louis, MO, USA), anti-ASK2 (Abnova, Taipei, Taiwan), or anti-phospho Ser967 ASK1 (Cell Signaling Technologies, Boston, MA, USA) antibodies, diluted in 5% milk. Corresponding horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) were used against each primary antibody. Proteins were detected using West-Pico or West-Dura enhanced chemiluminescent detection reagents (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA) and a Kodak imaging system. Densitometry was performed with Kodak 1D imaging software, and statistical analysis was carried out using the Student's t-test.

Results

ASK2 specifically interacts with 14-3-3 proteins

In our mechanistic study of the ASK1 signalosome, we noticed the presence of a putative 14-3-3 recognition motif surrounding S916 (RSPS916SP) in the C-terminus of ASK2. This motif fits well with the defined consensus 14-3-3 binding motif, RSXpSXP, and raises the possibility of ASK2 as a new 14-3-3 target protein (183). To test whether ASK2 interacts with 14-3-3, we carried out a series of affinity pulldown assays using Ni2+-charged resin to isolate hexahistidine (6xHis) tagged $14-3-3\gamma$ protein complexes from COS7 cell lysates. 14-3-3 γ K50E, a ligand-binding defective mutant, was used as a control (190; 191). As revealed by western blot, glutathione S-transferase (GST)-ASK2 was found within the 14-3-3 γ wild-type (WT) complex, but was absent in the K50E complex (Figure 2.1-1A), suggesting a specific interaction of ASK2 with $14-3-3\gamma$. Consistent with a potential role of ASK2 S916 in 14-3-3 binding, a truncated ASK2 lacking the sequence N-terminal to the kinase domain (ASK2–KC: 638–1288 aa) was still capable of binding with 14-3-3 γ (Figure 2.1-1A). To confirm this interaction, a reciprocal experiment was performed. When Flag-ASK2-KC was isolated from COS7 cell lysates using co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP), 14-3-3 γ WT, but not K50E, was found in the resulting ASK2 protein complex (Figure 2.1-1B). In further support of these

Figure 2.1-1. Interaction of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 2 (ASK2) with 14-3-3 **proteins.** (A) ASK2 is in complex with $14-3-3\gamma$. COS7 cells were co-transfected with either glutathione S-transferase (GST)-ASK2 or GST-ASK2-KC and hexahistidine (6xHis)-14-3-3γ wild type (WT) or K50E. The 14-3-3 protein complex was isolated 40 h after transfection with Ni 2 +-charged resin and bound ASK2 was visualized by western blot. (B) 14-3-3 binds to ASK2 in a reverse co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP) assay. COS7 cell lysates over-expressing Flag-ASK2–KC and 6xHis-14-3-3y WT or K50E were used to isolate the ASK2–KC complex with an anti-Flag antibody. The resulting ASK2 protein complex was used for the detection of 14-3-3 by western blot. (C) 14-3-3 specifically binds endogenous ASK2. COS7 cells were transfected with 6xHis-14- $3-3\gamma$ (WT or K50E). The 14-3-3 γ complex was isolated with Ni₂+-charged resin, and endogenous ASK2 was detected by western blot. (D) Interaction of ASK2 with multiple 14-3-3 isoforms. The isolation of the 14-3-3 isoform complex and the detection of ASK2 in each 14-3-3 complex were determined as in (A). (E) Competitive binding of ASK2 to 14-3-3 with defined 14-3-3 peptide antagonists. The 14-3-3/ASK2 complexes were isolated with an affinity pulldown assay as in (A), either in the presence or in the absence of antagonistic peptides (pSer259Raf and R18). Non-phosphorylated Raf peptide (Raf) or a randomized R18 peptide (R18rand) was used as control.



results, 14-3-3 γ was also able to pull down endogenous ASK2 (Figure 2.1-1C). Together, the above data suggest that ASK2 specifically interacts with 14-3-3 γ through a binding site mapped to the KC fragment of the ASK2 protein. Therefore, ASK2–KC was used to further characterize binding with 14-3-3 in subsequent experiments.

There are seven 14-3-3 isoforms in mammalian cells (γ , τ , ζ , σ , β , ε , η). 14-3-3 interaction with ASK2 is not unique to the γ isoform, as ASK2 was found in complex with all seven 14-3-3 isoforms (Figure 2.1-1D). These data imply that ASK2 may use a common binding site within 14-3-3 proteins, such as the conserved amphipathic groove within the 14-3-3 structure (183). To test this possibility, we used two approaches: peptide competition assay and mutational analysis. Indeed, two well-defined 14-3-3 groove-binding peptides, a phosphorylated Raf peptide (pSer259-Raf) and an unphosphorylated antagonist peptide (R18), effectively competed away ASK2's interaction with $14-3-3\gamma$ (Figure 2.1-1E) (185; 192; 193). Conversely, inclusion of the respective peptide controls, unphosphorylated Raf peptide (Raf) or randomized R18 peptide (R18rand), showed no competitive effect. In further support of the involvement of the amphipathic groove in ASK2 binding, several charge-reversal mutations of 14-3-3 ζ amino acid residues within the groove (K49E, R56E, R60E, V176D) greatly diminished interaction with ASK2 (data not shown; (189; 191; 194). These data show how the amphipathic groove of 14-3-3 proteins is used as an ASK2 docking site, allowing common and specific binding between 14-3-3 and ASK2.

ASK2 requires phosphorylation for 14-3-3 binding

We found that incubation of cell lysates at 37°C led to a decrease in ASK2's interaction

with 14-3-3 γ (Figure 2.1-2A). This decrease is likely due to the increased action of an endogenous protein phosphatase(s), as the presence of a consensus motif (RSPS916SP) within ASK2 predicts a phosphorylation requirement for recognition by 14-3-3. In support of this notion, the inclusion of general phosphatase inhibitors during this incubation prevented the dissociation (Figure 2.1-2A). The phosphorylation dependence of the interaction was further confirmed in a separate assay, in which calf intestinal phosphatase was shown to accelerate the dissociation of ASK2 from 14-3-3 (data not shown). This phenomenon allowed the use of more specific phosphatase inhibitors to validate the requirement of phosphorylation for the interaction and to define the class of protein phosphatases involved. At lower concentrations, okadaic acid is more specific for inhibition of the PP1/PP2A phosphatase family, whereas cyclosporine A is specific for inhibition of PP2B, or calcinuerin (195). Treatment of cells with okadaic acid, but not cyclosporine A, led to a dramatic increase in the amount of the ASK2/14-3-3 γ complex (Figure 2.1-2B). From these data, we conclude that ASK2's interaction with 14-3-3 is negatively regulated by the PP1/PP2A phosphatase family, supporting the importance of a regulated phosphorylation dictating the ASK2/14-3-3 interaction.

14-3-3 binds ASK2 through a novel S964-mediated motif

Both the phosphorylation dependence of the ASK2/14-3-3 interaction and the presence of a putative 14-3-3 binding motif within the ASK2 sequence (RSPS916SP) predict the importance of S916 as the critical phospho-acceptor mediating 14-3-3 interaction (Figure 2.1-3A). To test whether the S916-containing motif is indeed an essential determinant of 14-3-3 interactions, we performed a competitive binding assay using a phosphorylated

Figure 2.1-2. The apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 2 (ASK2)/14-3-3 interaction requires phosphorylation. (A) Phosphatase inhibition increased the amount of ASK2/14-3-3 interaction. Cell lysates with co-expressed glutathione *S*-transferase (GST)-ASK2–KC and hexahistidine (6xHis)-14-3- 3γ were divided into two samples, and incubated at 37 °C either in the presence or in the absence of 50 mm phosphatase inhibitors ($Na_4P_2O_7$, NaF, Na_3VO_4). The lysate was removed at the indicated times and subjected to affinity pulldown and western blot as in Figure 2.1-1a. (B) An inhibitor of the protein phosphatase 2A family blocks ASK2's dissociation from 14-3-3. Cells coexpressing GST-ASK2–KC and 6xHis-14-3- 3γ were treated with increasing concentrations of either okadaic acid or cyclosporine A (Sigma), or vehicle (ethanol or methanol, respectively), for 1 hr. Cell lysates were used in an affinity pulldown assay as described in Figure 2.1-1A.







Figure 2.1-3. Determination of the 14-3-3 binding site within apoptosis signalregulating kinase 2 (ASK2). (A) Schematic of the predicted 14-3-3 recognition motifs within ASK2. Amino acid sequences surrounding the tested 14-3-3 binding motifs within ASK2 are shown, along with truncations and Ser to Ala mutations used in (C) and (D). Binding results summarized as positive (Y) or negative (N). (B) Competition with a pSer916-ASK2 peptide (NH2-CQPGKRSRSPpSSPRH-COOH) has no effect on the interaction of ASK2 with 14-3-3. Experiments were performed as in Figure 2.1-1d_a and the 14-3-3/Raf-1 interaction was used as a control. (C) Mutations in the S916 motif of ASK2 fail to disrupt 14-3-3 binding. Point mutations were generated as shown, and the presence of mutated ASK2 in the 14-3-3 complex was determined as in Figure 2.1-1A. (D) ASK2 S964A abolishes binding to 14-3-3. COS7 cells were co-transfected with 6xHis-14-3-3γ and glutathione *S*-transferase (GST)-ASK2 and GST-ASK2–KC wild-type (WT) or S964A mutants. After transfection, cells were lysed and used in the previously described 14-3-3 affinity pulldown assay.



peptide representing the residues surrounding S916 (pSer916-ASK2). Unexpectedly, this peptide failed to compete with ASK2 for 14-3-3 binding, even at concentrations up to 100 μ m (Figure 2.1-3B). Intriguingly, this peptide also did not disrupt the interaction of 14-3-3 with Raf-1, another well-defined 14-3-3 client protein. However, it remained possible that this peptide did not have the correct conformation for effective competition. To specifically test whether ASK2 S916 was necessary for 14-3-3 binding, we performed site-directed mutagenesis to generate a nonphosphorylatable GST-ASK2 S916A mutant. GST-ASK2 S916A was fully capable of binding to 14-3-3 γ (Figure 2.1-3C). We also mutated the serines within and around this predicted 14-3-3 binding motif in ASK2, generating S912A, S914A and S917A. However, none of these mutations showed any effect on the ASK2/14-3-3 association (Figure 2.1-3C). The failure of these mutations to inhibit ASK2 binding with 14-3-3, together with the lack of peptide competition using the putative phosphorylated motif, suggests that 14-3-3 targets a structure other than the S916-mediated motif for binding.

In search of the 14-3-3 binding site, we generated a series of deletion mutants within GST-ASK2–KC to further narrow down the binding region (depicted in Figure 2.1-3A). Using these truncations, we localized the binding site within the ASK2 sequence between N937 and V973 (data not shown). Examination of the amino acid sequence within this region revealed that the most likely site for 14-3-3 recognition was a motif surrounding serine 964 (RCLS964YG; Figure 2.1-3A). We then mutated the S964 residue to alanine (S964A), and used this mutant in an affinity pulldown assay. Mutation of this site did not affect the autokinase activity of ASK2 (Supplementary Figure 2.1-S1).
Figure 2.1-S1. 14-3-3 interaction has no effect on ASK2 kinase activity. Overexpressed GST-ASK2-KC (WT, S964A, K677M) was isolated from COS7 cells with glutathione resin. Kinase activity of ASK2 was assayed by the incorporation of ³²P-ATP into ASK2 (30 min) and revealed by autoradiography. Inactive kinase K677M was used as a negative control. Lower panel shows equal amount of ASK2 proteins were used in the assay with a Coomassie Blue stained gel.



However, the single S964A point mutation alone was sufficient to diminish ASK2's interaction with 14-3-3 (Figure 2.1-3D), suggesting that phosphorylation at S964 has an essential function in 14-3-3 binding. Although minimal 14-3-3 binding was still seen to the S964A mutant, the significant loss of binding indicates that S964 is a critical 14-3-3 binding site. Thus, this study identifies S964 as the primary 14-3-3 recognition site within the ASK2 protein, and defines a novel, noncanonical 14-3-3 motif that may be present in other 14-3-3 client proteins.

14-3-3 is present in a ternary complex with ASK1 and ASK2

It is interesting to note that 14-3-3 interacts with both ASK2 and ASK1 (187) (Figure 2.1-1). This suggests the possibility of the formation of an ASK2/ASK1/14-3-3 ternary complex within the ASK1 signalosome. To test this model, affinity pulldown assays were performed with COS7 cell lysates transfected with HA-ASK1, GST-ASK2 and 6xHis-14-3-3 γ . Indeed, both ASK1 and ASK2 were present in the resulting 14-3-3 protein complex (Figure 2.1-4A). This complex occurred independently of the expression of either the full-length or the KC versions of GST-ASK2. Further, this ternary complex was confirmed with reverse pulldown assays, which showed that 14-3-3 and ASK1 were found in the GST–ASK2 complex, and 14-3-3 and ASK2 were in the HA–ASK1 complex (data not shown). Neither ASK1 nor ASK2 was present in the 6xHis-14-3-3 γ K50E pulldown, suggesting that the ternary complex was mediated specifically by the amphipathic groove of 14-3-3. However, the above results did not rule out the possibility that ASK1/14-3-3 and ASK2/14-3-3 may be present in separate binary protein Figure 2.1-4. Association of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 2 (ASK2) with ASK1 and 14-3-3 in a ternary complex. (A) ASK2, ASK1 and 14-3-3 exist in a multi-protein complex. HA-ASK1 and glutathione S-transferase (GST)-ASK2 were co-transfected into COS7 cells with either hexahistidine (6xHis)-14-3-3 γ wild type (WT) or K50E. Cell lysates were used in a 14-3-3 affinity pulldown assay, and the presence of ASK1 and ASK2 was revealed by anti-HA and anti-GST antibodies in a western blot. (B) Phosphorylation status of ASK2 S964 controls the association of 14-3-3 with ASK1. COS7 cells were transfected with the expression plasmids for $6xHis-14-3-3\gamma$ (WT or K50E), HA-ASK1 (WT or S967A) and GST-ASK2–KC (WT or S964A). 14-3- 3γ protein complexes were isolated by affinity pulldown and associated ASK1, ASK2 and Raf-1, and the phosphorylation status of ASK1 at S967 was detected using the respective antibodies by western blot. (C) Increased expression of ASK2 S964A is correlated with decreased association of ASK1 from 14-3-3. COS7 cells were co-transfected with HA-ASK1 WT and $6xHis-14-3-3\gamma$, along with increasing amounts of expression vectors for either GST-ASK2-KC WT or S964A. The amount of ASK1 in the resulting 14-3-3 affinity pulldown complex from each sample was determined as in Figure 2.1-1a. (D) Quantification of data from (c). The relative percentage of ASK1 in each $6xHis-14-3-3\gamma$ pulldown sample is shown. Lysates containing GST-ASK2-KC WT and S964A are indicated by solid circles (•) and squares (•), respectively. (E) ASK2 S964A mutation diminishes the association between endogenous ASK1 and 14-3-3. HeLa cells were transfected with pcDNA or GST-ASK2-KC (WT or S964A). Following transfection, endogenous ASK1 was immunoprecipitated from the cell lysates using a specific anti-ASK1 antibody. Endogenous 14-3-3 in the ASK1 co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP) was

detected with a pan anti-14-3-3 antibody by western blot. (F) ASK2 knockdown diminishes endogenous ASK1/14-3-3 binding. HeLa cells were transfected with shRNAmir constructs targeting ASK2 or pGIPz empty vector control. Cells were selected with puromycin, and endogenous ASK1 was immunoprecipitated from lysates using a specific anti-ASK1 antibody. Endogenous 14-3-3 in the ASK1 co-IP was detected with a pan anti-14-3-3 antibody by western blot.





S964A ž GST-ASK2-KC: : WB: α-14-3-3 14-3-3 ASK1 Co-IP WB: α-ASK1 ASK1 WB: α-14-3-3 14-3-3 Cell Lysate WB: α-GST -- ASK2



b

complexes. We therefore set out to test the specificity and functional significance of this ternary complex.

ASK2/14-3-3 interaction dictates ASK1/14-3-3 interaction

The interaction of 14-3-3 with both ASK2 and ASK1 is dynamically regulated by phosphorylation through S964 of ASK2 and S967 of ASK1 (187) (Figure 2.1-3D). Point mutation of these sites to alanine allows the generation of ASK1 or ASK2 proteins that are specifically defective in 14-3-3 binding, permitting the examination of 14-3-3's contribution to the ASK1/ASK2 complex. We used 14-3-3-binding defective mutants of ASK1 (S967A) and ASK2 (S964A) to establish the interplay among 14-3-3, ASK2 and ASK1 in the ternary protein complex. These point mutations did not affect the interaction between ASK1 and ASK2 (Supplementary Figure 2.1-S2). The ASK2/14-3-3 interaction seems to be independent of the ASK1/14-3-3 interaction, as overexpression of neither ASK1 WT nor S967A induced any detectable change in ASK2/14-3-3 binding (Figure 2.1-4B). However, the ability of ASK2 to bind 14-3-3 showed a dramatic impact on 14-3-3's interaction with ASK1. As previously shown, ASK1 WT is associated with 14-3-3, whereas ASK1 S967A has diminished 14-3-3 binding (187). Unexpectedly, when ASK2– KC WT was overexpressed along with ASK1 S967A and 14-3-3y, ASK1 S967A was found in the 14-3-3y complex (Figure 2.1-4B). One explanation for these results is that enhanced ASK2 WT expression increased the amount of ASK1 S967A in the ASK2/ASK1 protein complex, which was then pulled down with 14-3-3. However, overexpression of mutated ASK2 (S964A) dramatically decreased the amount of ASK1 WT in the 14-3-3 complex, lending strong support to a functional and regulated ternary protein association (Figure 2.1-4B). Importantly, the effect of ASK2 S964A could be

Figure 2.1-S2. 14-3-3 interaction is not required for ASK1/ASK2 binding. COS7 cells were transfected with HA-ASK1 (WT or S967A) and GST-ASK2-KC (WT or S964A). The ASK2-KC complex was isolated with glutathione conjugated resin. The presence of ASK1 in the GST-ASK2 complex was determined by Western blot.



recapitulated with endogenous 14-3-3/ASK1 interaction as well (Figure 2.1-4E). To further validate the ASK2 effect, dose–response experiments were carried out. Increasing amounts of ASK2 S964A, but not WT, led to a corresponding decrease in the amount of ASK1 appearing within the 14-3-3 complex (Figures 2.1-4C and D).

We further explored the specificity of the ASK2/ASK1/14-3-3 ternary complex formation by probing the effect of ASK2 or ASK1 on the interaction of 14-3-3 with Raf-1, another well-characterized MAP3K that binds 14-3-3. Interestingly, endogenous Raf-1 binding to 14-3-3 was unaffected by the overexpression of either WT or mutated ASK1 or ASK2 (Figures 2.1-4B and C). These data suggest that the ASK2/ASK1/14-3-3 ternary complex is distinct from the 14-3-3/Raf-1 complex.

To further support the hypothesis that ASK2 regulates the ASK1/14-3-3 interaction, we performed ASK2 silencing experiments and examined the effect of reducing ASK2 on endogenous ASK1/14-3-3 binding (Figure 2.1-4F). When ASK2 expression was knocked down, endogenous 14-3-3 binding to ASK1 was greatly reduced, indicating that ASK2 has a substantial role in regulating the interaction between these two proteins. Together, these results show that ASK2, ASK1 and 14-3-3 form a specific and unique ternary complex, in which the interaction between ASK2 and 14-3-3 determines the extent of ASK1 binding to 14-3-3.

ASK2/14-3-3 interaction controls ASK1 function

Previous studies have shown that 14-3-3 binding suppresses ASK1 activity by maintaining S967 in a phosphorylated state, inhibiting ASK1-mediated JNK pathway activation (61; 187; 188). We reasoned that ASK2 might exert control over ASK1 by

dictating the action of 14-3-3 within this ternary complex. To probe the functional consequence of the dynamically regulated ASK2/14-3-3 interaction, we examined the effect of the 14-3-3-binding defective mutant of ASK2 (S964A) on the phosphorylation status of ASK1 at S967 and the activation state of ASK1. Indeed, co-expression of ASK2 S964A resulted in a decrease in ASK1 S967 phosphorylation, an effect not observed on ASK2 WT expression (Figure 2.1-4B). Although ASK1 S967A showed enhanced ASK1 activity (T838 phosphorylation) over ASK1 WT, the ASK1 WT activity was also stimulated on co-expression with ASK2 S964A, supporting an ASK2-mediated inhibitory role of 14-3-3 in the ternary complex (Figure 2.1-5A).

As an additional biological readout of ASK1 activity, we monitored JNK activation. As we have previously shown, dephosphorylation of ASK1 at S967 is correlated with an increase in ASK1 kinase activity and ASK1-induced apoptotic signaling (59; 187). After co-expression of ASK1 with ASK2 (WT or S964A), JNK activation was determined by western blot with an antibody directed against phosphorylated T183/Y185 of JNK (Figures 2.1-5B and C). Co-expression of ASK2–KC S964A showed a statistically significant increase in JNK activation (p=0.028) compared with ASK1 expression plus control pcDNA. No statistically significant increase in JNK activation was seen with expression of ASK2–KC S964A alone (p=0.130). These results indicate that ASK2's interaction with 14-3-3 is critical to allow 14-3-3 to engage and suppress ASK1, leading to a reduction in ASK1-mediated JNK signaling. Further evidence in support of a physiological role of an ASK2/14-3-3 connection in the regulation of the ASK1–JNK axis is provided by our peptide inhibitor study, in which disruption of the ASK2/ASK1 interaction was correlated with decreased ASK1/14-3-3

association on ASK1 function. (A) The phosphorylation state of ASK2 at S964 affects ASK1 activation. COS7 cells were co-transfected with HA-ASK1 (wild type (WT) or S967A) and glutathione S-transferase (GST)-ASK2–KC (WT or S964A). Activation of ASK1 was assessed by phosphorylation of T838 determined by western blot with a phospho-T838 specific antibody. (B) Expression of ASK2 S964A enhances ASK1-c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) signaling. COS7 cells were transfected with HA-ASK1 and either GST-ASK2–KC S964A or a control pcDNA vector. JNK activation status in the resulting cell lysates was revealed by western blot with an anti-pT183/Y185 JNK specific antibody. (C) Quantification of pJNK to JNK ratio. Values given are mean±standard error (n=5). (D) Working model. Under stress conditions, ASK1 and ASK2 exist in a heteromeric complex, and are dephosphorylated at S967 and S964, respectively. In this complex, ASK2 facilitates ASK1 activation through phosphorylation of T838, whereas ASK1 exhibits positive feedback regulation on ASK2 through stabilization of the ASK2 protein (Osaka et al., 2007). These activities culminate in the activation of ASK1 downstream signals, leading to ASK1-induced apoptosis. Conversely, under conditions of cell survival, ASK2 S964 is phosphorylated through a pro-survival kinase-signaling cascade, generating a high-affinity 14-3-3 docking site. On phosphorylation at S964, ASK2 recruits 14-3-3 to the ASK2/ASK1 complex, leading to an interaction with ASK1 through phosphorylated S967 and subsequent suppression of the ASK1 signalosome.

Figure 2.1-5. Effect of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 2 (ASK2)/14-3-3



interaction and H₂O₂-induced JNK activation (M Puckett, L Cockrell and H Fu, unpublished data).

Discussion

Our data suggest a novel mechanism of ASK1 signalosome regulation, through ASK2-mediated recruitment of 14-3-3 proteins under certain physiological conditions, such as cells receiving survival signals (Figure 2.1-5d). Our proposed model predicts an ASK2 kinase that phosphorylates S964 in response to a survival-promoting signal, which in turn induces association of ASK2 with 14-3-3 and recruits 14-3-3 to the ASK2/ASK1 complex. This allows 14-3-3 to bind to and suppress ASK1 through phosphorylated S967. Conversely, signals that promote dephosphorylation of ASK2 at S964 are expected to disengage 14-3-3 from ASK2, triggering 14-3-3's dissociation from the ASK1 complex. Once removed, the ASK1 signalosome is free of 14-3-3-imposed inhibition, allowing activation of downstream effector pathways, such as JNK stimulation. In this way, ASK2 functions as a dual regulator in the ASK1 signalosome: serving as an ASK1 activator under stress conditions (40) while acting as an ASK1 suppressor by recruiting 14-3-3 under other conditions such as cell survival. Thus, ASK2 provides a signal integration point by which external or internal environmental signals are faithfully transmitted to ASK1 through engaging the phospho-binding protein 14-3-3, leading to either activation or suppression of ASK1 signaling. Even though 14-3-3 also interacts with another MAP3K Raf-1, the interaction status of ASK2 with 14-3-3 showed no obvious effect on the 14-3-3/Raf-1 association, suggesting a functionally distinct ASK2/14-3-3/ASK1 signaling complex. Because 14-3-3 proteins bind most members of the MAP3K family, this may represent a general mechanism by which 14-3-3 regulates

signal relay among MAP3Ks to ensure signaling integrity in various physiological processes.

Chapter 2.2: Distinct Regions within ASK1 and ASK2 facilitate kinase interaction

Mary C. Puckett, Lisa M. Cockrell, Mia DeSimone, and Haian Fu

Abstract

Jun N-terminal kinases (JNKs) respond to stress signals and are involved in cellular processes such as apoptosis, proliferation, metabolism, and DNA repair. Dysregulated activation of JNK signaling has been implicated in numerous disease states, including neurodegenerative diseases, chronic inflammatory disease, ischemia, diabetes, and cancer. The apoptosis signal regulating kinase 1 (ASK1) plays an important role in JNK signaling. Recent evidence suggests the ASK1 binding partner ASK2 is intricately involved in JNK regulation, but the mechanism by which this occurs is unknown. We have identified the critical residues needed for ASK1/ASK2 interaction through deletion mapping and binding assays, and these residues comprise a regulatory element for JNK signaling. Expression of this regulatory element can reduce JNK phosphorylation in response to stress signals, including hydrogen peroxide, while ASK2 peptides without this regulatory element have no effect on JNK phosphorylation. These results indicate ASK2 plays a critical regulatory role in ASK1-mediated JNK activation and could serve as a basis for the development of a small molecule or peptide inhibitor of JNK signaling.

Introduction

Depending on the cellular context, ASK1 signaling can lead to apoptosis, cellular differentiation, or even cell survival. ASK1 functions in a large protein complex, termed the ASK1 signalosome. In this complex, many interacting partners regulate ASK1's function (31). Thioredoxin, in its reduced form, can bind ASK1, keeping it in an inactive conformation. In the presence of ROS, the cysteine residues on thioredoxin can be oxidized, and the protein can no longer bind ASK1. This allows for the recruitment of TRAF2/6 to the ASK1 signalosome, which facilitates formation of the active conformation of ASK1 (43). As a mitogen activated protein kinase kinase kinase (MAP3K), active ASK1 can phosphorylate and activate MAP2Ks, which can in turn phosphorylate and activate MAPKs. Specifically, ASK1 can phosphorylate the MAP2Ks MKK3/6 and MKK4/7 leading to the activation of the MAPKs p38 and JNK, respectively. Additionally, like ROS, ER stress can activate ASK1. Under ER stress conditions, IRE1, a transmembrane protein located in the ER, can bind TRAF2, which recruits ASK1 (21). This process can activate the ASK1-JNK signaling pathway and lead to apoptosis.

ASK1 activity is also regulated by various kinases, phosphatases, and other binding proteins. One such protein is ASK2, a MAP3K with significant homology to ASK1. Interestingly, ASK2 seems to both activate and inhibit ASK1 signaling under various stress conditions. ASK2 can directly activate ASK1 through phosphorylation of Thr838 in its kinase domain. ASK1, however, cannot phosphorylate the equivalent threonine residue on ASK2, but it can stabilize ASK2 through physical interaction (40). Knockout of ASK2 renders cells insensitive to ROS induced cell death, indicating that ASK2 is required for ASK1 activation in response to this stress signal (40). Similarly, in a two-step skin tumorigenesis model, knockout of ASK2 increased papilloma formation and decreased apoptosis (196). On its own, however, ASK2 can only weakly activate JNK in response to H_2O_2 treatment. Recent evidence from our lab indicates that ASK2 may also regulate ASK1/14-3-3 binding. When ASK1 is bound to 14-3-3, it is unable to promote apoptosis (187). Our evidence shows that decreased ASK2/14-3-3 interaction results in significantly reduced ASK1 bound to 14-3-3, indicating that ASK2/14-3-3 binding is needed for 14-3-3 inhibition of ASK1 (Chapter 2.1).

While these results suggest ASK2 is a crucial regulator of ASK1 signaling, many questions remain as to how this occurs. ASK1 and ASK2 are known to bind, and the C-terminus of ASK1 has been shown to be sufficient for ASK2 binding, but little is known about the details of the interface between these two proteins. Here we describe the binding interface of ASK1 and ASK2, as well as consequences of binding disruption. With a better understanding of how these two proteins interact, we may be able to identify potential sites for future therapeutic development.

Materials and Methods

Plasmids and reagents. HA-ASK1, HA-ASK2, and Flag-ASK2 were present in pcDNA3 vectors and have been previously described (187). GST-ASK1 and GST-ASK2 truncations and peptide fragments were inserted in pDEST27 mammalian expression vector using Gateway cloning (Invitrogen). DNA was purified from E. coli with the Qiagen Maxi Kit. H₂O₂ was obtained from Sigma.

Cell culture and transfections. COS7 cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, CellGro) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Atlanta Biologicals) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Life Technologies) at 37°C with 5% CO₂ in a humidified incubator. DNA transfection was performed with FuGENE HD reagent (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Cell lysis and immunoblotting. Cells were lysed 48 hr after transfection in 200 µL (GST pull-down and immunoprecipitations) or 60µL (TR-FRET) of 0.2% lysis buffer [0.2% Nonidet P-40 (NP-40); 10 mM HEPES, pH 7.4; 150 mM NaCl; 1:1000 dilution phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Sigma), 1:1000 dilution protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma)]. Proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immuno-blotted with specific antibodies: GST (Z-9), ASK1 (F-9), and HA-probe antibodies were obtained from Santa Cruz. Secondary antibodies used were horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (Santa Cruz) and horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (Santa Cruz) for monoclonal and polyclonal primary antibodies respectively. Proteins were visualized using enhanced West Pico or West Dura (Thermo Scientific).

Time-resolved fluorescence resonance energy transfer. Cell lysates containing overexpressed proteins were mixed on 384 well black plates. Lysates were serially diluted in a reaction buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.0, 50 mM NaCl, 0.01% NP40). GST-Terbium (HTRF) conjugated antibody was used couple GST-ASK2 as a FRET donor. Venus-ASK1 served as a FRET acceptor. Samples were incubated at room temperature for 1 hr and FRET signal was measured on the Envision spectrophotometer (Excitation 337 nm and Emission 520 nm).

GST pull-down and immunoprecipitation Assays. To perform GST pull-down assays, 160 μ L of lysate was added to 25 μ L of a 50% slurry of glutathione beads (GE Healthcare) in lysis buffer and samples were rotated slowly at 4°C for 2-4 hr. For immunoprecipitations, 160 μ L of lysate was added to 25 μ L of a 50% slurry of Protein G beads (GE Healthcare) and samples were rotated slowly at 4°C for 30 min to clear lysates. Supernatant was collected, added to 2 μ L of anti-ASK1 antibody (F-9, Santa Cruz), and rotated slowly at 4°C for 2 hr. 25 μ L of 50% slurry of Protein G beads was added, and samples were rotated an additional two hours. Beads were washed three times with 200 μ L of lysis buffer to decrease nonspecific binding. Beads were then boiled in 20 μ L of 2X SDS sample buffer for 5 min to recover bound proteins for analysis by SDS-PAGE and Western blot.

Split-luciferase protein complementation assay. ASK1 fused to the C-terminal half of Renilla luciferase was overexpressed with ASK2 protein fragments fused to the N-terminal half of Renilla luciferase. 48 hr after transfection, cells were lysed and benzyl-coelenterazine was added to the lysates in a final concentration of 50 μ M. Total luminescence was read with the Envision spectrophotometer.

Results

ASK1 and ASK2 interact via distinct regions within their C-termini

ASK2 has been previously shown to form a complex with ASK1 (40; 197), and this complex is important for activation of both kinases. To confirm the interaction

between ASK1 and ASK2, we used time resolved fluorescence resonance energy transfer (TR-FRET) to assess direct interaction between these two proteins. A positive TR-FRET signal can only be obtained when proteins are within 100 Angstroms of one another, a distance indicating direct interaction. We obtained a positive signal via TR-FRET when Venus-ASK1 was overexpressed with GST-ASK2 but not when overexpressed with GST alone, confirming previous reports that ASK1 and ASK2 directly interact (Figure 2.2-1A).

To better understand this interaction, we next used an iterative deletion approach to determine the regions of ASK1 and ASK2 that are important for protein-protein interaction. When truncated forms of ASK2 were co-expressed with ASK1, only truncations containing regions after amino acid P1159 were able to bind ASK1, indicating that this region was necessary for protein-protein interaction (Figure 2.2-1B). To further narrow down the specific region of ASK2 that mediates ASK1 binding, we constructed a series of protein fragments spanning the C-terminal region of ASK2 (Figure 2.2-1C). When these fragments were tested for ASK1 interaction, only fragments amino acids G1182-P1288 showed binding, indicating that this particular region within the Cterminus is important for ASK2/ASK1 interaction (Figure 2.2-1D).

To confirm this interaction, we used a protein complementation assay (PCA) as an additional approach. For this assay, we overexpressed ASK1 fused to the C-terminus of Renilla luciferase with ASK2 fragments fused to the N-terminus of Renilla luciferase. In this assay, binding of any ASK2 fragments with ASK1 brings the two halves of the Renilla luciferase in close enough proximity to reconstitute an active enzyme, after which luminescence can be measured with after the addition of an appropriate substrate such as Figure 2.2-1. ASK2 binds ASK1 via a 100 amino acid region. (A) ASK1 and ASK2 directly interact. Cell lysates containing overexpressed Venus-ASK1 and GST-ASK2 or GST alone were mixed, and fluorescence was measured with the Envision spectrophotometer. (B) ASK1 interaction with ASK2 truncations. HA-ASK1 was overexpressed in COS7 cells with indicated GST-ASK2 truncations. ASK2 complexes were isolated by GST pull-down and bound ASK1 was assessed by Western blot. (C) Schematic of ASK2 peptides. (D-E) ASK1 interacts with G1182-P1288 of ASK2. (D) HA-ASK1 was overexpressed in COS7 cells with indicated GST-ASK2 peptides. ASK2 complexes overexpressed in COS7 cells with indicated GST-ASK2 peptides. (D) HA-ASK1 was overexpressed in COS7 cells with indicated GST-ASK2 peptides. ASK2 complexes were isolated by GST pull-down and bound ASK1 was assessed by Western blot. (E) ASK1 tagged with the C-terminal half of Renilla luciferase was overexpressed with ASK2 fragments tagged with the N-terminal half of Renilla luciferase.



GST-ASK2 +^C , +^{S93} +³¹ +³¹ +³¹ +³⁵ +³⁶³ +³







benzyl-coelenterazine. In this assay, the greatest interaction of ASK1 and ASK2 was also seen by G1182-P1288, supporting the importance of this region in ASK1/ASK2 binding (Figure 2.2-1E).

Conversely, the C-terminus of ASK1 has previously been identified as the interaction site for ASK2 (40). However, to better understand this region, we created protein fragments of the ASK1 C-terminus (Figure 2.2-2A) and assessed them for binding to ASK2. When GST-ASK1 fragments were overexpressed with HA-ASK2 and the ASK1 fragments were isolated by GST pull-down, ASK2 showed the strongest interaction with the second half of the c-terminus (I1159-T1374), indicating this region is important for ASK1/ASK2 interaction. Additionally, the fragment I1159-A1268 showed binding to ASK2 with A1268-T1374, though at significantly lower levels than the larger C-terminal fragment, suggesting the critical residues for ASK1/ASK2 interaction may lie within amino acids I1159-A1268 (Figure 2.2-2B).

Expression of an ASK2 peptide reduces ASK1 signaling

Because interaction of ASK1 and ASK2 has been shown to play important roles in the regulation of both kinases, we wondered if disruption of this interaction could be achieved and if this disruption would have any effect on downstream signaling. To test this, we overexpressed ASK1 and ASK2 peptides consisting of the minimal binding regions we identified, ASK1 I1159-A1268 and ASK2 G1182-P1288. The ASK1 peptide was capable of reducing ASK1/ASK2 interaction as seen by western blot (Figure 2.2-3A). Additionally, expression of the ASK2 peptide G1182-P1288 decreased phosphorylation of JNK, a downstream component of ASK1 signaling, in response to

Figure 2.2-2. ASK1 interacts with ASK2 via its C-terminus. (A) Schematic of ASK1 peptides. (B) ASK2 interactions with I1159-A1268 of ASK1. HA-ASK2 was overexpressed with indicated GST-ASK1 constructs. GST-ASK1 complexes were isolated by GST pull-down, and bound ASK2 levels were assessed by Western blot.



N-terminus	ASI Kina		C-terminus
K939	11159	A1268	T1374



Figure 2.2-3. Inhibition of ASK1/ASK2 interaction decreases downstream signaling. (A) Expression of an ASK1 peptide decreases ASK1/ASK2 interaction. HA-ASK1 was overexpressed with Flag-ASK2 and indicated GST-ASK1 peptides. ASK2 complexes were isolated by Flag IP, and bound ASK1 was measured by western blot. (B) Expression of an ASK2 peptide decreases pJNK. COS7 cells were transfected with the indicated constructs. 40 hr after transfection, cells were treated with 500 μ M H₂O₂ for 20 min. (C) Peptide expression decreases pJNK in a dose dependent manner. COS7 cells were transfected with the increasing amounts of GST-ASK2 G1182-P1288 and other indicated constructs. 40 hr after transfection, cells were treated with 500 μ M H₂O₂ for 20 min. (D) Quantification of the relative levels of pJNK/JNK in (C). Value given is mean +/- standard error. n=3.



 H_2O_2 treatment while a fragment of ASK2 that cannot bind ASK1 had no effect on downstream signaling (Figure 2.2-3B). Furthermore, expression of this ASK2 peptide decreased JNK phosphorylation in a dose dependent manner (Figure 2.2-3C-D), suggesting ASK1/ASK2 interaction may be important for stress signaling.

Discussion

ASK1 plays an essential role in the propagation of stress signals, and, as such, it is regulated by a variety of protein-protein interactions (31). One recently described binding partner of ASK1 is ASK2 (40). Here, we have identified the binding regions which regulate this interaction (Figure 2.2-1, 2.2-2). It has been previously reported that ASK1 and ASK2 interact, but here we show that an approximately 100 amino acid region within each protein is sufficient to support interaction. With the production of small ASK1 and ASK2 fragments, this region could likely be narrowed even further.

Additionally, we have shown that ASK1/ASK2 interaction can be impaired by the introduction of a small ASK1 peptide (Figure 2.2-3). While such peptides as the ones we have identified, ASK2 G1182-P1288 and ASK1 I1159-A1268, are likely too large to serve as therapeutics themselves, they do provide a useful tool for the identification of novel small molecules with similar or better effects. Small molecule inhibitors of ASK1 have gained attention recently, but most of them have focused on directly altering ASK1 kinase activity (77). Here we provide a new potential target for modulating ASK1 activity by altering the interaction between ASK1 and ASK2. Overexpression of our ASK2 peptide was sufficient to reduce endogenous ASK1- mediated JNK and p38 phosphorylation in response to H_2O_2 treatment (Figure 3.2-3), indicating this may be a

viable target in diseases, particularly in those where ROS-induced apoptosis has been noted.

ASK1 activation by ROS has been attributed to the cell death seen in ischemiareperfusion injury (80; 81). ROS induced ASK1 signaling has also be attributed to neuronal cell death in both Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease (76; 77). Similarly, ROS is thought to play a role in ASK1 activation by TNF α and ER stress (27-29), suggesting that ROS mediated ASK1 signaling may be important in variety of other inflammatory and neurodegenerative diseases that induce death by these pathways. Blocking ASK1/ASK2 interaction might relieve or reverse the apoptosis associated with these diseases. While protein-protein interactions have often been viewed as a less than ideal candidate for drug development (4), the more we understand about an interaction, the greater the opportunity to identify potential target sites. Understanding the ASK1/ASK2 interaction could lead to the development of therapies targeting this pathway. Chapter 3: IKKβ inhibits ASK1 activity through phosphorylation and protein-

protein interactions

Chapter 3.1: Integration of the Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1-mediated stress signaling with the Akt/PKB-IkB kinase cascade.

Mary C Puckett*, Erinn H Goldman*, Lisa M Cockrell*, Bei Huang, Andrea L Kasinski,

Yuhong Du, Cun-Yu Wang, Anning Lin, Hidenori Ichijo, Fadlo R Khuri, Haian Fu.

*Co-first authors

This chapter has been previously published and is reproduced with permission.

Puckett, MC, Goldman, EH, Cockrell, LM, Huang, B, Kasinski, AL, Du, Y, Wang, C, Lin, A, Ichijo, H, Khuri, FR, and H. Fu. Integration of the Apoptosis Signal-Regulating Kinase 1-Mediated Stress Signaling with the Akt/PKB-IkB kinase cascase. 2013. MCB.

In press.

Abstract

Cellular processes are tightly controlled through well-coordinated signaling networks that respond to conflicting cues, such as reactive oxygen species (ROS), ER stress signals, and survival factors to ensure proper cell function. Here we report a direct interaction between inhibitor of kappa B kinase (IKK) and apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (ASK1), unveiling a critical node at the junction of survival, inflammation, and stress signaling networks. IKK forms a complex with and phosphorylates ASK1 at a sensor site, leading to inhibition of ASK1-mediated signaling. An inhibitory role of IKK in JNK signaling has been previously reported to depend on NF-κB-mediated gene expression. Our data suggest that IKK has a dual role: a transcription-dependent and a transcription-independent action in controlling the ASK1-JNK axis, coupling IKK to ROS and ER stress response. Because of the intimate involvement of ASK1 in diverse diseases, the IKK/ASK1 interface offers a promising target for therapeutic development.

Introduction

Within the intracellular networks that control stress response, cell differentiation, and apoptosis, apoptosis signal regulating kinase 1 (ASK1) plays a pivotal role as a signaling hub (17). ASK1 senses, processes, and transmits various environmental cues to intracellular signaling machinery, impacting both physiological and patho-physiological processes. In response to stress signals, such as reactive oxygen species (ROS) or infectious agents, ASK1 initiates a mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling cascade that ultimately results in activation of MAPKs, jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38, and their corresponding biological outputs. Importantly, pathological signals, including expanded polyQ-induced ER stress in Huntington's as well as stress signals in other neurodegenerative diseases, engage ASK1 in the propagation of damage signals. Similarly, a number of other pathological signals, such as ROS, evoke sustained ASK1 activation, which triggers cellular damage in diseases such as cardiac hypertrophy and diabetes. However, how ASK1 activity is neutralized in cells under survival conditions remains to be fully elucidated. ASK1 appears to be regulated by two mechanisms: protein-protein interactions and posttranslational modifications. For example, stress signals, such as ROS, impact ASK1 by triggering reversible binding of thioredoxin and phosphorylation-induced association with 14-3-3 proteins. Thioredoxin, in its reduced form, can bind ASK1, keeping it in an inactive conformation. However, elevated ROS levels lead to oxidized cysteines in thioredoxin, inducing the release of ASK1, recruitment of TRAF2/6 to the kinase, and facilitating ASK1 activation (31). Increased ROS also triggers dissociation of 14-3-3 proteins from ASK1, relieving ASK1 inhibition (59). ASK1 binding to 14-3-3 is mediated by at phosphorylated Ser967, which serves as a molecular sensor for signal integration (187). When bound to 14-3-3, ASK1 activity is inhibited, suppressing ASK1-mediated apoptosis. Stress signals reduce this phosphorylation and, subsequently, 14-3-3 binding (59; 187). Similarly, the protein phosphatase calcinuerin activates ASK1 through dephosphorylation of Ser967 (60). Conversely, increased ASK1/14-3-3 binding is correlated with decreasing ASK1 activity and increased cell survival (64; 197). By controlling the phosphorylation status of Ser967, upstream protein kinase cascade(s) may be able to integrate diverse signaling pathways with ASK1-mediated stress responses.

Here, we report a central node at the junction of survival, inflammation, and stress signaling networks through a direct interaction between ASK1 and the inhibitor of kappa B kinase (IKK), which reveals a critical mechanism by which IKK neutralizes stress and apoptotic signaling by a transcription-independent mechanism. An inhibitory role of IKK in JNK signaling was previously attributed to the NF-κB induced XIAP and Growth Arrest and DNA Damage 45 (GADD45) in a transcription dependent manner (172). Discovery of the IKK/ASK1 complex as a novel signaling integration machinery may offer unique opportunities to precisely manipulate disease-evoked stress response through this newly uncovered molecular interaction interface for future therapeutic interventions.

Materials and Methods

Reagents. H₂O₂, EGF, IGF-1, wortmannin, and PS1145 (Sigma), Akt inhibitor,
phosphatidylinositol ether analog, and recombinant Akt1 (Calbiochem), LY294002
(Alomone Labs), TNFα (BD), recombinant MAPK/ERK Kinase (MEK) (Cell Signaling),
recombinant IKKα and IKKβ (Upstate Cell Signaling Solutions) were used in supplied solution or reconstituted according manufacturer's instructions.

Kinase assays. For Akt kinase assays, active recombinant Akt1 (1µg), immunoprecipitated HA-Akt Δ PH (~1µg), or active recombinant MEK (1µg) was added to the immunoprecipitated ASK1 in a MOPS buffer (20 mM MOPS, 25 mM βglycerophosphate, 5 mM EGTA, 1mM sodium orthovanadate, 1 mM DTT, 10 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM MnCl₂) with 100 mM ATP. For IKK kinase assays, active recombinant IKKß (0.5 µg) was added to immunoprecipitated ASK1 in a kinase buffer (8 mM MOPS, 200 mM EDTA, 15 mM MgCl₂) with 100 mM ATP. For direct *in vitro* IKK kinase assay, a purified ASK1 C-terminal fragment (5 µg) was incubated with various concentrations of active recombinant IKKß in a kinase buffer with 100 mM ATP. Kinase reactions were performed at 37 °C for 10-30 min. All kinase reactions were terminated by boiling in SDS sample buffer. Ser967 phosphorylation was determined by immunoblotting.

Endogenous ASK1 immunoprecipitation. COS7 or MEF cells were grown on 10cm plates to confluency and harvested with 0.2% NP-40 lysis buffer. Lysates were cleared with 30 μ L of 50% slurry of protein G sepharose. ASK1 was immunoprecipitated with 5mL of an ASK1 specific antibody (F-9, Santa Cruz) and 25 μ l of a 50% slurry of protein G sepharose at 4°C for 4-6 hr, rotating slowly. Samples were washed 500 μ L of lysis buffer, and beads were isolated by quick centrifugation. The supernatant was discarded and the process was repeated three times. Protein levels were assessed by immunoblotting.

Purification of ASK1 C-terminus from *E. Coli.* One colony of bacteria harboring an expression plasmid for GST-ASK1 C-terminal fragment (ASK1 K939-T1374) were grown in 500mL of ZYP-5052 autoinduction media (1% N-Z-amine AS, 0.5% yeast extract, 50 mM Na₂HPO₄, 50 mM KH₂PO₄, 25 mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 2 mM MgSO₄, 0.2X metals, 0.5% glycerol, 0.05% glucose, 0.2% a-lactose)overnight at 37°C, shaking. The sample was spun down at 14,000 rpm for 15 min and the pellet was resuspended in 10mL of 1x PBS (1M DTT, 100mM PMSF, 5M NaCl) and sonicated 6 times, 30 min at 4°C on ice. The sample was centrifuged for 10 min at14,000 rpm, 6°C. The supernatant was mixed with 2 mL of a 50% slurry of glutathione sepharose (GE Healthcare) in 1X PBS and rotated slowly at 4C for 2 hr. Samples were eluted with elution buffer (20mM reduced glutathione, 0.25 mM PMSF, 5mM DTT, 0.1% Triton X). Samples were concentrated by centrifugation and dialyzed into storage buffer (10mM HEPES, 150mM NaCl, 10% glycerol).

Apoptosis assays. Caspase activity was evaluated using CaspACE assay (Promega) according to the manufacturer's protocol. In brief, DEVD-pNA substrate was used to test the effect of cell lysates on the liberation of p-nitroaniline from the substrate in a colorimetric assay. Caspase 3 specific activity was determined by normalizing each sample to protein concentration. Annexin V assay was evaluated according to manufacturer's protocol (BD Pharmingen). Percentage of Annexin V- and 7-AAD-positive cells were determined with the Guava Flow Cytometer using Guava Nexin software.

Time-resolved fluorescence resonance energy transfer. Cell lysates containing overexpressed proteins were mixed on 384 well black plates. Lysates were serially diluted in a reaction buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.0, 50 mM NaCl, 0.01% NP40). GST-Terbium (HTRF) conjugated antibody was used couple GST-IKKß as a FRET donor. Venus-ASK1 served as a FRET acceptor. Samples were incubated at room temperature for 1 hr and FRET signal was measured on the Envision spectrophotometer (Excitation 337 nm and Emission 520 nm).

Statistical analysis. Data in bar graphs are presented as mean with standard deviation represented by error bars. n values are given in figure legends.

Results

Diverse growth factor-initiated pathways impinge on ASK1 at Ser967

Reversible phosphorylation of ASK1 at Ser967 serves as a sensing mechanism, integrating diverse environmental cues to illicit critical biological responses through ASK1 (59; 197). Stress signals often induce dephosphorylation of Ser967 and promote cell death, and, indeed, Ser967 was dephosphorylated upon serum withdrawal (Fig. 3.1-1A) and by exposure to ROS, stimuli known to increase ASK1 kinase activity (42; 49; 59). Consistent with this notion, serum withdrawal enhanced ASK1-mediated apoptosis (Fig. 3.1-1B).

To reveal pathways that control this molecular sensing system, we examined factors that might enhance phosphorylation of ASK1 Ser967. Reintroduction of serum

Figure 3.1-1. Phosphorylation of ASK1 at Ser967 is dynamically regulated. (A-D) COS7 cells were transfected with HA-ASK1 or HA-ASK1 S967A. (A) Ser967 phosphorylation was monitored after serum starvation for indicated times. (B) Serum starvation induced apoptosis was measured by staining with Annexin V and 7-AAD after 24 hr. Data represent mean +/- standard deviation. n=5. (C) COS7 cells were serum starved for 24 hr and treated indicated doses of IGF-1, EGF, PDGF, TGF- β or vehicle (PBS with 0.1%BSA) for 20 min. (D) Following 24 hr of serum starvation, cells were treated with IGF-1 or vehicle as indicate. (E-F) COS7 cells were treated with H₂O₂ (1 mM) in the presence of IGF-1 (100ng/mL) or vehicle (PBS + 0.1%BSA). pSer967 of overexpressed (E) or endogenous immunoprecipitated ASK1 (F) was measured. pSer967 and total ASK1 protein were detected by Western blot (A,C-F) and quantified with ImageJ (F).





after serum starvation restored ASK1 Ser967 phosphorylation, leading to the hypothesis that there may be a pro-survival kinase activating component(s) within serum, resulting in the phosphorylation of Ser967 and, subsequently, 14-3-3 binding and ASK1 inhibition. Correspondingly, serum blocked apoptosis induced by wild type ASK1 but not an unphosphorylatable ASK1 mutant (S967A) (Fig. 3.1-1B), indicating that serum's prosurvival function occurs at least in part by controlling the phosphorylation status of ASK1 Ser967. In order to identify this kinase component, well characterized growth factors were tested: epidermal growth factor (EGF), insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and transforming growth factor β (TGF- β). Treatment of cells with EGF, IGF-1, and PDGF, but not TGF-B, resulted in marked phosphorylation of Ser967 (Fig. 3.1-1C), suggesting that these growth factors play a key role in regulating this event. Further kinetics studies revealed that IGF-1 promoted Ser967 phosphorylation in both a dose and time dependent manner (Fig. 3.1-1D). Notably, IGF-1 was also able to block ROS induced dephosphorylation of ASK1 (Fig. 3.1-1E). Furthermore, IGF-1 could indeed impair stress induced dephosphorylation of endogenous ASK1 (Fig. 3.1-1F) confirming that our findings were relevant under physiological conditions.

Akt/PKB is an upstream kinase for Ser967 of ASK1

IGF-1 is known to induce the activation of Akt/Protein kinase B (PKB). Akt has a major pro-survival role in many settings and down-regulates ASK1 activity through phosphorylation of Ser83 (49). Similar to Ser83, the region surrounding Ser967 of ASK1 fits nicely within the defined phosphorylation motif of Akt (RxRxxSxx), suggesting the

site could potentially be modified by Akt. In order to investigate whether Akt mediates IGF-1 induced Ser967 phosphorylation, constitutively active Akt (Akt Δ PH) or a catalytically inactive Akt mutant (Akt KM: K179M) was utilized. Expression of Akt Δ PH resulted in dramatic increase in Ser967 phosphorylation, while Akt KM expression led to marked decrease in Ser967 phosphorylation (Fig. 3.1-2A).

To complement the results obtained by Akt overexpression, we used a pharmacological approach to examine the role of Akt in Ser967 phosphorylation. The PI3K inhibitors, wortmannin and LY294002, or the specific Akt inhibitor 124005, were used to manipulate Akt activity. Both inhibition of PI3K signaling and direct inhibition of Akt reduced phosphorylation levels of Ser967 (Fig. 3.1-2B), confirming a role for Akt in the phosphorylation of this site.

To further examine whether Akt mediates growth factor-evoked Ser967 phosphorylation, cells overexpressing various Akt proteins (wild type Akt, Akt ΔPH or Akt KM) were treated with IGF-1. While active Akt enhanced phosphorylation of ASK1 Ser967, overexpression of the dominant negative Akt blunted IGF-1's ability to increase ASK1 phosphorylation (Fig. 3.1-2C). These results suggest a critical role of Akt in bridging the growth factor effects with suppression of ASK1 activity.

Given the evidence that Akt directly phosphorylates BAD and Forkhead transcription factors within 14-3-3 consensus binding motifs (198-200), it seemed likely that Akt also phosphorylates ASK1 directly. We tested this notion with an *in vitro* kinase assay. Active, recombinant Akt or immunoprecipitated HA-Akt ΔPH was utilized to phosphorylate ASK1 as a substrate. Surprisingly, no transfer of phosphate from ATP to Ser967 ASK1 was detected (Fig. 3.1-2D). After confirming the activity of recombinant Figure 3.1-2. Akt/PKB promotes phosphorylation of ASK1 at Ser967. (A-C) COS7 cells were transfected with HA-ASK1, wild type Akt (Akt WT), constitutively active Akt (Akt Δ PH), and/or catalytically inactive Akt (Akt KM). (A) 48 hr after transfection, cells were serum starved for 24 hr. (B) COS7 cells transfected with HA-ASK1 (WT) or HA-ASK1 S967A (SA) grown in the presence of serum were treated with wortmannin (200 nm), LY294002 (30 μ M), Akt inhibitor 124005 (40 μ M), or DMSO for 30 min. (C) 48 hr after transfection, cells were serum starved for 24 hr and treated with IGF-1 (100 ng/mL) for 20 min. (D) An *in vitro* kinase reaction for ASK1 phosphorylation was performed with immunoprecipitated HA-Akt Δ PH or active recombinant Akt. pS967 ASK1 and total protein levels in (A)-(D) were analyzed by western blot.



Akt with an antibody directed against phosphorylated Ser473, a phosphorylation event indicative of Akt activity, we came to the conclusion that Akt does not likely phosphorylate ASK1 directly at Ser967.

IKK mediates growth factor and Akt-induced phosphorylation of ASK1

After discovering Akt is likely to be upstream of the kinase responsible for phosphorylation of ASK1 at Ser967, kinase substrates of Akt were investigated. Notably, Akt activates the prominent pro-survival kinase, IKK. While IKK plays a vital role in NF-κB activation, the importance of IKK in the regulation of other signaling events is becoming increasingly evident (116). Thus, we tested the premise that IKK phosphorylates ASK1. Co-transfection of COS7 cells with wild type IKK (IKK WT) prevented serum starvation induced dephosphorylation of ASK1 (Fig. 3.1-3A). Similarly, when cells were co-transfected with a catalytically inactive form of IKK (IKK K44M), a decrease of phosphorylated Ser967 was observed (Fig. 3.1-3B), suggesting the kinase activity of IKK is critical in maintaining ASK1 Ser967 phosphorylation.

To determine whether IKK can directly catalyze the phosphorylation of ASK1 at Ser967, an *in vitro* kinase assay was performed. Interestingly, IKKβ, as well as IKKα phosphorylated immunoprecipitated ASK1 *in vitro* (Fig. 3.1-3C) a phenomenon not observed with purified MEK or Akt (Fig. 3.1-2D). Furthermore, purified IKKβ phosphorylated recombinant ASK1 in a dose dependent manner in a reconstituted biochemical system (Fig. 3.1-3D), confirming ASK1 as a direct substrate of IKKβ.

To validate a role of IKK as a Ser967 kinase, a genetic and a pharmacological approach were employed. Knockout of IKK α or IKK β decreased IGF-1 induced ASK1

Figure 3.1-3. IKK phosphorylates ASK1 at Ser967. (A-B) COS7 cells were transfected with HA-ASK1 and GST-IKKB (IKK WT) or catalytically inactive GST-IKKB (IKK KM). 24 hr after transfection, media was replaced with DMEM (A) or DMEM containing 10% FBS (B). (C-D) An in vitro kinase assay was performed by adding increasing doses of active recombinant IKKB to immunoprecipitated ASK1 (C) or purified recombinant ASK1 C-terminal fragment (K939-T1374) (D). (E) MEF cells (WT, IKK $\alpha^{-/-}$, and IKK $\beta^{-/-}$) were serum starved (24 hr) and treated with IGF-1 (100 ng/mL) for 20 min. Endogenous ASK1 was immunoprecipitated to monitor pS967 status and 14-3-3 association. (F) Immunoprecipitation of endogenous ASK1 from COS7 cells serum starved and treated with PS1145 for 24 hr prior to treatment with IGF-1 (100 ng/mL) for 20 min. (G-H) pS967 ASK1 was monitored in COS7 cells transfected with HA-ASK1, GST-IKKβ (IKK WT), catalytically inactive GST-IKKβ (IKK KM), constitutively active HA-Akt (Akt Δ PH), and/or catalytically inactive HA-Akt (Akt KM) and serum starved for 24 hr (G) or treated with IGF-1 (75 ng/mL) or vehicle (PBS + 0.1%BSA) for 20 min following pretreatment with LY294002 (30 µM) or vehicle (DMSO) for 2 hr (H). (I) The presence of ASK1 was assessed in GST-IKKß complexes isolated from COS7 cells transfected with HA-ASK1 and GST-IKKB 48 hr after transfection (left). Interaction was also assessed by time resolved fluorescence resonance energy transfer (TR-FRET). Lysates of COS7 cells transfected with either Venus-ASK1 or GST-IKKß were mixed as indicated, and fluorescence was measured with the Envision spectrophotometer (right). (A-I) pS967 ASK1 and total protein levels were assessed by Western blot.





Ser967 phosphorylation and 14-3-3 interaction (Fig. 3.1-3E). Additionally, incubation of cells with a small molecule IKK inhibitor, PS1145, abolished IGF-1 induced Ser967 phosphorylation (Fig. 3.1-3F). Thus, it is likely that IKK acts downstream of Akt to phosphorylate ASK1 at Ser967.

To confirm the order of IKK with respect to Akt within the IGF-1 to Ser967 signaling axis, we carried out a series of combination experiments with various constitutively active and dominant negative mutants. While dominant negative IKK KM inhibited Ser967 phosphorylation induced by the constitutively active Akt ΔPH, dominant negative Akt KM failed to block active IKK-catalyzed Ser967 phosphorylation (Fig. 3.1-3G), placing Akt upstream of IKK. As shown in Figure 3.1-1, IGF-1 treatment restored Ser967 phosphorylation after serum starvation through activation of a Ser967 kinase. Importantly, inhibition of Akt or IKK reduced the effect of IGF-1 on Ser967 phosphorylation (Fig. 3.1-3H). However, active IKK overcame the effect of PI3K and Akt inhibitors, restoring phosphorylation of ASK1 at Ser967 (Fig. 3.1-3H). Together, these data establish a novel signaling axis by which IKK acts downstream of Akt to phosphorylate ASK1 at Ser967.

ΙΚΚβ directly interacts with ASK1

To provide further evidence of cross-talk between IKK and ASK1, we examined the possibility of a direct interaction between these two kinases. With a GST-affinity pull-down assay, ASK1 is found in the IKK β protein complex (Fig. 3.1-3I). Then, we utilized time-resolved fluorescence resonance energy transfer (TR-FRET) technology, which can detect protein interactions within 100Å. Indeed, incubation of IKK β with ASK1 led to an increase in FRET signal (Fig. 3.1-3I). These results indicate that ASK1 and IKKβ likely interact directly.

The IGF-1/Akt/IKK signaling antagonizes H₂O₂ –induced ASK1 activation

If IKK is directly coupled to ASK1-mediated signaling, stimulation of IKK by survival signals and upstream regulators is expected to counteract ASK1 activation induced by stress signals. To test this model, we examined the role of IKK in the cross-talk between IGF-1 and ROS induced-ASK1 pathways. As shown in Figure 3.1-1, H₂O₂ triggered dephosphorylation of ASK1 at Ser967, which can be reversed by IGF-1. Like IGF-1, expression of Akt ΔPH, as well as IKK, effectively blocked dephosphorylation of Ser967 by H₂O₂, supporting a role of Akt and IKK in mediating the IGF-1 effect (Fig. 3.1-4A, Fig. 3.1-3H). Similarly, serum starvation reduced pSer967 of ASK1 and the subsequent 14-3-3 association (Fig. 3.1-4B). Significantly, overexpression of IKK reversed Ser967 phosphorylation as well as 14-3-3 association with ASK1 (Fig. 3.1-4B), keeping ASK1 in an inhibited state. Thus, the IGF-1/Akt/IKK kinase cascade supports cell survival in part by suppressing ASK1 activity through enhanced phosphorylation of Ser967, counteracting the action of pro-death and stress signals such as ROS and serum starvation.

IKK inhibits ASK1-mediated apoptosis in a Ser967 dependent manner.

ASK1 is a critical mediator of apoptosis signaling, and, by inducing phosphorylation at Ser967, IKK would inhibit ASK1-mediated apoptosis. To test this hypothesis, COS7 cells were transfected with ASK1 to induce apoptosis with or without Figure 3.1-4. The IGF-1/Akt/IKK pathway prevents stress-induced ASK1 function. (A) COS7 cells transfected with GST-IKKß or HA-Akt Δ PH and treated with H₂O₂ (1 mM) as indicated and pSer967 ASK1 was monitored by Western blot. (B) COS7 cells transfected with HA-ASK1, 6xHis-14-3-3 γ and/or GST-IKKß. Cells were serum starved (16 hr) and 6xHis-14-3-3 complexes were isolated Ni+ beads. Dissociation of HA-ASK1 and 6xHis-14-3-3 was monitored by Western blot. (C), COS7 cells were transfected with HA-ASK1 S967A, or the catalytically inactive HA-ASK1 K709R and serum starved (24 hr). Caspase 3 activity was measured as (pmol p-Nitroaniline released/hour)/mg of protein. First bar indicates activity of the blank. Data represent mean \pm SD. n=3. pS967 ASK1 and total protein levels were detected by western blot. (D) Model of ASK1 regulation by IKK.





а

b





IKK. Caspase 3 protease activity was monitored as readout for apoptotic cell death, and phospho-Ser967 levels in cell lysates was monitored by western blot in order to reveal the level of Ser967 phosphorylation during the treatment. Consistent with a pro-survival role of IKK, expression of IKK inhibited ASK1-induced apoptosis (Fig. 3.1-4C). However, it is possible that this inhibition is due to known pro-survival effects of IKK independent of ASK1. In order to address this possibility, we expressed the ASK1 mutant S967A to induce apoptosis. IKK had minimal effects on the apoptotic activity of this unphosphorylatable mutant (Fig. 3.1-4C), suggesting that IKK inhibits ASK1 apoptotic activity primarily through inducing phosphorylation at Ser967. Thus, phosphorylation of ASK1 at Ser967 may be a major mechanism through which IKK exerts its pro-survival and anti-stress regulatory role in the cell.

Discussion

The Ser/Thr protein kinases, IKK α and IKK β , were discovered as critical mediators of the NF- κ B signaling pathway, which regulate immune responses, inflammation and programmed cell death (106; 116; 201). Diverse environmental signals can trigger the activation of IKK through various transmembrane receptors such as TNF α receptors, toll-like receptors, and IGF-1 receptor (116). While the paradoxical activation of both pro-survival and pro-death pathways by TNF α was puzzling at the beginning, the intricate crosstalk between the NF- κ B and JNK pathways illustrates the demand for a well orchestrated signaling network for meaningful biological readouts. It has been established that IKK activation inhibits JNK signaling through NF- κ B induced XIAP and GADD45 in a transcription dependent manner (172). Our report unravels a direct action

of activated IKK on ASK1, an upstream regulator of JNK, which establishes a crucial point of cross-talk between IKK-mediated immune response, inflammatory, and prosurvival pathways and ASK1-mediated stress responses. Our data support a dual regulatory mechanism of IKK on the ASK1/JNK stress signaling axis (Fig. 3.1-4D). Activation of IKK leads to phosphorylated IkB to induce a transcription-dependent inhibition of JNK through NF-kB and to phosphorylation and direct inhibition of ASK1, an activator of JNK, ensuring a precisely regulated signaling output.

ASK1 serves as a central signaling hub in mediating stress response and apoptosis induced by a number of stimuli, including cytokines, ROS, ER stressors, infectious agents, and cancer chemotherapeutics (17). Due to its physiological importance, ASK1's activity is tightly controlled. One critical control mechanism is through the reversible phosphorylation of Ser967, which senses the activation state of upstream protein kinases and dictates the docking of the 14-3-3 effector protein for ASK1 inhibition. Our results revealed IKK as an upstream kinase that controls phosphorylation of Ser967, constituting a new node in this complex of signaling networks. Even though we only presented the evidence for the importance of the IGF1/Akt/IKK cascade in the regulation of ASK1, it is envisioned that other signals that can lead to IKK activation may be able to impact the ASK1-mediated JNK and p38 signaling in a wide range of biological cellular context. Thus, the IKK/ASK1 association may serve as a central integration mechanism for diverse, opposing signaling pathways, such as functional interactions between IKKtransmitted growth factor, cytokine, and pathogenic signals and ASK1-transmitted stress signals including ROS and ER stress.

Considering the critical roles of both ASK1 and IKK in a range of diseases, the functional interaction between IKK and ASK1 has significant mechanistic implications and offer promising therapeutic potentials. For example, the enhanced generation of ROS that activates ASK1 has been associated with the toxic action of amyloid- β in Alzheimer's disease and angiotensin-II induced cardiac hypertrophy and injury (76; 202). Our demonstration that IKK-mediated signaling blunts ROS-induced ASK1 activation suggests a possible neuroprotective mechanism of the IKK/ASK1 interaction. In a similar vein, IKK/ASK1 association may counter the action of ER stress-induced, ASK1mediated neuronal cell death, as in polyQ diseases including Huntington's disease and spinocerebellar ataxias (203). Blocking ASK1 activity by IKK activation may alleviate the effect of polyQ induced ER stress. On the other hand, ASK1 also mediates apoptotic cell death triggered by a number of cancer therapeutics through ER stress, elevated ROS, or other mechanisms (204-208). Therefore, pathways that control ASK1 activity, such as the Akt/IKK signaling axis, are expected to have direct impact on tumor response to therapeutic agents. Indeed, tumor resistance to a number of anticancer agents, such as cisplatin and taxol, has been associated with the upregulated Akt and IKK function, which may be in part due to the enhanced IKK/ASK1 interaction and the reduced ASK1 response. Thus, the IKK/ASK1 interaction may provide a molecular target for potential therapeutic interventions. It is envisioned that lowering the IKK inhibitory effect on ASK1 by an IKK/ASK1 antagonist may sensitize tumor cells to therapeutic agentinduced ASK1 activation and cell death to enhance therapeutic efficacy. Such a strategy may be particularly promising in many solid and hematological malignancies where the IKK complex is dysregulated (209).

While only a few targets of IKK α and IKK β have been confirmed outside the NF- κ B signaling pathway, such as Dok1, FOXO3a, and TSC1, these IKK substrates indeed play pivotal roles in the functional effects of this kinase family (145-147). Our discovery of ASK1 as an IKK substrate immediately widens the reach of IKK to the critical regulation of the cell's response to diverse stress signals, such as ROS and ER stress. In this way, the IKK/ASK1 signaling node may serve as a critical integration point that mechanistically dictates the flow of conflicting pathways within stress response networks, allowing growth factor-activated IKK to counter ROS-triggered ASK1 activation and apoptosis.

Chapter 3.2: The NEMO binding domain of IKK mediates ASK1/IKK interaction without disruption of IKK/NEMO binding

Mary C. Puckett, Yuhong Du, Haian Fu

Portions of this chapter have been previously published and are reproduced with permission.

Puckett, MC, Goldman, EH, Cockrell, LM, Huang, B, Kasinski, AL, Du, Y, Wang, C, Lin, A, Ichijo, H, Khuri, FR, and H. Fu. Integration of the Apoptosis Signal-Regulating Kinase 1-Mediated Stress Signaling with the Akt/PKB-IkB kinase cascase. 2013. MCB.

In press.

Abstract

Dysregulation of cell survival and death pathways contributes to the pathogenesis of numerous diseases, from cancer to neurodegenerative diseases, and protein-protein interactions play a critical role in the proper regulation of these pathways. Here we describe one such interaction between the apoptosis signal regulating kinase 1 (ASK1) and the inhibitor of κB kinase β (IKK β). ASK1 and IKK β interact with one another independent of kinase activity, predominantly through the C-terminus of ASK1 and the NEMO binding domain (NBD) of IKKβ. While overexpression of IKKβ impairs ASK1 mediated apoptosis, disruption of binding by overexpression of an NBD peptide restores ASK1 function. Interestingly, IKK β also interacts with ASK1 via its NBD in a manner distinct from NEMO. IKKB appears to interact with ASK1 and NEMO simultaneously, and, while mutation of two key residues in NBD abolishes NEMO interaction with IKK β , it has no effect on ASK1 interaction. Further, expression of NEMO has minimal effect on stress induced activation of ASK1. Understanding the interaction interface, its regulation, and the consequences of binding disruption could lead to the development of novel therapeutics.

Introduction

A finely tuned response to extracellular signals and the intracellular environment is critical in the maintenance of proper cell function. Cells constantly receive a mix of pro-growth and stress signals and must be able to accurately interpret these signals to activate proper intracellular signaling pathways. One critical sensor of extracellular and intracellular stress signals is the apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (ASK1), which responds to stress signals such as cytokines, reactive oxygen species (ROS), and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress to initiate a mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling cascade, leading to the activation of the Jun N-terminal Kinase (JNK) and/or p38 to elicit an appropriate cellular response (31).

Because ASK1 is a crucial mediator of stress signaling, its activity is tightly controlled. One important manner in which ASK1 is regulated is through protein-protein interactions, promoting or inhibiting ASK1 activity. Specifically, ASK1 can homodimerize or dimerize to with ASK2, leading to ASK1 activation (28; 40). TRAF family members can also bind ASK1, inducing an activating conformational change (43). Conversely, ASK1 function can be inhibited by a variety of protein interactions. Thioredoxin binds ASK1, keeping the kinase in an inactive state through oxidizable cysteine residues (43). And, when phosphorylated at Ser967, 14-3-3 family members can bind and inhibit the kinase (59; 187). Recently, we identified IKK as a novel protein partner for ASK1, which can bind and inhibition ASK1 function (Chapter 3.1).

IKK β is most known for its role in canonical NF- κ B signaling. In response to cytokines, the IKK complex, consisting of IKK α , IKK β , and IKK γ (also known as the NF- κ B essential modulator or NEMO) is formed (210). Formation of this complex allows

for activation of IKK β and, in turn, the phosphorylation, ubiquitination and, degradation inhibitor of κ B (I κ B) proteins, which under inactive conditions keep NF- κ B in an inactive state. The newly released NF- κ B is then able to translocate to the nucleus and drive transcription of pro-survival and pro-inflammatory genes (116).

An essential component of the IKK complex is NEMO, without which canonical signaling cannot occur (135). Loss of NEMO has been linked to several devastating diseases (211). While the function of NEMO is not entirely understood, it is believed that the protein acts as a scaffold to promote complex formation and bridge interactions between IKK and activating or inhibitory binding partners (129). Recent studies have also shed light on NEMO's role in regulating interactions outside of the IKK complex (116). Here, we identify the interaction interface of ASK1 and IKK β and provide evidence for a unique function of the NEMO binding domain of IKK β in regulating this interaction.

Methods

Plasmids and reagents. HA-ASK1, Venus-ASK1, GST-IKK β , GST-IKK α , and Flag-NEMO and all truncation mutants were used for mammalian protein expression. DNA was purified from E. coli with the Qiagen Maxi Kit. HA-ASK1 mutants and fragments were in pcDNA3 mammalian expression vector and have been previously described (187). PS1145 and tetracycline were obtained from Sigma.

Cell culture and transfections. COS7 and HEK293T cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, CellGro) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Atlanta

Biologicals) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Life Technologies) at 37°C with 5% CO₂ in a humidified incubator. DNA transfection was performed with XtremeGENE HP (Roche) or FuGENE HD reagent (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Cell lysis and immunoblotting. Cells were lysed 48 hr after transfection in 200 µL (GST pull-down and immunoprecipitations) or 60µL (TR-FRET) of 0.2% lysis buffer [0.2% Nonidet P-40 (NP-40); 10 mM HEPES, pH 7.4; 150 mM NaCl; 1:1000 dilution phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Sigma), 1:1000 dilution protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma)]. Proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immuno-blotted with specific antibodies: GST (Z-9), ASK1 (F-9), and HA antibodies were obtained from Santa Cruz. Flag (M2) monoclonal antibody was obtained from Sigma. Secondary antibodies used were horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (Santa Cruz) and horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (Santa Cruz) for monoclonal and polyclonal primary antibodies respectively. Proteins were visualized using enhanced West Pico or West Dura (Thermo Scientific).

GST pull-down and immunoprecipitation assays. To perform GST pull-down assays, 160 μ L of lysate was added to 25 μ L of a 50% slurry of glutathione beads (GE Healthcare) in lysis buffer and samples were rotated slowly at 4°C for 2-4 hr. For immunoprecipitations, 160 μ L of lysate was added to 25 μ L of a 50% slurry of Protein G beads (GE Healthcare) and samples were rotated slowly at 4°C for 30 min to clear lysates. Supernatant was collected, added to 2 μ L of anti-ASK1 antibody (F-9, Santa Cruz), and rotated slowly at 4°C for 2 hr. 25 μ L of 50% slurry of Protein G beads was added, and samples were rotated an additional two hours. Beads were washed three times with 200 μ L of lysis buffer to decrease nonspecific binding. Beads were then boiled in 20 μ L of 2X SDS sample buffer for 5 min to recover bound proteins for analysis by SDS-PAGE and Western blot.

PC12 neurite outgrowth assay. To induce ASK1 expression, PC12 cells were cultured in DMEM with 1% horse serum. All cell treatments were carried out for three days, after which cells were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde for 30 min and solubilized with 0.1% Triton X for 20 min. Fixed and solubilized cells were incubated with Alexa-Fluor488phalloidin (Invitrogen) in 5% BSA at a final concentration of 1:1000 overnight. Nuclei were counterstained with 5µg/mL Hoechst dye (Invitrogen). Cells were washed three times with 1X PBS between each step. Fluorescence was measured with the ImageExpress spectrophotometer (Molecular Devices), and neurite outgrowth was quantified with MetaExpress software (Molecular Devices).

Time-resolved fluorescence resonance energy transfer. Cell lysates containing overexpressed proteins were transfected to 384-well black plates. Lysates were serially diluted in a reaction buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.0, 50 mM NaCl, 0.01% NP40). GST-Terbium (HTRF) conjugated antibody was used couple GST-IKKβ as a FRET donor. Venus-ASK1 served as a FRET acceptor. Samples were incubated at room temperature for 1 hr and FRET signal was measured on the Envision spectrophotometer (terbium excitation: 337 nm, Venus emission: 520 nm).

Apoptosis assay. Annexin V/7-AAD staining was evaluated according to manufacturer's protocol (BD Pharmingen). Annexin V and 7-AAD positive cells were identified with the Guava Flow Cytometer and analyzed with the Guava Nexin software package.

Results

Interaction does not require Ser967 phosphorylation or kinase activation

Since IKK β can phosphorylate ASK1 at Ser967 and this phosphorylation event is sufficient to reduce ASK1 activity in response to upstream activating signals (Chapter 3.1), we first wanted to assess whether phosphorylation of this site was necessary for ASK1/IKK β interaction. Interestingly, IKK β showed comparable levels of binding with both wild type ASK1 and an unphosphorylatable mutant, ASK1 S967A, indicating that the ASK1/IKK β interaction is not dependent on the phosphorylation state of this site (Figure 3.2-1A).

To look at this more generally, we probed whether the activation state of either kinase altered their interaction since ASK1 is known to exist in different complexes depending on its activation state (43). Neither ASK1 nor IKK β showed a significant binding preference for a wild type (WT), kinase dead (KD), or constitutively active (CA) binding partner (Figure 3.2-1B-C).

ΙΚΚβ interacts with the C-terminus of ASK1

ASK1 and IKK β can interact directly (Chapter 3.1), and this interaction is likely important for regulation of ASK1 by IKK. To further understand how these two kinases

Figure 3.2-1. Determinants of ASK1/IKK interaction. (A) Ser967 phosphorylation is not required for interaction. GST-IKKβ was overexpressed in COS7 cells with HA-ASK1 wild type (WT) or S967A mutant. GST-IKKβ complexes were isolated by GST pulldown and bound ASK1 was analyzed by Western blot. (B-C) Kinase activity is not required for interaction. GST-IKKβ was overexpressed with HA-ASK1 wild type (WT), kinase dead (KD), or constitutively active (CA) and vice versa. (B) HA-ASK1 complexes were isolated by immunoprecipitation and bound IKKβ was analyzed by Western blot. (C) GST-IKKβ complexes were isolated by GST pulldown and bound ASK1 was analyzed by Western blot.



С

b





interact, we set out to identify which region(s) of ASK1 interacted with IKKβ. ASK1 is comprised of a kinase domain flanked by N- and C-terminal coiled-coil containing domains, all of which have been implicated in ASK1 interactions with other proteins (Figure 3.2-2A). When IKKβ was overexpressed with ASK1 fragments, IKKβ only interacts with the C-terminus of ASK1 (Figure 3.2-3A). Because Ser967, the site at which IKKβ phosphorylates ASK1, is located within the C-terminus, this result was not surprising. Furthermore, the C-terminus of ASK1 contains multiple coiled coil domains (56), which IKKβ has been previously shown to use in protein-protein interactions (212).

ASK1 interacts with the kinase and NEMO binding domains of IKKß

To determine the complementary region on IKK β where ASK1 binds, we used a similar iterative deletion approach (Figure 3.2-2B). When full length ASK1 as overexpressed in combination with various IKK β protein fragments, ASK1 showed interaction with two distinct regions of IKK β . As anticipated for a kinase substrate, ASK1 interacted with the kinase domain of IKK β . Interestingly, however, ASK1 also interacted strongly with the NEMO binding domain (NBD) of IKK β (Figure 3.2-3B). Binding to this region of ASK1 was observed by both immunoprecipitation and TR-FRET (Figure 3.2-3C). In FRET studies, the NBD fragment showed even greater ASK1 binding that full length IKK β , indicating this may be the primary site for interaction with ASK1. Additionally, overexpressed ASK1 showed stronger interaction with IKK β than IKK α (Figure 3.2-3D), which, though it shares similar structure to IKK β , lacks most of the NBD region. Furthermore, overexpression of the NBD fragment was sufficient to

Figure 3.2-2. Structure of ASK1 and IKK β . (A) Structure of ASK1. ASK1 Consists of a central kinase domain flanked by N- and C-terminal regulatory domains. (B) Structure of IKK β . IKK β consists of an N-terminal kinase domain and C-terminal NBD domain with a central domain containing HLH and LZ motifs.



Figure 3.2-3. Interaction interface of ASK1 and IKK. (A) IKKβ interacts with the Cterminus of ASK1. Full length GST-IKK β was co-expressed with indicated HA-ASK1 fragments. GST-IKKβ complexes were isolated by GST pulldown, and bound ASK1 fragments were assessed by Western blot. (B) ASK1 interactions with the kinase domain and NBD of IKKβ. Full length HA-ASK1 was co-expressed with indicated constructs of GST-IKKβ. HA-ASK1 complexes were isolated by immunoprecipitation and bound IKK β fragments were assessed by Western blot. (C) ASK1 interacts most strongly with the NBD of IKKβ. HEK293T cell were transfected as indicated. Cell lysates were mixed with GST-Terbium conjugated antibody, and fluorescence was measured with the Envision spectrophotometer. Protein levels were assessed by Western blot. (D) ASK1 preferentially interacts with IKK β over IKK α . HA-ASK1 and GST-IKK β or GST-IKK α were co-expressed. GST-IKK complexes were isolated by GST pulldown and levels of bound ASK1 were assessed by Western blot. (E) ASK1/IKK β interaction can be inhibited by an NBD peptide. HA-ASK1 and Flag-IKK β were co-expressed with or without GST-IKK β , GST-IKK β NBD (734-756) or GST-IKK β M (302-555). ASK1 complexes were isolated by immunoprecipitation, and bound IKK β was assessed by Western blot.

b





а

HA-ASK1 FL FL N KC C AK

+ +

GST

HA

GST

HA

+

GST-IKKβ O

HAIP

Cell Lysate

d

e

GST-IKK	-	β	α	
HA-ASK1	+	+	+	
		-		GST
ASK1 IP	-			ASK1
Cell				GST
Lysate				ASK1



compete away binding to full length IKK β (Figure 3.2-3E), supporting the role for this region in ASK1/IKK β interaction.

NEMO and ASK1 form a complex with IKK

The NEMO binding domain (NBD) region of IKK, as its name implies, was first identified as the interaction region of IKK γ (129; 130), also known as the NF- κ B Essential Modulator (NEMO). Because ASK1 also most strongly interacts with this region of IKK β , we hypothesized that ASK1 and NEMO would compete for IKK β binding. To test this, we co-expressed all three of these proteins and assessed binding by both GST pull-down and TR-FRET. Surprisingly, IKK β showed strong interaction with both ASK1 and NEMO simultaneously, and ASK1 and IKK showed stronger interaction via TR-FRET in the presence of NEMO, indicating that NEMO may facilitate this interaction (Figure 3.2-4A-B). NEMO expression is known to be important for IKK β interaction with other proteins (137; 138), and it may be playing a similar role for ASK1.

Disruption of NEMO binding site does not alter ASK1 interaction

Previous studies have shown that two particular tryptophan residues are important for NEMO/IKK β interaction and that mutation of these residues in IKK β is sufficient to abolish NEMO interaction (213). To address whether ASK1 utilizes these same residues for IKK β binding, we created IKK β fragments with these tryptophan to alanine mutations. While NBD fragments containing these mutations no longer showed binding to NEMO as expected, they retained ASK1 interaction (Figure 3.2-4C). ASK1 retained **Figure 3.2-4. IKK forms a complex with ASK1 and NEMO.** (A-B) NEMO does not disrupt ASK1/IKK interaction. Venus-ASK1, GST-IKKβ, and Flag-NEMO were co-expressed in HEK293T cells. (A) GST-IKK complexes were isolated by GST pull-down and levels of bound ASK1 were assessed by Western blot. (B) Cell lysates were mixed with GST-Terbium conjugated antibody, and fluorescence was measured with the Envision spectrophotometer. (C-D) Mutation of the NBD does not alter ASK1 binding. Venus-ASK1 or Flag-NEMO was overexpressed with GST-IKKβ, GST-IKKβ NBD WT, or GST-IKKβ NBD AA. (C) GST-IKK complexes were isolated by GST pull-down and levels of bound ASK1 were assessed by Western blot. (D) Cell lysates were mixed with GST-Terbium conjugated antibody, and fluorescence was measured with the Envision spectrophotometer.




interaction to these fragments even by TR-FRET (Figure 3.2-4D), indicating that ASK1 may interact with distinct residues within the NBD.

IKK suppresses ASK1-mediated neurite outgrowth

To confirm that IKK could impair the biological function of ASK1, we utilized PC12 cells with inducible expression of ASK1 Δ N, a constitutively active ASK1 mutant. Expression of ASK1 Δ N promotes neurite outgrowth (214). ASK1-induced neurite outgrowth serves as a biological readout for ASK1 function. PC12 cells were treated with TNF α to activate IKK, and IKK activity was monitored by NF- κ B translocation. IKK activation significantly decreased ASK1 induced neurite outgrowth (Figure 3.2-5A-B). Furthermore, treatment of cells with the IKK inhibitor PS1145 restored ASK1 induced neurite outgrowth to control levels.

While ASK1 and IKK can be activated by TNF α , ASK1 is primarily activated through TNFR1 signaling (215), whereas IKK can become activated in response to TNFR1 and TNFR2 signaling (216). While TNFR1 is ubiquitously expressed, TNFR2 expression is more limited (217). Previous research has shown, however, that TNF α can promote cell survival in PC12 cells through TNFR2 (218). In our model, TNF α may be preferentially activating TNFR2, leading to activation of IKK and subsequent ASK1 inhibition. Previous studies have also indicated that TNF α signaling through TNFR2 can lead to JNK inhibition. The mechanism by which this occurs, however, is poorly understood. Our data suggest that the ASK1/IKK signaling node may be responsible for this, highlighting a novel pathway by which IKK promotes cell survival.

Figure 3.2-5. Disruption of ASK1/IKK interaction increases ASK1 mediated

apoptosis. (A) IKK activation inhibits ASK1-mediated neurite outgrowth. PC12 cells were cultured in the presence or absence of tetracycline were treated with TNF α (10ng/mL) and/or PS1145 (10 μ M) as indicated. Following treatment, cells were fixed and stained with phalloidin. (B) Quantification of neurite outgrowth in (A). Data represent mean \pm standard deviation. n=5. *p<0.05, **p<0.02. (C) NBD peptide restores ASK1-mediated apoptosis. COS7 cells were transfected with HA-ASK1 and Flag-IKK β with or without GST-IKK β NBD or GST-IKK β M. 48 hr after transfection, cells were treated with 100 μ M H₂O₂ for 2 hr. Following treatment, apoptosis was measured by Annexin V/7-AAD staining. (D) NEMO does not alter ASK1-mediated apoptosis. COS7 cells were transfected with HA-ASK1 and GST-IKK β with or without Flag-NEMO. 48 hr after transfection, cells were treated with 100 μ M H₂O₂ for 2 hr. Following treatment, apoptosis was measured by Annexin V/7-AAD staining.







Inhibition of interaction promotes apoptosis

Because phosphorylation of ASK1 at Ser967 has a direct effect on ASK1mediated apoptosis (59) (Chapter 3.1) and overexpression of IKK β is sufficient to reduce apoptosis mediated by wild type ASK1 but not an S967A mutant (Figure 3.2-5C), we wanted to assess whether disruption of ASK1/IKK β binding could have a similar affect. In fact, overexpression of the NBD fragment of IKK β was capable of reversing the inhibition of apoptosis caused by IKK β while a fragment of IKK β unable to bind ASK1 had no effect (Figure 3.2-5C). Furthermore, while NEMO expression alone had no effect on ASK1 mediated apoptosis, supporting the hypothesis that IKK β interacts with ASK1 and NEMO through distinct mechanisms (Figure 3.2-5D).

Discussion

We have previously reported that IKK can inhibit ASK1 function through phosphorylation at Ser967 (Chapter 3.1), and here we describe the details of the interaction between these two kinases. Under physiological conditions, this inhibitory interaction between IKK and ASK1 may allow for an innately fine-tuned response to TNF α signaling by IKK, allowing for manipulation of both ASK1 and NF- κ B activity. Knockout of IKK β specifically has been shown to increase TNF α induced apoptosis (122; 219), possibly by relieving ASK1 of inhibitory phosphorylation at Ser967 and driving ASK1/JNK mediating apoptosis. Additionally, diseases that show upregulation of IKK activity and insensitivity to pro-apoptotic signals may promote cell survival not only through increased transcription of NF- κ B target genes, but through inhibition of ASK1 and its downstream effector kinases. Furthermore, the NBD of IKK is important for ASK1/IKK interaction and NEMO itself seems to facilitate ASK1/IKK interaction, promoting IKK mediated regulation of ASK1 and suggesting a novel role for both the well-characterized NEMO binding domain of IKK and NEMO. While NEMO was originally identified as a critical mediator of canonical NF-κB signaling and is required for IKK complex formation, both NF-κB promoting and inhibiting functions of the protein have been identified (137; 138). It is a logical extension that this protein may facilitate protein-protein interactions outside of the NF-κB realm with respect to IKK function. Additionally, NEMO may allow for additional regulation of ASK1 by IKK due to its ability to scaffold other protein-protein interactions. For example, NEMO has been shown to bring PP2A in contact with IKK (220), a phosphatase known to dephosphorylate ASK1 (61), which could serve as an additional layer of ASK1 regulation.

Further, mutation of the NBD abolished its interaction with NEMO as previously reported (213), but it had no effect on ASK1 interaction. This indicates that within the 22 amino acid region that comprises the NBD at least two distinct elements mediate IKK β interactions with other proteins. Because overexpressed IKK α showed significantly reduced interaction with ASK1 as compared to IKK β , it is likely that the region of the NBD not present in IKK α is important for ASK1 binding. Whether this is the case, however, remains to be addressed. Nevertheless, the fact that the IKK β interacts with ASK1 and NEMO through distinct regions suggests the possibility of specifically disrupting ASK1/IKK interaction without impairing NEMO interaction and vice versa.

While protein-protein interactions are not traditionally considered to be ideal drug targets due to their large contact surfaces and lack of distinctive grooves or pockets (4), a

peptide consisting of the NBD of IKKβ has been used as a therapeutic in a number of studies (221). Addition of this peptide to cells has been shown to block IKKβ induced activation of NF- κ B in cells (131), and it has even been used in rodent models of rheumatoid arthritis, where it decreased inflammation (163). In contrast to small molecular inhibitors, disruption of interactions by the NBD peptide can specifically impair canonical IKK/NF- κ B signaling, leaving non-canonical signaling by IKK α unaffected, which may skew the effects of the peptide toward preventing the pro-survival and pro-inflammatory functions of this pathway, both of which are suspected to be important in cancer progression (222). Similarly, there significant crosstalk potential between NF- κ B and ASK1 signaling, and some of the functions of the NBD peptide may be due at least in part to disruption of ASK1/IKK interaction. Notably, use of the NBD peptide has been shown to resensitize cancer cells to TNF α induced apoptosis (223), a phenomenon mediated by ASK1/JNK signaling.

Use of the NBD peptide may be so powerful because it plays a dual role, blocking pro-survival signaling through NF-kB and promoting apoptotic signaling through ASK1. Disruption of ASK1/IKK interaction may allow ASK1 to regain responsiveness to upstream stress signaling in patho-physiological states were normal apoptotic signaling has been circumvented, allowing for induction of apoptosis by mechanisms that were previously unavailable. As our knowledge of the unique interplay between ASK1 and IKK signaling grows, so does the potential for the development of therapies specifically targeting this interaction. **Chapter 4: Discussion**

4.1 General properties of ASK1 interaction with ASK2 and IKK

Though ASK1 interacts with a variety of proteins which regulate its function, it predominantly does so through its N- and C-terminal coiled coil domains, and these protein-protein interactions have both positive and negative effects on ASK1 function. Interaction of thioredoxin with ASK1's N-terminus prevents activation of the kinase, whereas interaction of TRAF proteins with its C-terminus facilitates an active conformation (43). The protein-protein interactions presented in this dissertation are no exception; ASK1 interacts with both ASK2 and IKK through its C-terminus (Figures 2.2-2, 3.2-3), likely through its coiled coil domains. Due to the sequence homology of ASK1 and ASK2, it is also not surprising that the C-terminus of ASK2 mediates its interaction with ASK1 (Figure 2.2-1). Similarly, the NBD region of IKK, which mediates ASK1 interaction (Figure 3.2-3), is known to interact with the coiled coil domains of other proteins, like NEMO (129). Taken together, these data support the hypothesis that the C-terminus of ASK1 is a critical point of interaction with other proteins that regulate ASK1 function.

4.2 IKK regulation of ASK1 could explain JNK/NF-κB crosstalk

IKK's interaction with ASK1 is of particular interest because it points to crosstalk between two major signaling pathways, the MAPK and NF-κB signaling pathways. Though previous studies have indicated NF-κB can inhibit JNK activation by transcriptional means (170), our data suggest an additional mechanism of JNK regulation upstream of NF-κB. IKK, an upstream member of this signaling pathway, can inhibit ASK1, an upstream activator of JNK, by direct interaction and phosphorylation (Figure 3.1-3). Additionally, disruption of ASK1/IKK interaction prevents IKK from inhibiting ASK1-mediatied apoptosis (Figure 3.2-5), which involves activation of JNK, indicating that the interaction of these two proteins is essential for IKK-mediated regulation of JNK signaling.

Furthermore, activation of IKK is known to be a powerful inducer of pro-growth and pro-survival signaling (116). This may be true in part because IKK not only promotes pro-survival and growth signaling through the activation of NF-κB but also blocks proapoptotic signaling through the inhibition of ASK1. Both knockout of IKK or expression of a kinase dead IKK mutant diminished Ser967 phosphorylation of ASK1 (Figure 3.1-3), which is linked to 14-3-3 binding and ASK1 inhibition, indicating that IKK is important in the regulation of ASK1 by this phosphorylation event. Similarly, a mutant of ASK1, S967A, which cannot be phosphorylated by IKK, showed increased ASK1-mediated apoptosis in response to serum starvation (Figure 3.1-1), indicating that IKK may play a role in keeping ASK1 inhibited under basal conditions and that the interaction between ASK1 and IKK may play an important role in maintaining the balance of survival and death within cells. Overall, this dual mechanism of ASK1/JNK inhibition by both NF-κB mediated transcriptional activation and direct action of IKK on ASK1 ensures a finely tuned response to upstream signals.

4.3 Therapeutic significance of ASK1 protein-protein interactions

The pathology of many diseases rests on an imbalance of cell survival and cell death, and both ASK1 and IKK have been implicated in a variety of conditions. Identifying whether ASK1 phosphorylation at Ser967 or IKK interaction is altered in disease could shed light on the biological mechanisms underlying disease formation and progression. Additionally, understanding which diseases have altered ASK1/IKK regulation could reveal potential targets for therapeutic development. ASK1 is thought to contribute to neuronal death in a number of neurodegenerative diseases including Huntington's, Parkinson's, and Alzheimer's diseases (77). Similarly, ASK1 has been implicated in cell death associated in ischemia-reperfusion injury, which occurs during a myocardial infarction or stroke (77). If a mechanism for promoting ASK1/IKK interaction could be identified, one might be able to reduce ASK1- mediated apoptosis in response to the ER stress and ROS production seen in these diseases. Such a mechanism could serve as target for novel drug development in neurodegenerative and cardiovascular diseases.

Conversely, IKK is known to promote tumorigenesis by a number of mechanisms (157). The majority of research into IKK's role in cancer has focused on its ability to activate NF- κ B, which can in turn drive transcription of pro-survival and pro-growth genes. A number of additional substrates of IKK, however, have been identified that may contribute to its capacity for pro-tumorigenic signaling (209). One key additional mechanism by which IKK mediates survival and drives growth in cancer cells may be the inhibition of ASK1. In the absence of IKK, TNF α promotes cell death in cancer cells by activating JNK, a downstream member of the ASK1 signaling pathway (223). This could very well be due to increased ASK1 signaling due to a lack of inhibition by IKK. Impairing ASK1/IKK interaction or IKK phosphorylation of ASK1 could be a method to re-establish apoptotic signaling in response to stress signals in cells that have lost sensitivity to these pathways. Understanding whether ASK1 is in fact phosphorylated at

Ser967 by IKK at higher levels in cancer cells could shed light on whether IKK is acting to promote survival by this mechanism. Further, if overactive IKK does contribute to impaired ASK1-mediated apoptosis in cancer cells, this interaction could be targeted with the currently existing NBD peptide or with a novel small molecule inhibitor of the interaction to reinstate proper cell death signaling.

4.4 Some NBD peptide functions may be due to disruption of ASK1/IKK interaction

Previous studies have shown the NBD peptide is capable of disrupting IKK/NEMO interaction, and, in turn, IKK-mediated signaling (221). Use of this peptide in a rat model of RA reduced both inflammation and hyperplasia (163). While the peptide did decrease markers of NF- κ B activation, the decrease in RA symptoms could also be due to reactivation of ASK1, which could counteract hyperplasia induction with increased apoptosis in response to pro-inflammatory cytokines.

Additionally, the NBD peptide has been used to modulate the survival of cancer cells. While cancer cells often develop resistance to chemotherapy-induced apoptosis, use of the NBD peptide has been shown to reverse this insensitivity in breast cancer cells (223). Though this effect has been attributed to reduced NF-κB activation leading to decreased pro-survival gene transcription, the peptide may also be blocking IKK's interaction with ASK1, and, subsequently restoring ASK1's ability to induce apoptosis in response to stress signals.

4.5 Conclusions and future directions

ASK1 is a critical mediator of stress signaling. In chapter 2, we showed that ASK2 can both promote and inhibit ASK1 function through distinct protein-protein interactions. Previous studies have shown that ASK2 can activate ASK1 by phosphorylation (40), and, indeed, our data suggest that ASK1/ASK2 interaction is important for ASK1 response to ROS (Figure 2.2-3 and 4-1). Interestingly, however, our data also reveal that once phosphorylated at Ser964, ASK2 can inhibit ASK1 by promoting interaction with 14-3-3, with knockdown of ASK2 reducing ASK1/14-3-3 binding (Figure 2.1-4).

In addition to ASK2, a third member of the ASK family, ASK3, has been identified (58). Very little is known, however, about the relationship of this new family member to ASK1 or ASK2. Similarly, more ASK family members may exist that simply have not yet been identified. Understanding the interactions between all of these family members is critical to understanding how the ASK family regulates stress induced apoptosis and other functions, and more studies are needed to determine how these kinases affect one another and how these interactions are regulated.

In chapter 3, we showed that IKK β is a key regulator of ASK1 function by increasing ASK1 phosphorylation at Ser967 and promoting 14-3-3 interaction (Figures 3.1-3, 4 and 4-1) and that overexpression or activation of IKK β can impair ASK1mediated apoptosis and neurite outgrowth (Figure 3.2-4). What remains to be determined, however, is whether ASK1 reciprocally regulates IKK function. Several recent studies have shown that ASK1 can reciprocally phosphorylate proteins that impair its kinase activity, including PDK1, STRAP, and Pim1 (36; 37; 50). Because ASK1 and IKK are **Figure 4.1 Model of ASK1 regulation by ASK2 and IKK.** In response to stress signals, ASK1 can interact with ASK2, which can increase ASK1 activity, promoting ASK1 phosphorylation at T838 and reducing phosphorylation at S967. In response to progrowth and survival signaling, ASK1 phosphorylation at S967 and 14-3-3 binding is increased through multiple mechanisms. IKK can interact with and directly phosphorylate ASK1 at S967, promoting 14-3-3 interaction and ASK1 inhibition. Once phosphorylated at S964, ASK2 can also interact with 14-3-3, and this interaction promotes ASK1/14-3-3 binding and, subsequently, ASK1 inhibition.



Survival Signals

both activated in response to $TNF\alpha$ and other stimuli (168), the two kinases may function to regulate one another in order to elicit an appropriate cellular response. Further studies need to be performed to identify potential ASK1 phosphorylation sites on IKK, and, if any are found, the effect they have on IKK function.

Additionally, our data suggest that IKKβ interactions with ASK1 via a region distinct from NEMO since ASK1 is capable of binding a NEMO-binding deficient mutant of the NBD. Whether NEMO truly plays a role in IKK regulation of ASK1, however, remains to be determined. Overexpression of NEMO alone had no effect on ASK1-mediated apoptosis. This is not proof, however, that loss of NEMO would be equally as benign with respect to ASK1 function. Further studies, such as knockout or knockdown of NEMO, need to be undertaken in order to sufficiently characterize NEMO's role in ASK1/IKK interaction. Additionally, understanding the precise region of the NBD that mediates ASK1 interaction could be useful in the development of a peptide that specifically disrupts ASK1/IKK interaction without altering NEMO interaction. Such a peptide could serve as a tool to better understand the relationship between these two proteins and how their interaction affects overall cell biology.

Through the data presented in this dissertation, we have shown that proteinprotein interactions are critical to the proper regulation of ASK1 function and that, at least in the case of ASK2 and IKK, alteration of these interactions has functional consequences (Figures 2.1-4, 2.2-3, 3.2-5). ASK1 function has been implicated in a wide variety of diseases (77), and targeting ASK1 protein-protein interactions could be a method to regulate ASK1 function therapeutically. While peptides are not ideal drug candidates—though the NBD peptide has been used therapeutically in animal models (221)—they could function as tools to screen for small molecule inhibitors of ASK1 protein-protein interactions. Modulating ASK1 activity through the disruption of specific interactions without globally altering kinase activity could allow for development of therapeutics specific to particular diseases. Furthermore, such therapies could allow for ASK1 activity to be targeted under patho-physiological conditions with altered protein-protein interactions, all while minimizing the effect on normal cell function. Because ASK1 plays important roles in both normal cell physiology and pathological conditions, distinct classes of ASK1 protein-protein interaction inhibitors could be useful in a wide variety of diseases.

Chapter 5: References

- Stites WE. 1997. Proteinminus signProtein Interactions: Interface Structure, Binding Thermodynamics, and Mutational Analysis. *Chemical reviews* 97:1233-50
- Jones S, Thornton JM. 1996. Principles of protein-protein interactions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93:13-20
- 3. Komurov K, White M. 2007. Revealing static and dynamic modular architecture of the eukaryotic protein interaction network. *Molecular systems biology* 3:110
- 4. Wells JA, McClendon CL. 2007. Reaching for high-hanging fruit in drug discovery at protein-protein interfaces. *Nature* 450:1001-9
- Hopkins AL, Groom CR. 2002. The druggable genome. *Nature reviews. Drug discovery* 1:727-30
- 6. Lobo ED, Hansen RJ, Balthasar JP. 2004. Antibody pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. *Journal of pharmaceutical sciences* 93:2645-68
- 7. Stockwin LH, Holmes S. 2003. Antibodies as therapeutic agents: vive la renaissance! *Expert opinion on biological therapy* 3:1133-52
- Loregian A, Palu G. 2005. Disruption of protein-protein interactions: towards new targets for chemotherapy. *J Cell Physiol* 204:750-62
- 9. Garrington TP, Johnson GL. 1999. Organization and regulation of mitogenactivated protein kinase signaling pathways. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 11:211-8
- Champion A, Picaud A, Henry Y. 2004. Reassessing the MAP3K and MAP4K relationships. *Trends Plant Sci* 9:123-9

- Cargnello M, Roux PP. 2011. Activation and function of the MAPKs and their substrates, the MAPK-activated protein kinases. *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR* 75:50-83
- Raman M, Chen W, Cobb MH. 2007. Differential regulation and properties of MAPKs. *Oncogene* 26:3100-12
- Johnson GL, Lapadat R. 2002. Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways mediated by ERK, JNK, and p38 protein kinases. *Science* 298:1911-2
- Cuadrado A, Nebreda AR. 2010. Mechanisms and functions of p38 MAPK signalling. *Biochem J* 429:403-17
- Kim DH, Feinbaum R, Alloing G, Emerson FE, Garsin DA, et al. 2002. A conserved p38 MAP kinase pathway in Caenorhabditis elegans innate immunity. *Science* 297:623-6
- Ichijo H, Nishida E, Irie K, ten Dijke P, Saitoh M, et al. 1997. Induction of apoptosis by ASK1, a mammalian MAPKKK that activates SAPK/JNK and p38 signaling pathways. *Science* 275:90-4
- 17. Shiizaki S, Naguro I, Ichijo H. 2012. Activation mechanisms of ASK1 in response to various stresses and its significance in intracellular signaling. *Adv Biol Regul*
- Ashkenazi A, Dixit VM. 1998. Death receptors: signaling and modulation. Science 281:1305-8
- Matsuzawa A, Ichijo H. 2001. Molecular mechanisms of the decision between life and death: regulation of apoptosis by apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1.
 Journal of biochemistry 130:1-8

- 20. Kim I, Xu W, Reed JC. 2008. Cell death and endoplasmic reticulum stress: disease relevance and therapeutic opportunities. *Nature reviews* 7:1013-30
- 21. Nishitoh H, Matsuzawa A, Tobiume K, Saegusa K, Takeda K, et al. 2002. ASK1 is essential for endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced neuronal cell death triggered by expanded polyglutamine repeats. *Genes Dev* 16:1345-55
- 22. Urano F, Wang X, Bertolotti A, Zhang Y, Chung P, et al. 2000. Coupling of stress in the ER to activation of JNK protein kinases by transmembrane protein kinase IRE1. *Science (New York, N.Y* 287:664-6
- 23. Homma K, Katagiri K, Nishitoh H, Ichijo H. 2009. Targeting ASK1 in ER stressrelated neurodegenerative diseases. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* 13:653-64
- Yu C, Minemoto Y, Zhang J, Liu J, Tang F, et al. 2004. JNK suppresses apoptosis via phosphorylation of the proapoptotic Bcl-2 family protein BAD. *Molecular cell* 13:329-40
- Deng X, Xiao L, Lang W, Gao F, Ruvolo P, May WS, Jr. 2001. Novel role for JNK as a stress-activated Bcl2 kinase. *J Biol Chem* 276:23681-8
- 26. Rhee SG. 2006. Cell signaling. H2O2, a necessary evil for cell signaling. *Science* 312:1882-3
- Matsuzawa A, Saegusa K, Noguchi T, Sadamitsu C, Nishitoh H, et al. 2005.
 ROS-dependent activation of the TRAF6-ASK1-p38 pathway is selectively
 required for TLR4-mediated innate immunity. *Nat Immunol* 6:587-92
- 28. Gotoh Y, Cooper JA. 1998. Reactive oxygen species- and dimerization-induced activation of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 in tumor necrosis factor-alpha signal transduction. *J Biol Chem* 273:17477-82

- 29. Matsuzawa A, Ichijo H. 2008. Redox control of cell fate by MAP kinase: physiological roles of ASK1-MAP kinase pathway in stress signaling. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* 1780:1325-36
- 30. Matsuzawa A, Nishitoh H, Tobiume K, Takeda K, Ichijo H. 2002. Physiological roles of ASK1-mediated signal transduction in oxidative stress- and endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis: advanced findings from ASK1 knockout mice. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 4:415-25
- Takeda K, Noguchi T, Naguro I, Ichijo H. 2008. Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 in stress and immune response. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 48:199-225
- 32. Yokoi T, Fukuo K, Yasuda O, Hotta M, Miyazaki J, et al. 2006. Apoptosis signalregulating kinase 1 mediates cellular senescence induced by high glucose in endothelial cells. *Diabetes* 55:1660-5
- 33. Izumiya Y, Kim S, Izumi Y, Yoshida K, Yoshiyama M, et al. 2003. Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 plays a pivotal role in angiotensin II-induced cardiac hypertrophy and remodeling. *Circ Res* 93:874-83
- 34. Nagata Y, Todokoro K. 1999. Requirement of activation of JNK and p38 for environmental stress-induced erythroid differentiation and apoptosis and of inhibition of ERK for apoptosis. *Blood* 94:853-63
- 35. Sayama K, Komatsuzawa H, Yamasaki K, Shirakata Y, Hanakawa Y, et al. 2005. New mechanisms of skin innate immunity: ASK1-mediated keratinocyte differentiation regulates the expression of beta-defensins, LL37, and TLR2. *Eur J Immunol* 35:1886-95

- 36. Seong HA, Jung H, Ichijo H, Ha H. 2010. Reciprocal negative regulation of PDK1 and ASK1 signaling by direct interaction and phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem* 285:2397-414
- 37. Jung H, Seong HA, Manoharan R, Ha H. 2010. Serine-threonine kinase receptorassociated protein inhibits apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 function through direct interaction. *J Biol Chem* 285:54-70
- 38. Zhan J, Easton JB, Huang S, Mishra A, Xiao L, et al. 2007. Negative regulation of ASK1 by p21Cip1 involves a small domain that includes Serine 98 that is phosphorylated by ASK1 in vivo. *Mol Cell Biol* 27:3530-41
- 39. Noguchi T, Takeda K, Matsuzawa A, Saegusa K, Nakano H, et al. 2005. Recruitment of tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor family proteins to apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 signalosome is essential for oxidative stressinduced cell death. J Biol Chem 280:37033-40
- 40. Takeda K, Shimozono R, Noguchi T, Umeda T, Morimoto Y, et al. 2007.
 Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase (ASK) 2 functions as a mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase in a heteromeric complex with ASK1. *J Biol Chem* 282:7522-31
- Tobiume K, Saitoh M, Ichijo H. 2002. Activation of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 by the stress-induced activating phosphorylation of pre-formed oligomer.
 J Cell Physiol 191:95-104
- 42. Saitoh M, Nishitoh H, Fujii M, Takeda K, Tobiume K, et al. 1998. Mammalian thioredoxin is a direct inhibitor of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase (ASK) 1. *The EMBO journal* 17:2596-606

- 43. Fujino G, Noguchi T, Matsuzawa A, Yamauchi S, Saitoh M, et al. 2007.
 Thioredoxin and TRAF family proteins regulate reactive oxygen speciesdependent activation of ASK1 through reciprocal modulation of the N-terminal
 homophilic interaction of ASK1. *Mol Cell Biol* 27:8152-63
- Xu M, Zhang F, Da L, Li T, Zhao M. 2012. Microspherule protein 2 associates with ASK1 and acts as a negative regulator of stress-induced ASK1 activation. *FEBS Lett* 586:1678-86
- 45. Mo JS, Jung J, Yoon JH, Hong JA, Kim MY, et al. 2010. DJ-1 modulates the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway through physical interaction with apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1. *J Cell Biochem* 110:229-37
- Jung H, Seong HA, Ha H. 2008. Murine protein serine/threonine kinase 38 activates apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 via Thr 838 phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem* 283:34541-53
- 47. Saito J, Toriumi S, Awano K, Ichijo H, Sasaki K, et al. 2007. Regulation of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 by protein phosphatase 2Cepsilon. *Biochem J* 405:591-6
- 48. Morita K, Saitoh M, Tobiume K, Matsuura H, Enomoto S, et al. 2001. Negative feedback regulation of ASK1 by protein phosphatase 5 (PP5) in response to oxidative stress. *The EMBO journal* 20:6028-36
- Kim AH, Khursigara G, Sun X, Franke TF, Chao MV. 2001. Akt phosphorylates and negatively regulates apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1. *Mol Cell Biol* 21:893-901

- 50. Gu JJ, Wang Z, Reeves R, Magnuson NS. 2009. PIM1 phosphorylates and negatively regulates ASK1-mediated apoptosis. *Oncogene* 28:4261-71
- 51. Subramanian RR, Zhang H, Wang H, Ichijo H, Miyashita T, Fu H. 2004.
 Interaction of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 with isoforms of 14-3-3
 proteins. *Exp Cell Res* 294:581-91
- 52. Fujii K, Goldman EH, Park HR, Zhang L, Chen J, Fu H. 2004. Negative control of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 through phosphorylation of Ser-1034. *Oncogene* 23:5099-104
- 53. Yu L, Min W, He Y, Qin L, Zhang H, et al. 2009. JAK2 and SHP2 reciprocally regulate tyrosine phosphorylation and stability of proapoptotic protein ASK1. J Biol Chem 284:13481-8
- 54. He Y, Zhang W, Zhang R, Zhang H, Min W. 2006. SOCS1 inhibits tumor necrosis factor-induced activation of ASK1-JNK inflammatory signaling by mediating ASK1 degradation. *J Biol Chem* 281:5559-66
- 55. Park JE, Park BC, Kim HA, Song M, Park SG, et al. 2010. Positive regulation of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 by dual-specificity phosphatase 13A. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 67:2619-29
- 56. Bunkoczi G, Salah E, Filippakopoulos P, Fedorov O, Muller S, et al. 2007.
 Structural and functional characterization of the human protein kinase ASK1.
 Structure 15:1215-26
- 57. Ortner E, Moelling K. 2007. Heteromeric complex formation of ASK2 and ASK1 regulates stress-induced signaling. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 362:454-9

- 58. Kaji T, Yoshida S, Kawai K, Fuchigami Y, Watanabe W, et al. 2010. ASK3, a novel member of the apoptosis signal-regulating kinase family, is essential for stress-induced cell death in HeLa cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 395:213-8
- 59. Goldman EH, Chen L, Fu H. 2004. Activation of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 by reactive oxygen species through dephosphorylation at serine 967 and 14-3-3 dissociation. *J Biol Chem* 279:10442-9
- 60. Liu Q, Wilkins BJ, Lee YJ, Ichijo H, Molkentin JD. 2006. Direct interaction and reciprocal regulation between ASK1 and calcineurin-NFAT control cardiomyocyte death and growth. *Mol Cell Biol* 26:3785-97
- Min W, Lin Y, Tang S, Yu L, Zhang H, et al. 2008. AIP1 recruits phosphatase
 PP2A to ASK1 in tumor necrosis factor-induced ASK1-JNK activation. *Circ Res* 102:840-8
- 62. Fu H, Subramanian RR, Masters SC. 2000. 14-3-3 proteins: structure, function, and regulation. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 40:617-47
- 63. Seong HA, Jung H, Manoharan R, Ha H. 2011. Positive regulation of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 signaling by ZPR9 protein, a zinc finger protein. *J Biol Chem* 286:31123-35
- 64. Kim I, Shu CW, Xu W, Shiau CW, Grant D, et al. 2009. Chemical biology investigation of cell death pathways activated by endoplasmic reticulum stress reveals cytoprotective modulators of ASK1. *J Biol Chem* 284:1593-603
- 65. Duennwald ML, Lindquist S. 2008. Impaired ERAD and ER stress are early and specific events in polyglutamine toxicity. *Genes Dev* 22:3308-19

- 66. Arning L, Monte D, Hansen W, Wieczorek S, Jagiello P, et al. 2008. ASK1 and MAP2K6 as modifiers of age at onset in Huntington's disease. *Journal of molecular medicine (Berlin, Germany)* 86:485-90
- 67. Aggarwal S, Cudkowicz M. 2008. ALS drug development: reflections from the past and a way forward. *Neurotherapeutics* 5:516-27
- 68. Chattopadhyay M, Valentine JS. 2009. Aggregation of Copper-Zinc SuperoxideDismutase in Familial and Sporadic ALS. *Antioxidants & redox signaling*
- 69. Nishitoh H, Kadowaki H, Nagai A, Maruyama T, Yokota T, et al. 2008. ALSlinked mutant SOD1 induces ER stress- and ASK1-dependent motor neuron death by targeting Derlin-1. *Genes Dev* 22:1451-64
- 70. Kikuchi H, Almer G, Yamashita S, Guegan C, Nagai M, et al. 2006. Spinal cord endoplasmic reticulum stress associated with a microsomal accumulation of mutant superoxide dismutase-1 in an ALS model. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103:6025-30
- Unterberger U, Hoftberger R, Gelpi E, Flicker H, Budka H, Voigtlander T. 2006.
 Endoplasmic reticulum stress features are prominent in Alzheimer disease but not in prion diseases in vivo. *Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology* 65:348-57
- 72. Terro F, Czech C, Esclaire F, Elyaman W, Yardin C, et al. 2002. Neurons overexpressing mutant presenilin-1 are more sensitive to apoptosis induced by endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi stress. *Journal of neuroscience research* 69:530-9
- 73. Takahashi R, Imai Y, Hattori N, Mizuno Y. 2003. Parkin and endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 991:101-6

- 74. Hardy J, Selkoe DJ. 2002. The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. *Science* 297:353-6
- 75. Peel AL, Sorscher N, Kim JY, Galvan V, Chen S, Bredesen DE. 2004. Tau phosphorylation in Alzheimer's disease: potential involvement of an APP-MAP kinase complex. *Neuromolecular Med* 5:205-18
- Kadowaki H, Nishitoh H, Urano F, Sadamitsu C, Matsuzawa A, et al. 2005.
 Amyloid beta induces neuronal cell death through ROS-mediated ASK1 activation. *Cell death and differentiation* 12:19-24
- 77. Hayakawa R, Hayakawa T, Takeda K, Ichijo H. 2012. Therapeutic targets in the ASK1-dependent stress signaling pathways. *Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci* 88:434-53
- 78. Chang HY, Nishitoh H, Yang X, Ichijo H, Baltimore D. 1998. Activation of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (ASK1) by the adapter protein Daxx. *Science* 281:1860-3
- 79. Waak J, Weber SS, Gorner K, Schall C, Ichijo H, et al. 2009. Oxidizable residues mediating protein stability and cytoprotective interaction of DJ-1 with apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1. *The Journal of biological chemistry*
- Zhang Q, Zhang G. 2002. Activation and autophosphorylation of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (ASK1) following cerebral ischemia in rat hippocampus. *Neurosci Lett* 329:232-6
- Wang P, Cao X, Nagel DJ, Yin G. 2007. Activation of ASK1 during reperfusion of ischemic spinal cord. *Neurosci Lett* 415:248-52

- Liu Q, Sargent MA, York AJ, Molkentin JD. 2009. ASK1 regulates
 cardiomyocyte death but not hypertrophy in transgenic mice. *Circ Res* 105:1110-7
- 83. Becker LB. 2004. New concepts in reactive oxygen species and cardiovascular reperfusion physiology. *Cardiovasc Res* 61:461-70
- Kim HW, Cho KJ, Lee SK, Kim GW. 2011. Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (Ask1) targeted small interfering RNA on ischemic neuronal cell death. *Brain Res* 1412:73-8
- 85. Gerczuk PZ, Breckenridge DG, Liles JT, Budas GR, Shryock JC, et al. 2012. An apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 inhibitor reduces cardiomyocyte apoptosis and infarct size in a rat ischemia-reperfusion model. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 60:276-82
- Kataoka K, Tokutomi Y, Yamamoto E, Nakamura T, Fukuda M, et al. 2011.
 Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 deficiency eliminates cardiovascular injuries induced by high-salt diet. *Journal of hypertension* 29:76-84
- 87. Yamashita T, Yamamoto E, Kataoka K, Nakamura T, Matsuba S, et al. 2007. Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase-1 is involved in vascular endothelial and cardiac remodeling caused by nitric oxide deficiency. *Hypertension* 50:519-24
- Zick Y. 2005. Ser/Thr phosphorylation of IRS proteins: a molecular basis for insulin resistance. *Sci STKE* 2005:pe4
- 89. Imoto K, Kukidome D, Nishikawa T, Matsuhisa T, Sonoda K, et al. 2006. Impact of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species and apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 on insulin signaling. *Diabetes* 55:1197-204

- 90. Hirosumi J, Tuncman G, Chang L, Gorgun CZ, Uysal KT, et al. 2002. A central role for JNK in obesity and insulin resistance. *Nature* 420:333-6
- 91. Thalhamer T, McGrath MA, Harnett MM. 2008. MAPKs and their relevance to arthritis and inflammation. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 47:409-14
- 92. Mnich SJ, Blanner PM, Hu LG, Shaffer AF, Happa FA, et al. 2010. Critical role for apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 in the development of inflammatory K/BxN serum-induced arthritis. *Int Immunopharmacol* 10:1170-6
- 93. Guo X, Harada C, Namekata K, Matsuzawa A, Camps M, et al. 2010. Regulation of the severity of neuroinflammation and demyelination by TLR-ASK1-p38 pathway. *EMBO Mol Med* 2:504-15
- 94. Iriyama T, Takeda K, Nakamura H, Morimoto Y, Kuroiwa T, et al. 2009. ASK1 and ASK2 differentially regulate the counteracting roles of apoptosis and inflammation in tumorigenesis. *The EMBO journal* 28:843-53
- 95. Hayakawa Y, Hirata Y, Nakagawa H, Sakamoto K, Hikiba Y, et al. 2011.
 Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 and cyclin D1 compose a positive feedback
 loop contributing to tumor growth in gastric cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108:780-5
- 96. Hayakawa Y, Hirata Y, Sakitani K, Nakagawa H, Nakata W, et al. 2012.
 Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase-1 inhibitor as a potent therapeutic drug for the treatment of gastric cancer. *Cancer Sci* 103:2181-5
- 97. Su JL, Lin MT, Hong CC, Chang CC, Shiah SG, et al. 2005. Resveratrol induces FasL-related apoptosis through Cdc42 activation of ASK1/JNK-dependent signaling pathway in human leukemia HL-60 cells. *Carcinogenesis* 26:1-10

- Wang TH, Wang HS, Ichijo H, Giannakakou P, Foster JS, et al. 1998.
 Microtubule-interfering agents activate c-Jun N-terminal kinase/stress-activated protein kinase through both Ras and apoptosis signal-regulating kinase pathways. *J Biol Chem* 273:4928-36
- 99. Kuo PL, Chen CY, Hsu YL. 2007. Isoobtusilactone A induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis through reactive oxygen species/apoptosis signal-regulating kinase
 1 signaling pathway in human breast cancer cells. *Cancer research* 67:7406-20
- 100. Yang JS, Chen GW, Hsia TC, Ho HC, Ho CC, et al. 2009. Diallyl disulfide induces apoptosis in human colon cancer cell line (COLO 205) through the induction of reactive oxygen species, endoplasmic reticulum stress, caspases casade and mitochondrial-dependent pathways. *Food Chem Toxicol* 47:171-9
- 101. Zu K, Hawthorn L, Ip C. 2005. Up-regulation of c-Jun-NH2-kinase pathway contributes to the induction of mitochondria-mediated apoptosis by alphatocopheryl succinate in human prostate cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Ther* 4:43-50
- 102. Terao Y, Suzuki H, Yoshikawa M, Yashiro H, Takekawa S, et al. 2012. Design and biological evaluation of imidazo[1,2-a]pyridines as novel and potent ASK1 inhibitors. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 22:7326-9
- 103. Volynets GP, Chekanov MO, Synyugin AR, Golub AG, Kukharenko OP, et al.
 2011. Identification of 3H-naphtho[1,2,3-de]quinoline-2,7-diones as inhibitors of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (ASK1). *J Med Chem* 54:2680-6
- 104. Okamoto M, Saito N, Kojima H, Okabe T, Takeda K, et al. 2011. Identification of novel ASK1 inhibitors using virtual screening. *Bioorg Med Chem* 19:486-9

- 105. DiDonato JA, Hayakawa M, Rothwarf DM, Zandi E, Karin M. 1997. A cytokineresponsive IkappaB kinase that activates the transcription factor NF-kappaB. *Nature* 388:548-54
- 106. Mercurio F, Zhu H, Murray BW, Shevchenko A, Bennett BL, et al. 1997. IKK-1 and IKK-2: cytokine-activated IkappaB kinases essential for NF-kappaB activation. *Science* 278:860-6
- 107. Karin M. 1999. How NF-kappaB is activated: the role of the IkappaB kinase (IKK) complex. *Oncogene* 18:6867-74
- 108. Xu G, Lo YC, Li Q, Napolitano G, Wu X, et al. 2011. Crystal structure of inhibitor of kappaB kinase beta. *Nature* 472:325-30
- 109. Hayden MS, Ghosh S. 2004. Signaling to NF-kappaB. Genes Dev 18:2195-224
- 110. Bonizzi G, Karin M. 2004. The two NF-kappaB activation pathways and their role in innate and adaptive immunity. *Trends in immunology* 25:280-8
- Blank V, Kourilsky P, Israel A. 1992. NF-kappa B and related proteins:
 Rel/dorsal homologies meet ankyrin-like repeats. *Trends in biochemical sciences* 17:135-40
- 112. Xiao G, Harhaj EW, Sun SC. 2001. NF-kappaB-inducing kinase regulates the processing of NF-kappaB2 p100. *Molecular cell* 7:401-9
- 113. Silverman N, Zhou R, Stoven S, Pandey N, Hultmark D, Maniatis T. 2000. A Drosophila IkappaB kinase complex required for Relish cleavage and antibacterial immunity. *Genes Dev* 14:2461-71

- 114. Li X, Massa PE, Hanidu A, Peet GW, Aro P, et al. 2002. IKKalpha, IKKbeta, and NEMO/IKKgamma are each required for the NF-kappa B-mediated inflammatory response program. *J Biol Chem* 277:45129-40
- 115. Yamamoto Y, Verma UN, Prajapati S, Kwak YT, Gaynor RB. 2003. Histone H3 phosphorylation by IKK-alpha is critical for cytokine-induced gene expression. *Nature* 423:655-9
- Liu F, Xia Y, Parker AS, Verma IM. 2012. IKK biology. *Immunol Rev* 246:23953
- 117. Wang C, Deng L, Hong M, Akkaraju GR, Inoue J, Chen ZJ. 2001. TAK1 is a ubiquitin-dependent kinase of MKK and IKK. *Nature* 412:346-51
- 118. Yang J, Lin Y, Guo Z, Cheng J, Huang J, et al. 2001. The essential role of MEKK3 in TNF-induced NF-kappaB activation. *Nat Immunol* 2:620-4
- 119. Ghosh S, May MJ, Kopp EB. 1998. NF-kappa B and Rel proteins: evolutionarily conserved mediators of immune responses. *Annual review of immunology* 16:225-60
- 120. Ling L, Cao Z, Goeddel DV. 1998. NF-kappaB-inducing kinase activates IKKalpha by phosphorylation of Ser-176. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95:3792-7
- Senftleben U, Cao Y, Xiao G, Greten FR, Krahn G, et al. 2001. Activation by IKKalpha of a second, evolutionary conserved, NF-kappa B signaling pathway. *Science* 293:1495-9
- 122. Li Q, Van Antwerp D, Mercurio F, Lee KF, Verma IM. 1999. Severe liver degeneration in mice lacking the IkappaB kinase 2 gene. *Science* 284:321-5

- 123. Senftleben U, Li ZW, Baud V, Karin M. 2001. IKKbeta is essential for protecting T cells from TNFalpha-induced apoptosis. *Immunity* 14:217-30
- 124. Alcamo E, Mizgerd JP, Horwitz BH, Bronson R, Beg AA, et al. 2001. Targeted mutation of TNF receptor I rescues the RelA-deficient mouse and reveals a critical role for NF-kappa B in leukocyte recruitment. *Journal of immunology* 167:1592-600
- 125. Li ZW, Omori SA, Labuda T, Karin M, Rickert RC. 2003. IKK beta is required for peripheral B cell survival and proliferation. *Journal of immunology* 170:4630-7
- 126. Li Q, Lu Q, Hwang JY, Buscher D, Lee KF, et al. 1999. IKK1-deficient mice exhibit abnormal development of skin and skeleton. *Genes Dev* 13:1322-8
- Matsushima A, Kaisho T, Rennert PD, Nakano H, Kurosawa K, et al. 2001.
 Essential role of nuclear factor (NF)-kappaB-inducing kinase and inhibitor of kappaB (IkappaB) kinase alpha in NF-kappaB activation through lymphotoxin beta receptor, but not through tumor necrosis factor receptor I. *J Exp Med* 193:631-6
- 128. Li Q, Estepa G, Memet S, Israel A, Verma IM. 2000. Complete lack of NFkappaB activity in IKK1 and IKK2 double-deficient mice: additional defect in neurulation. *Genes Dev* 14:1729-33
- 129. Rothwarf DM, Zandi E, Natoli G, Karin M. 1998. IKK-gamma is an essential regulatory subunit of the IkappaB kinase complex. *Nature* 395:297-300

- 130. Yamaoka S, Courtois G, Bessia C, Whiteside ST, Weil R, et al. 1998.
 Complementation cloning of NEMO, a component of the IkappaB kinase complex essential for NF-kappaB activation. *Cell* 93:1231-40
- May MJ, D'Acquisto F, Madge LA, Glockner J, Pober JS, Ghosh S. 2000.
 Selective inhibition of NF-kappaB activation by a peptide that blocks the interaction of NEMO with the IkappaB kinase complex. *Science* 289:1550-4
- Tegethoff S, Behlke J, Scheidereit C. 2003. Tetrameric oligomerization of
 IkappaB kinase gamma (IKKgamma) is obligatory for IKK complex activity and
 NF-kappaB activation. *Mol Cell Biol* 23:2029-41
- 133. Agou F, Traincard F, Vinolo E, Courtois G, Yamaoka S, et al. 2004. The trimerization domain of NEMO is composed of the interacting C-terminal CC2 and LZ coiled-coil subdomains. *J Biol Chem* 279:27861-9
- 134. Marienfeld RB, Palkowitsch L, Ghosh S. 2006. Dimerization of the I kappa B kinase-binding domain of NEMO is required for tumor necrosis factor alphainduced NF-kappa B activity. *Mol Cell Biol* 26:9209-19
- 135. Rudolph D, Yeh WC, Wakeham A, Rudolph B, Nallainathan D, et al. 2000.
 Severe liver degeneration and lack of NF-kappaB activation in
 NEMO/IKKgamma-deficient mice. *Genes Dev* 14:854-62
- 136. Tang ED, Wang CY, Xiong Y, Guan KL. 2003. A role for NF-kappaB essential modifier/IkappaB kinase-gamma (NEMO/IKKgamma) ubiquitination in the activation of the IkappaB kinase complex by tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J Biol Chem 278:37297-305

- 137. Shifera AS. 2010. Proteins that bind to IKKgamma (NEMO) and down-regulate the activation of NF-kappaB. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 396:585-9
- 138. Shifera AS. 2010. Protein-protein interactions involving IKKgamma (NEMO) that promote the activation of NF-kappaB. *J Cell Physiol* 223:558-61
- Courtois G, Gilmore TD. 2006. Mutations in the NF-kappaB signaling pathway: implications for human disease. *Oncogene* 25:6831-43
- 140. Shen RR, Hahn WC. 2011. Emerging roles for the non-canonical IKKs in cancer. Oncogene 30:631-41
- 141. Shimada T, Kawai T, Takeda K, Matsumoto M, Inoue J, et al. 1999. IKK-i, a novel lipopolysaccharide-inducible kinase that is related to IkappaB kinases. *International immunology* 11:1357-62
- 142. Peters RT, Liao SM, Maniatis T. 2000. IKKepsilon is part of a novel PMAinducible IkappaB kinase complex. *Molecular cell* 5:513-22
- 143. Pomerantz JL, Baltimore D. 1999. NF-kappaB activation by a signaling complex containing TRAF2, TANK and TBK1, a novel IKK-related kinase. *The EMBO journal* 18:6694-704
- 144. Fitzgerald KA, McWhirter SM, Faia KL, Rowe DC, Latz E, et al. 2003.
 IKKepsilon and TBK1 are essential components of the IRF3 signaling pathway. *Nat Immunol* 4:491-6
- 145. Lee DF, Kuo HP, Chen CT, Hsu JM, Chou CK, et al. 2007. IKK beta suppression of TSC1 links inflammation and tumor angiogenesis via the mTOR pathway. *Cell* 130:440-55

- 146. Hu MC, Lee DF, Xia W, Golfman LS, Ou-Yang F, et al. 2004. IkappaB kinase promotes tumorigenesis through inhibition of forkhead FOXO3a. *Cell* 117:225-37
- 147. Lee S, Andrieu C, Saltel F, Destaing O, Auclair J, et al. 2004. IkappaB kinase beta phosphorylates Dok1 serines in response to TNF, IL-1, or gamma radiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101:17416-21
- Suzuki K, Verma IM. 2008. Phosphorylation of SNAP-23 by IkappaB kinase 2 regulates mast cell degranulation. *Cell* 134:485-95
- 149. Gao Z, Hwang D, Bataille F, Lefevre M, York D, et al. 2002. Serine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate 1 by inhibitor kappa B kinase complex. *J Biol Chem* 277:48115-21
- 150. Xia Y, Padre RC, De Mendoza TH, Bottero V, Tergaonkar VB, Verma IM. 2009.
 Phosphorylation of p53 by IkappaB kinase 2 promotes its degradation by beta-TrCP. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106:2629-34
- 151. Irelan JT, Murphy TJ, DeJesus PD, Teo H, Xu D, et al. 2007. A role for IkappaB kinase 2 in bipolar spindle assembly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104:16940-5
- 152. Lamberti C, Lin KM, Yamamoto Y, Verma U, Verma IM, et al. 2001. Regulation of beta-catenin function by the IkappaB kinases. *J Biol Chem* 276:42276-86
- 153. Kwak YT, Li R, Becerra CR, Tripathy D, Frenkel EP, Verma UN. 2005. IkappaB kinase alpha regulates subcellular distribution and turnover of cyclin D1 by phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem* 280:33945-52
- Huang WC, Ju TK, Hung MC, Chen CC. 2007. Phosphorylation of CBP by IKKalpha promotes cell growth by switching the binding preference of CBP from p53 to NF-kappaB. *Molecular cell* 26:75-87

- 155. Hoshino K, Sugiyama T, Matsumoto M, Tanaka T, Saito M, et al. 2006. IkappaB kinase-alpha is critical for interferon-alpha production induced by Toll-like receptors 7 and 9. *Nature* 440:949-53
- 156. Balkhi MY, Fitzgerald KA, Pitha PM. 2010. IKKalpha negatively regulates IRF-5 function in a MyD88-TRAF6 pathway. *Cell Signal* 22:117-27
- 157. Kim HJ, Hawke N, Baldwin AS. 2006. NF-kappaB and IKK as therapeutic targets in cancer. *Cell death and differentiation* 13:738-47
- 158. Brembeck FH, Rosario M, Birchmeier W. 2006. Balancing cell adhesion and Wnt signaling, the key role of beta-catenin. *Current opinion in genetics & development* 16:51-9
- Baker RG, Hayden MS, Ghosh S. 2011. NF-kappaB, inflammation, and metabolic disease. *Cell metabolism* 13:11-22
- 160. Chiang SH, Bazuine M, Lumeng CN, Geletka LM, Mowers J, et al. 2009. The protein kinase IKKepsilon regulates energy balance in obese mice. *Cell* 138:961-75
- 161. Roman-Blas JA, Jimenez SA. 2006. NF-kappaB as a potential therapeutic target in osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 14:839-48
- 162. Tak PP, Gerlag DM, Aupperle KR, van de Geest DA, Overbeek M, et al. 2001.
 Inhibitor of nuclear factor kappaB kinase beta is a key regulator of synovial inflammation. *Arthritis and rheumatism* 44:1897-907

- 163. Tas SW, Vervoordeldonk MJ, Hajji N, May MJ, Ghosh S, Tak PP. 2006. Local treatment with the selective IkappaB kinase beta inhibitor NEMO-binding domain peptide ameliorates synovial inflammation. *Arthritis research & therapy* 8:R86
- 164. Khoshnan A, Patterson PH. 2011. The role of IkappaB kinase complex in the neurobiology of Huntington's disease. *Neurobiology of disease* 43:305-11
- 165. Ghosh A, Roy A, Liu X, Kordower JH, Mufson EJ, et al. 2007. Selective inhibition of NF-kappaB activation prevents dopaminergic neuronal loss in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104:18754-9
- 166. Thompson LM, Aiken CT, Kaltenbach LS, Agrawal N, Illes K, et al. 2009. IKK phosphorylates Huntingtin and targets it for degradation by the proteasome and lysosome. *The Journal of cell biology* 187:1083-99
- 167. Beinke S, Robinson MJ, Hugunin M, Ley SC. 2004. Lipopolysaccharide activation of the TPL-2/MEK/extracellular signal-regulated kinase mitogenactivated protein kinase cascade is regulated by IkappaB kinase-induced proteolysis of NF-kappaB1 p105. *Mol Cell Biol* 24:9658-67
- Varfolomeev EE, Ashkenazi A. 2004. Tumor necrosis factor: an apoptosis
 JuNKie? *Cell* 116:491-7
- 169. Hacker H, Tseng PH, Karin M. 2011. Expanding TRAF function: TRAF3 as a trifaced immune regulator. *Nature reviews. Immunology* 11:457-68
- Nakano H, Nakajima A, Sakon-Komazawa S, Piao JH, Xue X, Okumura K. 2006.
 Reactive oxygen species mediate crosstalk between NF-kappaB and JNK. *Cell death and differentiation* 13:730-7

- 171. De Smaele E, Zazzeroni F, Papa S, Nguyen DU, Jin R, et al. 2001. Induction of gadd45beta by NF-kappaB downregulates pro-apoptotic JNK signalling. *Nature* 414:308-13
- 172. Tang G, Minemoto Y, Dibling B, Purcell NH, Li Z, et al. 2001. Inhibition of JNK activation through NF-kappaB target genes. *Nature* 414:313-7
- 173. Sakon S, Xue X, Takekawa M, Sasazuki T, Okazaki T, et al. 2003. NF-kappaB inhibits TNF-induced accumulation of ROS that mediate prolonged MAPK activation and necrotic cell death. *The EMBO journal* 22:3898-909
- 174. Chen F, Castranova V, Li Z, Karin M, Shi X. 2003. Inhibitor of nuclear factor kappaB kinase deficiency enhances oxidative stress and prolongs c-Jun NH2terminal kinase activation induced by arsenic. *Cancer research* 63:7689-93
- 175. Kyriakis JM, Avruch J. 2001. Mammalian mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways activated by stress and inflammation. *Physiol Rev* 81:807-69
- Winter-Vann AM, Johnson GL. 2007. Integrated activation of MAP3Ks balances cell fate in response to stress. *J Cell Biochem* 102:848-58
- 177. Wang XS, Diener K, Jannuzzi D, Trollinger D, Tan TH, et al. 1996. Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel protein kinase with a catalytic domain homologous to mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase. *J Biol Chem* 271:31607-11
- 178. Osaka N, Takahashi T, Murakami S, Matsuzawa A, Noguchi T, et al. 2007.
 ASK1-dependent recruitment and activation of macrophages induce hair growth in skin wounds. *The Journal of cell biology* 176:903-9

- 179. Yaffe MB. 2002. How do 14-3-3 proteins work?-- Gatekeeper phosphorylation and the molecular anvil hypothesis. *FEBS Lett* 513:53-7
- Mackintosh C. 2004. Dynamic interactions between 14-3-3 proteins and phosphoproteins regulate diverse cellular processes. *Biochem J* 381:329-42
- Muslin AJ, Lau JM. 2005. Differential functions of 14-3-3 isoforms in vertebrate development. *Curr Top Dev Biol* 65:211-28
- 182. Aitken A. 2006. 14-3-3 proteins: a historic overview. *Semin Cancer Biol* 16:162-72
- 183. Gardino AK, Smerdon SJ, Yaffe MB. 2006. Structural determinants of 14-3-3 binding specificities and regulation of subcellular localization of 14-3-3-ligand complexes: a comparison of the X-ray crystal structures of all human 14-3-3 isoforms. *Semin Cancer Biol* 16:173-82
- 184. Morrison DK. 2009. The 14-3-3 proteins: integrators of diverse signaling cues that impact cell fate and cancer development. *Trends Cell Biol* 19:16-23
- 185. Muslin AJ, Tanner JW, Allen PM, Shaw AS. 1996. Interaction of 14-3-3 with signaling proteins is mediated by the recognition of phosphoserine. *Cell* 84:889-97
- 186. Yaffe MB, Rittinger K, Volinia S, Caron PR, Aitken A, et al. 1997. The structural basis for 14-3-3:phosphopeptide binding specificity. *Cell* 91:961-71
- 187. Zhang L, Chen J, Fu H. 1999. Suppression of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase
 1-induced cell death by 14-3-3 proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96:8511-5

- 188. Zhang R, He X, Liu W, Lu M, Hsieh JT, Min W. 2003. AIP1 mediates TNFalpha-induced ASK1 activation by facilitating dissociation of ASK1 from its inhibitor 14-3-3. J Clin Invest 111:1933-43
- 189. Wang XS, Diener K, Tan TH, Yao Z. 1998. MAPKKK6, a novel mitogenactivated protein kinase kinase kinase, that associates with MAPKKK5. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 253:33-7
- 190. Thorson JA, Yu LW, Hsu AL, Shih NY, Graves PR, et al. 1998. 14-3-3 proteins are required for maintenance of Raf-1 phosphorylation and kinase activity. *Mol Cell Biol* 18:5229-38
- 191. Zhang L, Wang H, Masters SC, Wang B, Barbieri JT, Fu H. 1999. Residues of 14-3-3 zeta required for activation of exoenzyme S of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Biochemistry* 38:12159-64
- 192. Petosa C, Masters SC, Bankston LA, Pohl J, Wang B, et al. 1998. 14-3-3zeta binds a phosphorylated Raf peptide and an unphosphorylated peptide via its conserved amphipathic groove. *J Biol Chem* 273:16305-10
- 193. Wang B, Yang H, Liu YC, Jelinek T, Zhang L, et al. 1999. Isolation of highaffinity peptide antagonists of 14-3-3 proteins by phage display. *Biochemistry* 38:12499-504
- 194. Wang H, Zhang L, Liddington R, Fu H. 1998. Mutations in the hydrophobic surface of an amphipathic groove of 14-3-3zeta disrupt its interaction with Raf-1 kinase. J Biol Chem 273:16297-304

- 195. Cohen P, Klumpp S, Schelling DL. 1989. An improved procedure for identifying and quantitating protein phosphatases in mammalian tissues. *FEBS Lett* 250:596-600
- 196. Iriyama T, Takeda K, Nakamura H, Morimoto Y, Kuroiwa T, et al. 2009. ASK1 and ASK2 differentially regulate the counteracting roles of apoptosis and inflammation in tumorigenesis. *The EMBO journal*
- 197. Cockrell LM, Puckett MC, Goldman EH, Khuri FR, Fu H. 2010. Dual engagement of 14-3-3 proteins controls signal relay from ASK2 to the ASK1 signalosome. *Oncogene* 29:822-30
- Masters SC, Yang H, Datta SR, Greenberg ME, Fu H. 2001. 14-3-3 inhibits Badinduced cell death through interaction with serine-136. *Mol Pharmacol* 60:1325-31
- 199. Datta SR, Dudek H, Tao X, Masters S, Fu H, et al. 1997. Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell-intrinsic death machinery. *Cell* 91:231-41
- Brunet A, Bonni A, Zigmond MJ, Lin MZ, Juo P, et al. 1999. Akt promotes cell survival by phosphorylating and inhibiting a Forkhead transcription factor. *Cell* 96:857-68
- 201. DiDonato JA, Mercurio F, Karin M. 2012. NF-kappaB and the link between inflammation and cancer. *Immunol Rev* 246:379-400
- 202. Nako H, Kataoka K, Koibuchi N, Dong YF, Toyama K, et al. 2012. Novel mechanism of angiotensin II-induced cardiac injury in hypertensive rats: the critical role of ASK1 and VEGF. *Hypertens Res* 35:194-200

- 203. Reddy PH, Williams M, Tagle DA. 1999. Recent advances in understanding the pathogenesis of Huntington's disease. *Trends Neurosci* 22:248-55
- 204. Liao PC, Tan SK, Lieu CH, Jung HK. 2008. Involvement of endoplasmic reticulum in paclitaxel-induced apoptosis. *J Cell Biochem* 104:1509-23
- 205. Tsai SL, Suk FM, Wang CI, Liu DZ, Hou WC, et al. 2007. Anti-tumor potential of 15,16-dihydrotanshinone I against breast adenocarcinoma through inducing G1 arrest and apoptosis. *Biochem Pharmacol* 74:1575-86
- 206. Yang WH, Fong YC, Lee CY, Jin TR, Tzen JT, et al. 2011. Epigallocatechin-3gallate induces cell apoptosis of human chondrosarcoma cells through apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 pathway. *J Cell Biochem* 112:1601-11
- 207. Lee YK, Hwang JT, Kwon DY, Surh YJ, Park OJ. 2010. Induction of apoptosis by quercetin is mediated through AMPKalpha1/ASK1/p38 pathway. *Cancer Lett* 292:228-36
- 208. Chen Z, Seimiya H, Naito M, Mashima T, Kizaki A, et al. 1999. ASK1 mediates apoptotic cell death induced by genotoxic stress. *Oncogene* 18:173-80
- 209. Arkan MC, Greten FR. 2011. IKK- and NF-kappaB-mediated functions in carcinogenesis. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 349:159-69
- 210. Zandi E, Rothwarf DM, Delhase M, Hayakawa M, Karin M. 1997. The IkappaB kinase complex (IKK) contains two kinase subunits, IKKalpha and IKKbeta, necessary for IkappaB phosphorylation and NF-kappaB activation. *Cell* 91:243-52
- 211. Shifera AS. 2010. The zinc finger domain of IKKgamma (NEMO) protein in health and disease. *J Cell Mol Med* 14:2404-14

- Rushe M, Silvian L, Bixler S, Chen LL, Cheung A, et al. 2008. Structure of a NEMO/IKK-associating domain reveals architecture of the interaction site.
 Structure 16:798-808
- May MJ, Marienfeld RB, Ghosh S. 2002. Characterization of the Ikappa B-kinase
 NEMO binding domain. *J Biol Chem* 277:45992-6000
- Takeda K, Hatai T, Hamazaki TS, Nishitoh H, Saitoh M, Ichijo H. 2000.
 Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (ASK1) induces neuronal differentiation and survival of PC12 cells. *J Biol Chem* 275:9805-13
- 215. Shinoda S, Skradski SL, Araki T, Schindler CK, Meller R, et al. 2003. Formation of a tumour necrosis factor receptor 1 molecular scaffolding complex and activation of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 during seizure-induced neuronal death. *Eur J Neurosci* 17:2065-76
- 216. McFarlane SM, Pashmi G, Connell MC, Littlejohn AF, Tucker SJ, et al. 2002. Differential activation of nuclear factor-kappaB by tumour necrosis factor receptor subtypes. TNFR1 predominates whereas TNFR2 activates transcription poorly. *FEBS Lett* 515:119-26
- 217. Dopp JM, Mackenzie-Graham A, Otero GC, Merrill JE. 1997. Differential expression, cytokine modulation, and specific functions of type-1 and type-2 tumor necrosis factor receptors in rat glia. *J Neuroimmunol* 75:104-12
- 218. Takei Y, Laskey R. 2008. Tumor necrosis factor alpha regulates responses to nerve growth factor, promoting neural cell survival but suppressing differentiation of neuroblastoma cells. *Mol Biol Cell* 19:855-64

- 219. Li ZW, Chu W, Hu Y, Delhase M, Deerinck T, et al. 1999. The IKKbeta subunit of IkappaB kinase (IKK) is essential for nuclear factor kappaB activation and prevention of apoptosis. *J Exp Med* 189:1839-45
- 220. Hong S, Wang LC, Gao X, Kuo YL, Liu B, et al. 2007. Heptad repeats regulate protein phosphatase 2a recruitment to I-kappaB kinase gamma/NF-kappaB essential modulator and are targeted by human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 tax. J Biol Chem 282:12119-26
- 221. Orange JS, May MJ. 2008. Cell penetrating peptide inhibitors of nuclear factorkappa B. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 65:3564-91
- 222. Luo JL, Kamata H, Karin M. 2005. IKK/NF-kappaB signaling: balancing life and death--a new approach to cancer therapy. *J Clin Invest* 115:2625-32
- 223. Tang F, Tang G, Xiang J, Dai Q, Rosner MR, Lin A. 2002. The absence of NFkappaB-mediated inhibition of c-Jun N-terminal kinase activation contributes to tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis. *Mol Cell Biol* 22:8571-9